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CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Item 1. BUSINESS
General
Carter Bank & Trust (the “Bank”) is a non-member state Bank headquartered in Martinsville, Virginia with assets of
$4.1 billion at December 31, 2017. The Bank operates branches in Virginia and North Carolina and is one of the
largest state chartered commercial banks headquartered in Virginia, operating 110 branches in Virginia and North
Carolina.
The Bank provides a full range of financial services with retail, and commercial banking products and insurance.
Our common stock trades on the Over the Counter (‘OTC”) Pink Marketplace under the symbol “CARE.”
The Bank earns revenue primarily from interest on loans and securities and fees charged for financial services
provided to our customers. The Bank incurs expenses for the cost of deposits, provision for loan losses and other
operating costs such as salaries and employee benefits, data processing, occupancy and tax expense.
Our mission is that the Bank strives to be the preferred lifetime financial partner for our customers and shareholders,
and the employer of choice in the communities the Bank is privileged to serve. Our strategic plan focuses on
restructuring the balance sheet to provide more diversification and higher yielding assets to increase net interest
margin. Another area of focus is the transformation of our infrastructure through new technology. During 2018, we
will convert our core systems to a best-in-suite platform which will provide a transformative foundation for both our
operational efficiency and delivery process including online and mobile channels for our customers.
Our focus continues to be on loan and deposit growth and implementing opportunities to increase fee income, while
closely monitoring our operating expenses. We have also taken aggressive steps in 2017 to improve asset quality.
The Bank is focused on executing our strategy to successfully build our brand and grow our business in our markets.
While the Bank has benefited from recent increases in short-term interest rates, the low interest rate environment
still remains a challenge for our net interest income. The Bank has been able to mitigate the impact of lower rates
through loan growth which was offset by large pay-downs on legacy credits. The Bank expects to benefit from any
future increases in interest rates.
The Bank offers a full range of deposit services including LIFETIME FREE CHECKING, interest checking
accounts, savings accounts, retirement accounts and other deposit accounts of various types, ranging from money
market accounts to longer-term certificates of deposit. The transaction accounts and time certificates are tailored to
each of the Bank's principal markets at competitive rates. All deposit accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") up to the maximum amount allowed by law. The Dodd-Frank Act, signed into law
on July 21, 2010, makes permanent the $250,000 limit for federal deposit insurance and the coverage limit applies
per depositor, per insured depository institution for each account ownership.
The Bank also offers a full range of commercial and personal loans. Commercial loans include both secured and
unsecured loans. Consumer loans include secured and unsecured loans for financing automobiles, home
improvements, education and personal investments. The Bank also makes real estate construction and acquisition
loans, and originates and holds fixed and variable rate mortgage loans.
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CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
The Bank's lending activities are subject to a variety of lending limits imposed by federal law. While differing limits
apply in certain circumstances based on the type of loan or the nature of the borrower (including the borrower's
relationship to the Bank), in general the Bank is subject to a loanto-one borrower limit of an amount equal to 15%
of the Bank's unimpaired capital and surplus. The Bank may not make loans to any director, officer, employee or
10% shareholder of the Bank unless the loan is approved by the Board of Directors and is made on terms not more
favorable than are made available to a person not affiliated with the Bank.
Other bank services include safe deposit boxes, travelers’ checks, direct deposit of payroll and social security
checks, and automated drafts for various accounts. The Bank has no current plans to exercise trust powers.
The Bank has one direct wholly owned subsidiary operating as, The Mortgage Company of Virginia, Inc.
(“MCOV”). The business operations of MCOV have been entirely absorbed by Carter Bank & Trust and MCOV
has no employees and no separate business of its own.
The Mortgage Company of Virginia, Inc. owns 100% of Bank Services of Virginia which provides courier services
to the Bank. The only employees of BSVA are those persons working in the courier operations.
The Mortgage Company of Virginia, Inc. formerly owned 100% of Bank Services Insurance, Inc. which is a fully
operational, licensed general insurance agency which provides insurance agency services to bank customers and
other third parties. The premiums paid to Bank Services Insurance, Inc. by Carter Bank & Trust equaled $370
thousand for 2017, $900 thousand for 2016, and $337 thousand for 2015. The Bank sold Bank Services Insurance,
Inc. in January of 2018 for a $1.2 million gain.
Employees
As of December 31, 2017, Carter Bank & Trust and its subsidiaries had 963 full-time equivalent employees.
Competition
The Bank experiences significant competition in attracting depositors and borrowers. Competition in lending
activities comes principally from other commercial banks, savings associations, insurance companies, governmental
agencies, credit unions, and brokerage firms. Competition for deposits comes from other commercial banks, savings
associations, money market and mutual funds, credit unions, insurance companies and brokerage firms. Some of the
financial organizations competing with the Bank have greater financial resources than the Bank. Certain of these
financial organizations also have greater geographic coverage and some offer bank and bank-related services which
the Bank does not offer.
Supervision and Regulation
General. Financial institutions are extensively regulated under federal and state law. Consequently, the growth and
earnings performance of the Bank can be affected not only by management decisions and general economic
conditions, but also by the statutes administered by, and the regulations and policies of, various governmental
regulatory authorities including, but not limited to, the Federal Reserve Board (“FRB”), the FDIC, the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”), the Internal Revenue Service, federal and state taxing authorities, and the
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CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The effect of such statutes, regulations and policies can be
significant, and cannot be predicted with a high degree of certainty.
Federal and state laws and regulations generally applicable to financial institutions regulate, among other things, the
scope of business, investments, reserves against deposits, capital levels relative to operations, the nature and amount
of collateral for loans, the establishment of branches, mergers, consolidations and dividends. The system of
supervision and regulation applicable to the Bank establishes a comprehensive framework for its operations and is
intended primarily for the protection of the FDIC’s deposit insurance funds and the depositors, rather than the
shareholders of the Bank.
Finally, the Bank is subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, including, but not limited to, filing annual, quarterly and other current reports with the FDIC.
The following references to material statutes and regulations affecting the Bank are brief summaries thereof and do
not purport to be complete, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to such statutes and regulations. Any
change in applicable law or regulations may have a material effect on the business of the Bank.
Dodd-Frank Act. On July 21, 2010, President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank Act”) which significantly restructured the financial regulatory regime in
the United States. Changes in regulations and compliance requirements mandated by the law have had a huge
impact on the financial services industry. While significant rule-making has occurred certain provisions of the act
will require additional rule-making and will take years to fully implement. Based on uncertainties of how the
federal regulatory agencies will implement the Act, the full extent of the impact of the Act on the Bank’s operations
is uncertain at this time.
Certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act are incorporated in the summaries below:
Regulatory Capital Requirements. All financial institutions are required to maintain minimum levels of regulatory
capital. The FDIC established risk-based and leveraged capital standards for the financial institutions they regulate.
The FDIC also may impose capital requirements in excess of these standards on a case-by-case basis for various
reasons, including financial condition or actual or anticipated growth.
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, Carter Bank & Trust qualified as a “well capitalized” institution (see Note 15
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements filed herewith). Under the risk-based capital requirements,
through December 31, 2015, the Bank was required to maintain a minimum ratio of total capital to risk-weighted
assets of at least 8%. At least half of the total capital was required to be “Tier 1 capital,” which consists principally
of common and certain qualifying preferred shareholders’ equity, less certain intangibles and other adjustments.
The remainder, “Tier 2 capital,” consists of a limited amount of subordinated and other qualifying debt (including
certain hybrid capital instruments) and a limited amount of the general loan loss reserve.
The federal regulatory agencies established a minimum leveraged capital ratio (Tier 1 capital to period end total
average assets). These guidelines provided for a minimum leverage capital ratio of 4%. The guidelines also
provided that banking organizations experiencing internal growth or making acquisitions were expected to
maintain strong capital positions substantially above the minimum supervisory levels, without significant
reliance on intangible assets.
5

CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
Basel III Regulatory Capital Framework. On July 2, 2013, the Federal Reserve approved certain provisions to not
only revise and strengthen risk-based and leverage capital requirements, but to implement certain provisions
required by the Dodd-Frank Act.
Effective January 1, 2015, the final rules required the Bank to comply with the following capital ratios to be wellcapitalized:

•
•
•
•

A new common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5% of risk-weighted assets;
A Tier 1 capital ratio of 6.0% of risk-weighted assets (increased from 4.0%);
A total capital ratio of 8.0% of risk-weighted assets (unchanged from previous requirement),
and;
A leverage ratio of 4.0% of total average assets (unchanged from previous requirement).

On January 1, 2019, when these new capital standards are fully implemented, the Bank will be required to
maintain:

•

A minimum ratio of common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets of at least 4.5%, plus a 2.5% “capital
conservation buffer” (resulting in a minimum ratio of at least 7.0%);

•

A minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 6.0%, plus the capital conservation
buffer (resulting in a minimum ratio of at least 8.5%);

•

A minimum ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 8.0%, plus the capital conservation
buffer (resulting in a minimum ratio of at least 10.5%), and;

•

A minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%, calculated as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to average assets.

The capital conservation buffer was first applied on January 1, 2016 at 0.625% of risk-weighted assets and
increases each year by 0.625% until reaching 2.5% on January 1, 2019. This buffer is designed to absorb losses
during periods of economic stress. Banking institutions with a ratio of common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted
assets above the minimum ratio for well-capitalized status but below the conservation buffer will be subject to
constraints on dividends, equity repurchases, and compensation based on the amount of the shortage.
The new capital requirements also include changes in the risk weights of assets to better reflect credit risk and other
risk exposures. These include a 150% risk weight (up from 100%) for certain high volatility commercial real estate
acquisition, development and construction loans and nonresidential mortgage loans that are 90 days past due or
otherwise on nonaccrual status, a 20% (up from 0%) credit conversion factor for the unused portion of a
commitment with an original maturity of one year or less that is not unconditionally cancelable, a 250% risk weight
(up from 100%) for mortgage servicing rights and deferred tax assets that are not deducted from capital, and
increased risk-weights (from 0% to up to 600%) for equity exposures.
Management believes that, as of December 31, 2017, the Bank would meet all capital adequacy requirements under
the Basel III Capital Rules on a fully phased-in basis as if such requirements were in effect as of that date.
Insurance of Accounts, Assessments and Regulation by the FDIC. Deposits with Carter Bank & Trust are insured
through the Deposit Insurance Fund (“DIF”) of the FDIC. As a DIF-insured institution, the Bank is subject to FDIC
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
rules and regulations as administrator of the DIF. The Dodd-Frank Act made permanent the current standard
maximum deposit insurance amount of $250,000. The FDIC coverage applies per depositor, per insured depository
institution, for each account ownership category. The FDIC is authorized to conduct examinations of and to require
reporting by DIF-insured institutions. The actual assessment to be paid by each DIF member is based on the
institution’s assessment risk classification and whether the institution is considered by its supervisory agency to be
financially sound or to have supervisory concerns. On February 7, 2011, the FDIC adopted a final rule which
redefined the deposit insurance assessment base as average consolidated total assets minus average tangible equity
and adopted a new assessment rate schedule effective April 1, 2011. Insured institutions with assets less than $10
billon pay smaller assessments as a result of this final rule.
The FDIC is authorized to prohibit any DIF-insured institution from engaging in any activity that the FDIC
determines by regulation or order to pose a serious threat to the insurance fund. Also, the FDIC may initiate
enforcement actions against banks after first giving the institution’s primary regulatory authority an opportunity to
take such action. The FDIC may terminate the deposit insurance of any depository institution, including the Bank, if it
determines, after a hearing, that the institution has engaged or is engaging in unsafe or unsound practices, is in an
unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated any applicable law, regulation, order or any
condition imposed in writing by the FDIC. It also may suspend deposit insurance temporarily during the hearing
process for the permanent termination of insurance, if the institution has no tangible capital. If deposit insurance is
terminated, the deposits at the institution at the time of termination, less subsequent withdrawals, shall continue to be
insured for a period from six months to two years, as determined by the FDIC. Management is aware of no existing
circumstances that could result in termination of the Bank’s deposit insurance.
The Bank is not a member of the Federal Reserve System.
CFPB Regulation and Supervision. The Dodd-Frank Act created the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB)
which has the power to establish rules and regulations under certain federal consumer protection laws with respect to
the conduct of providers of certain consumer financial products and services. The CFPB is the federal regulatory
agency responsible for implementing, examining and enforcing compliance with federal consumer financial laws for
institutions with more than $10 billion of assets and, to a lesser extent, smaller institutions.
Because the Bank is a smaller institution (i.e., with assets of $10 billion or less), most consumer protection aspects
of the Dodd-Frank Act will continue to be applied to the Bank by the FDIC. However, the CFPB may include its
own examiners in regulatory examinations by a small institution’s principal regulators and may require smaller
institutions to comply with certain CFPB reporting requirements. In addition, regulatory positions taken by the
CFPB and administrative and legal precedents established by CFPB enforcement activities, including in connection
with supervision of larger banks, could influence how the FDIC applies consumer protection laws and regulations to
financial institutions that are not directly supervised by the CFPB. The precise effect of the CFPB’s consumer
protection activities on the Bank cannot be determined with certainty.
Other Safety and Soundness Regulations. The federal banking agencies have broad powers under current federal
law to take prompt corrective action to resolve problems of insured depository institutions. The extent of these
powers depends upon whether the institutions in question are “well capitalized,” “adequately capitalized,”
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
“undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized” or “critically undercapitalized,” as such terms are defined
under uniform regulations issued by each of the federal banking agencies.
Community Reinvestment. The requirements of the Community Reinvestment Act (“CRA”) affect the Bank. The
CRA imposes on financial institutions an affirmative obligation to help meet the credit needs of their local
communities, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent with the safe and sound operation
of those institutions. Each financial institution’s efforts in helping meet community credit needs currently are
evaluated as part of the examination process pursuant to regulations adopted by the banking regulatory agencies.
Under the regulation financial institution’s efforts in helping meet its community’s credit needs are evaluated,
based on the particular institution’s total assets, according to a lending test, a community development test in
addition to the lending test, or the three-pronged (lending, investment and service) test. The grade received by a
bank is considered in evaluating mergers, acquisitions and applications to open a branch or facility. To the best
knowledge of the Bank, it is meeting its obligations under the CRA. The Bank received a rating of “satisfactory”
on its most recent CRA examination.
Confidentiality and Required Disclosures of Customer Information. The Bank is subject to various laws and
regulations that address the privacy of nonpublic personal financial information of consumers. The Gramm-LeachBliley Act and certain regulations issued thereunder protect against the transfer and use by financial institutions of
consumer nonpublic personal information. A financial institution must provide to its customers, at the beginning of
the customer relationship and annually thereafter, the institution’s policies and procedures regarding the handling of
customers’ nonpublic personal financial information. These privacy provisions generally prohibit a financial
institution from providing a customer’s personal financial information to unaffiliated third parties unless the
institution discloses to the customer that the information may be so provided and the customer is given the
opportunity to opt out of such disclosure. In 2016, the CFPB proposed rules that provide an exception to the
requirement to deliver an annual privacy notice if a financial institution only provides nonpublic personal information
to unaffiliated third parties under limited exceptions under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and related regulations, and
has not changed its policies and practices regarding disclosure of nonpublic personal financial information from those
disclosed in the most recent privacy notice provided to the customer. The comment period for these proposed rules
has closed and a final rule has not been published.
The Bank is also subject to various laws and regulations that attempt to combat money laundering and terrorist
financing. The Bank Secrecy Act requires all financial institutions to, among other things, create a system of
controls designed to prevent money laundering and the financing of terrorism, and imposes recordkeeping and
reporting requirements. The USA Patriot Act added regulations to facilitate information sharing among
governmental entities and financial institutions for the purpose of combating terrorism and money laundering, and
requires financial institutions to establish anti-money laundering programs. The Office of Foreign Assets Control
(OFAC), which is a division of the Treasury, is responsible for helping to ensure that United States entities do not
engage in transactions with “enemies” of the United States, as defined by various Executive Orders and Acts of
Congress. If the Bank finds a name of an “enemy” of the United States on any transaction, account or wire transfer
that is on an OFAC list, it must freeze such account or place transferred funds into a blocked account, and report it
to OFAC.
Although these laws and programs impose compliance costs and create privacy obligations and, in some cases,
reporting obligations, and compliance with all of the laws, programs, and privacy and reporting obligations may
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
require significant resources of the Bank, these laws and programs do not materially affect the Bank’s products,
services or other business activities.
Effect of Governmental Monetary Policies. As with other financial institutions, the earnings of the Bank are affected
by general economic conditions as well as by the monetary policies of the FRB. Such policies, which include
regulating the national supply of bank reserves and bank credit, can have a major effect upon the source and cost of
funds and the rates of return earned on loans and investments. The Federal Reserve System exerts a substantial
influence on interest rates and credit conditions, primarily through establishing target rates for federal funds, open
market operations in U.S. Government securities, varying the discount rate on member bank borrowings and setting
cash reserve requirements against deposits. Changes in monetary policy, including changes in interest rates, will
influence the origination of loans, the purchase of investments, the generation of deposits, and rates received on
loans and investment securities and paid on deposits. Fluctuations in the FRB’s monetary policies have had a
significant impact on the operating results of the Bank and all financial institutions in the past and are expected to
continue to do so in the future.
Dividend Limitations. The amount of dividends permitted to be paid by the Bank will depend upon its earnings and
capital position, and is limited by federal and state law, regulations and policy. Virginia law imposes restrictions
on the ability of all banks chartered under Virginia law to pay dividends. Under Virginia law, no dividend may be
declared or paid that would impair a bank’s paid-in capital and payments must be made from retained earnings.
State and federal regulators have the general authority to limit dividends paid by the Bank if it is, or after making
the distribution it would become, “undercapitalized” (as that term is defined in federal law). The FDIC has issued
policy statements that provide that insured banks generally should pay dividends only from their current operating
earnings, and, under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, no dividend may be paid by an insured bank while it is in
default on any assessment due the FDIC. The Bank’s payment of dividends also could be affected or limited by
other factors, such as events or circumstances which lead the FDIC to require that the Bank maintain capital in
excess of regulatory guidelines, or the Bank’s failure to maintain an appropriate capital conservation buffer as
discussed above.
Where You Can Find More Information
Carter Bank & Trust files quarterly, annual and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the FDIC
(rather than the SEC). You may (i) obtain copies of the documents Carter Bank & Trust files with the FDIC by
directing a request by telephone or mail to Investor Relations, Carter Bank & Trust, 1300 Kings Mountain Road,
Martinsville, Virginia 24112; telephone number: (276) 656-1776, or (ii) obtain copies of these documents by
contacting the FDIC by facsimile at (703) 562-2296 or by mail at 3501 North Fairfax Drive, Room E-1002,
Arlington, Virginia 22226. The annual report and proxy statement will be available through our website at
www.carterbankandtrust.com/ under “Investor Relations” as of the date of the annual mailing to shareholders.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
An investment in the Bank’s securities involves risk. In addition to the other information set forth in this report,
including the information under the heading “Important Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” investors
in the Bank’s securities should consider the factors discussed below.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)
Carter Bank & Trust’s business is subject to interest rate risk and fluctuations in interest rates may adversely
affect its earnings and capital levels.
The majority of Carter Bank & Trust’s assets are monetary in nature and, as a result, Carter Bank & Trust will be
subject to significant risk from changes in interest rates. Changes in interest rates can impact Carter Bank & Trust’s
net interest income as well as the valuation of its assets and liabilities. Also, Carter Bank & Trust’s earnings are
significantly dependent on its net interest income, which is the difference between interest income on interestearning assets, such as loans and securities, and interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and
borrowings. Carter Bank & Trust expects that it will experience “gaps” in the interest rate sensitivities of its assets
and liabilities, meaning that either its interest-bearing liabilities will be more sensitive to changes in market interest
rates than its interest-earning assets, or vice versa. In either event, if market interest rates should move contrary to
Carter Bank & Trust’s position, this “gap” will work against it and its earnings may be negatively affected.
An increase in the general level of interest rates may also, among other things, reduce the demand for loans and
Carter Bank & Trust’s ability to originate loans or increase the rate of default on existing loans. Conversely, a
decrease in the general level of interest rates may, among other things, lead to an increase in prepayments on loans
and increased competition for deposits. Accordingly, changes in the general level of market interest rates may affect
net yield on interest-earning assets, loan origination volume, loan portfolios and Carter Bank & Trust’s overall
results.
Although Carter Bank & Trust’s asset-liability management strategy is designed to control its risk from changes in
the general level of market interest rates, market interest rates will be affected by many factors outside of its control,
including inflation, recession, changes in unemployment, other economic conditions, money supply and
international disorder and instability in domestic and foreign financial markets. It is possible that significant or
unexpected changes in interest rates may take place in the future, and Carter Bank & Trust cannot always accurately
predict the nature or magnitude of such changes or how such changes may affect its business.
Carter Bank & Trust is subject to extensive government regulation and supervision.
Banking regulations are primarily intended to protect depositors’ funds, federal deposit insurance funds and the
banking system as a whole, not security holders. These regulations affect our lending practices, capital structure,
investment practices, dividend policy and growth, among other things. Congress and federal regulatory agencies
continually review banking laws, regulations and policies for possible changes. The Dodd-Frank Act, enacted in
July 2010, instituted major changes to the banking and financial institutions regulatory regimes in light of the
financial crisis of 2018 and government intervention in the financial services sector that followed. Other changes to
statutes, regulations or regulatory policies, including changes in interpretation or implementation of statutes,
regulations or policies, could affect us in substantial and unpredictable ways. Such changes could subject us to
additional costs, limit the types of financial services and products we may offer and/or increase the ability of nonbanks to offer competing financial services and products, among other things. Failure to comply with laws,
regulations, policies or supervisory guidance could result in enforcement and other legal actions by Federal or state
authorities, including criminal and civil penalties, the loss of FDIC insurance, the revocation of a banking charter,
other sanctions by regulatory agencies, civil money penalties and/or reputational damage. In this regard, government
authorities, including the bank regulatory agencies, are pursuing aggressive enforcement actions with respect to
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compliance and other legal matters involving financial activities, which heightens the risks associated with actual
and perceived compliance failures. See “Supervision and Regulation” included in Item 1 of this Report. Business for
a more detailed description of the Dodd-Frank Act and other regulatory requirements applicable to Carter Bank &
Trust.
Carter Bank & Trust’s profitability depends significantly on local economic conditions.
Carter Bank & Trust’s success will depend primarily on the general economic conditions of the geographic markets
in which it operates. The local economic conditions in the areas where it operates will have a significant impact on
its commercial, real estate and construction loans, the ability of its borrowers to repay their loans and the value of
the collateral securing these loans. A significant decline in general economic conditions, including a decline caused
by inflation, recession, acts of terrorism, outbreak of hostilities or other international or domestic calamities,
unemployment or other factors could impact these local economic conditions and negatively affect Carter Bank &
Trust’s financial results.
The Basel III Final Rules require higher levels of capital and liquid assets, which could adversely affect the
Bank’s net income and return on equity.
The Basel III Final Rules represent the most comprehensive overhaul of the U.S. banking capital framework in over
two decades. This new capital framework and related changes to the standardized calculations of risk-weighted
assets are complex and create additional compliance burdens, especially for community banks. The Basel III Final
Rules require bank holding companies and their subsidiaries, such as the Bank, to maintain significantly more
capital as a result of higher required capital levels and more demanding regulatory capital risk weightings and
calculations. As a result of the Basel III Final Rules, many community banks could be forced to limit banking
operations, activities and growth of loan portfolios, in order to focus on retention of earnings to improve capital
levels. The Bank believes that it maintains sufficient levels of Tier 1 and Common Equity Tier 1 capital to comply
with the Basel III Final Rules. However, the Bank can offer no assurances with regard to the ultimate effect of the
Basel III Final Rules, and satisfying increased capital requirements imposed by the Basel III Final Rules may require
the Bank to limit its banking operations, retain net income or reduce dividends to improve regulatory capital levels,
which could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Carter Bank & Trust faces strong competition from financial services companies and other companies that offer
banking services which could negatively affect its business.
Carter Bank & Trust conducts its banking operations primarily in Virginia and North Carolina, including Roanoke,
Lynchburg, Danville, Fredericksburg, Northern Virginia, Greensboro, Durham, Wilson and Fayetteville. Increased
competition in these markets may result in reduced loans and deposits. Ultimately, Carter Bank & Trust may not be
able to compete successfully against current and future competitors. Many competitors offer the same banking
services that Carter Bank & Trust offers in its service area. These competitors include national banks, regional
banks and other community banks. Carter Bank & Trust also faces competition from many other types of financial
institutions, including without limitation, savings and loan institutions, finance companies, brokerage firms,
insurance companies, credit unions, mortgage banks and other financial intermediaries. In particular, Carter Bank &
Trust’s competitors include several major financial companies whose greater resources may afford them a
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)
marketplace advantage by enabling them to maintain numerous banking locations and ATMs, conduct extensive
promotional and advertising campaigns and offer a wider range of products, services and technologies.
Additionally, banks and other financial institutions with larger capitalization and financial intermediaries not subject
to bank regulatory restrictions have larger lending limits and are thereby able to serve the credit needs of larger
customers. Areas of competition include interest rates for loans and deposits, efforts to obtain deposits, and range
and quality of products and services provided, including new technology-driven products and services.
Technological innovation continues to contribute to greater competition in domestic and international financial
services markets as technological advances enable more companies to provide financial services. Carter Bank &
Trust also faces competition from out-of-state financial intermediaries that have opened low-end production offices
or that solicit deposits in its market areas. If Carter Bank & Trust is unable to attract and retain banking customers,
it may be unable to continue to grow its loan and deposit portfolios and its results of operations and financial
condition may otherwise be adversely affected.
A large percentage of Carter Bank & Trust’s loans are secured by real estate, and an adverse change in the real
estate market may result in losses and adversely affect Carter Bank & Trust’s profitability.
Approximately 67% of Carter Bank & Trust’s loan portfolio as of December 31, 2017, was comprised of loans
secured by real estate. An adverse change in the economy affecting values of real estate generally or in the market
areas served by Carter Bank & Trust specifically could impair the value of Carter Bank & Trust’s collateral and its
ability to sell the collateral upon foreclosure. In the event of a default with respect to any of these loans, the
amounts Carter Bank & Trust receives upon sale of the collateral may be insufficient to recover outstanding
principal and interest on the loan. As a result, Carter Bank & Trust’s profitability and financial condition could be
negatively impacted by an adverse change in the real estate market. The Bank uses internally developed methods
for valuing collateral for impaired loans and other real estate owned. The methods require the use of assumptions
that are subject to change based on events impacting real estate values.
Our allowance for loan losses may be insufficient.
All borrowers carry the potential to default and our remedies to recover may not fully satisfy money previously
loaned. We maintain an allowance for loan losses, which is a reserve established through a provision for loan losses
charged to expense, which represents management’s best estimate of probable credit losses that have been incurred
within the existing portfolio of loans. The allowance, in the judgment of management, is adequate to reserve for
estimated loan losses and risks inherent in the loan portfolio. The level of the allowance for loan losses reflects
management’s continuing evaluation of industry concentrations, specific credit risks, loan loss experience, current
loan portfolio quality, present economic conditions and unidentified losses in the current loan portfolio. The
determination of the appropriate level of the allowance for credit losses inherently involves a high degree of
subjectivity and requires us to make significant estimates of current credit risks using existing qualitative and
quantitative information, all of which may undergo material changes. Changes in economic conditions affecting
borrowers, new information regarding existing loans, identification of additional problem loans and other factors,
both within and outside of our control, may require an increase in the allowance for credit losses. In addition, bank
regulatory agencies periodically review our allowance for credit losses and may require an increase in the provision
for credit losses or the recognition of additional loan charge-offs, based on judgments different than those of
management. An increase in the allowance for credit losses results in a decrease in net income or losses, and
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possibly risk-based capital, and may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.
We will be completing a transition to a new core processing system. If we are not able to complete the transition
as planned, or unanticipated events occur during the transition, our operations, net income, or reputation could
be adversely affected.
We will be transitioning to a new core processing system during 2018. The core processing system is used to
maintain customer and account records, reflect account transactions and activity, and support our customer
relationship management systems for substantially all of our deposit and loan customers. Carter Bank & Trust has
assembled a team of officers and employees representing key business units and functional areas throughout the
Bank to plan and oversee the transition process. This team, working with the vendor for the core processing system
and outside project management consultants, has developed a comprehensive work plan for completing the
transition. Extensive pre-conversion testing of, and employee training in, processing routines and new core
processing system operation will be conducted before Carter Bank & Trust is transitioned to the new core processing
system.
If we are not able to complete the transition to the new core processing system as expected in accordance with the
work plan, or if unanticipated events occur during or following the transition, Carter Bank & Trust may not be able
to timely process transactions for its customers, those customers may not be able to complete transactions in or
affecting their accounts that are maintained on the core processing system, or Carter Bank & Trust may not be able
to perform contractual and other obligations to its customers or other parties. Should any of these consequences
occur, Carter Bank & Trust may incur additional expense in its financial and regulatory reporting, in processing or
re-processing transactions, and Carter Bank & Trust may not be able to meet customer expectations for transaction
processing and customer service, customers may close their accounts with us, and we may incur liability under
contractual or other arrangements with customers or other parties. Any of these events, should they occur, could
have a material and adverse impact on the Bank’s operations, net income, reputation or the trading price of Carter
Bank & Trust’s shares, as well as expose the Bank to civil liability or regulatory sanctions.
Our operations rely on external vendors.
We rely on certain vendors to provide products and services necessary to maintain the day-to-day operations of
Carter Bank & Trust. In particular, we contracted with an external vendor for our core processing system used to
maintain customer and account records, reflect account transactions and activity, and support our customer
relationship management systems for substantially all of our deposit and loan customers. Accordingly, our
operations are exposed to risk that these vendors will not perform in accordance with the contracted arrangements
under service level agreements. The failure of an external vendor to perform in accordance with the contracted
arrangements under service level agreements, because of changes in the vendor’s organizational structure, financial
condition, support for existing products and services or strategic focus or for any other reason, could be disruptive to
Carter Bank & Trust’s operations and financial reporting, which could have a material adverse effect on Carter Bank
& Trust’s business and, in turn, Carter Bank & Trust’s financial condition and results of operations.
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Carter Bank & Trust is dependent on its management team, and the loss of its senior executive officers or other
key employees could impair its relationship with its customers and adversely affect its business and financial
results.
We believe that our growth and future success will depend in large on the skills of our executive officers. We also
depend upon the experience of the senior officers and other key personnel and their relationship with the
communities they serve. The loss of the services of one or more of these officers or key personnel could have an
adverse impact on the business of the Bank because of their skills, knowledge of the market, years of industry
experience and the difficulty promptly finding qualified replacement personnel.
An interruption in or breach in security of Carter Bank & Trust’s information systems may result in a loss of
customer business and negatively affect our results of operation and financial condition.
Carter Bank & Trust relies heavily on communications and information systems to conduct its business. Any failure
or interruption or breach in security of these systems could result in failures or disruptions in customer relationship
management, general ledger, deposits, and servicing or loan origination systems, or could compromise sensitive
data, including proprietary business information and personally identifiable information of our customers and
employees. Carter Bank & Trust cannot assure you that such failures or interruptions will not occur or, if they do
occur, that they will be adequately addressed by the Bank. The occurrence of any failures or interruptions could
result in a loss of customer business, costs or potential liability to us or damages to others, could require us to take
significant recommended actions at significant cost to us, and could have a negative effect on Carter Bank & Trust’s
results of operations and financial condition.
The trading volume in Carter Bank & Trust’s common stock is less than that of other larger financial services
companies.
Carter Bank & Trust under symbol CARE on the Over the Counter (OTC) Pink Marketplace. The trading volume in
its common stock is less than that of other, larger financial services companies. A public trading market having the
desired characteristics of depth, liquidity and orderliness depends on the presence in the marketplace of willing
buyers and sellers of Carter Bank & Trust’s common stock at any given time. This presence depends on the
individual decisions of investors and general economic and market conditions over which we have no control. Given
the lower trading volume of Carter Bank & Trust’s common stock, significant sales of Carter Bank & Trust’s
common stock, or the expectation of these sales, could cause Carter Bank & Trust’s stock price to fall.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Carter Bank & Trust’s main office is located at 4 East Commonwealth Boulevard, Martinsville, Virginia. As of
March 15, 2018, the Bank also operates 110 additional offices. Eighty-two offices are located in Virginia and
twenty-eight are located in North Carolina. The Bank owns and operates 106 of the offices free and clear of
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES (continued)
encumbrances, while the other 4 are held under operating leases. The leases are described in Note 7 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Our banking offices are located in the following communities:

Abingdon
Amherst
Bassett
Bedford (3 locations)
Blacksburg
Blairs
Boones Mill
Bridgewater
Bristol
Cedar Bluff
Charlottesville (3 locations)
Chase City
Chatham
Christiansburg (2 locations)
Clarksville
Collinsville
Culpeper
Danville (5 locations)
Falmouth

Asheboro
Burlington (2 locations)
Durham
Eden
Fayetteville (2 locations)
Forest City
Greensboro (2 locations)
Greenville
Henderson

Locations that are Open in Virginia
Ferrum
Fieldale
Floyd
Fredericksburg (2 locations)
Galax
Gretna
Harrisonburg (2 locations)
Hillsville
Horsepasture
Hot Springs
Independence
Lake Ridge
Lebanon
Lexington
Lynchburg (4 locations)
Madison Heights
Manassas
Martinsville (3 locations)
Moneta

New Castle
Nokesville
Oak Level
Pulaski
Radford
Roanoke (7 locations)
Rocky Mount
St. Paul
Salem
South Boston (2 locations)
South Hill
Spotsylvania
Stafford (2 locations)
Staunton
Stuart
Tazewell
Vinton
Waynesboro
Weyers Cave
Wytheville

Locations that are Open in North Carolina
Hickory
Reidsville
Jonesville
Roxboro
Lincolnton
Sanford
Louisburg
Shelby
Lumberton
Siler City
Mooresville
Stoneville
Morganton
Wilkesboro
Mt. Airy
Wilson

Management considers these existing properties to be in good condition. Adequate insurance is maintained on each
of these properties.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On August 2, 2016, the FDIC and the Virginia Bureau of Financial Institutions (the “Bureau”) issued a Consent
Order (the “Order”) in connection with compliance by the Bank with the Bank Secrecy Act (the “BSA”) and related
regulations and other related anti-money laundering regulations (collectively, the “BSA/AML Requirements”). The
Order was issued pursuant to the consent of the Bank, and in consenting to the issuance of the Order the Bank did
not admit or deny any unsafe or unsound banking practices or violations of law or regulation related to weaknesses
in the Bank’s compliance with the BSA/AML Requirements. The Bank has reviewed, assessed and taken actions to
strengthen and enhance compliance programs related to the BSA/AML requirements. The Order, incorporated by
reference, to the Bank’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the FDIC on August 8, 2016.
Except as set forth above, as of December 31, 2017 no material legal proceedings were pending or threatened
against Carter Bank & Trust.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market for Common Stock and Dividends
Raymond James and Associates is quoting a market in Carter Bank & Trust under symbol CARE on the Over the
Counter (“OTC”) Pink Marketplace.
The table below sets forth, for the calendar quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of Carter Bank
& Trust common stock, and the dividends paid per share of Carter Bank & Trust common stock.
Price Range of Common
Stock
2017
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter
2016
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

$

$

16

Low
16.40
15.45
14.95
12.99

11.70
12.45
12.45
13.25

High
$
17.55
18.23
17.35
16.90

Dividends
Declared
$
-

$

$

13.50
14.12
13.50
13.65

0.10
0.10
0.10

CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)
The Bank’s common stock last traded at $17.25 on March 14, 2018 the last completed trading day before the filing
of this Report.
As of March 14, 2018, there were 26,257,761 shares of common stock of Carter Bank & Trust outstanding, held by
2,840 shareholders of record.
Dividends. Payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Bank's Board of Directors and is subject to various
federal and state regulatory limitations. The amount of dividends permitted to be paid by the Bank will depend upon
its earnings and capital position, and is limited by federal and state law, regulations and policy. Virginia law imposes
restrictions on the ability of all banks chartered under Virginia law to pay dividends. Under Virginia law, no
dividend may be declared or paid that would impair a bank's paid-in capital and payments must be made from
retained earnings. State and federal regulators have the general authority to limit dividends paid by the Bank if it is,
or after making the distribution it would become, "undercapitalized" (as that term is defined in federal law). The
FDIC has issued policy statements that provide that insured banks generally should pay dividends only from their
current operating earnings, and, under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, no dividend may be paid by an insured
bank while it is in default on any assessment due to the FDIC. Our payment of dividends also could be affected or
limited by other factors, such as events or circumstances which lead the FDIC to require that we maintain capital in
excess of regulatory guidelines.
In order to meet and maintain comfortable capital margins in light of increasing regulatory costs and increasing
capital requirements, on October 14, 2016, the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Carter Bank & Trust (the
"Bank") determined that it was prudent not to declare a cash dividend on the Bank's common stock beginning in the
fourth quarter of 2016. Given the Bank's history of paying a quarterly cash dividend on its common stock, this
decision was an extremely difficult one and one that the Board did not take lightly. However, the Board believes this
decision is necessary and appropriate as the Bank commits additional resources to assist with regulatory compliance
and makes significant investments in new technology and human resources, in part to comply with the August 2,
2016 Consent Order issued by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Virginia Bureau of Financial
Institutions in connection with the Bank's compliance with the Bank Secrecy Act and related regulations and other
related anti-money laundering regulations. While recognizing the importance of dividends to the Bank's
shareholders, the Board determined that preservation of capital is of paramount importance at this time.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)
FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
The following chart compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock with the cumulative
total return of the NASDAQ Composite Index and SNL Bank and Thrift Index, which includes the stocks of banks,
thrifts and bank and financial holding companies listed on all major exchanges (NYSE, AMEX, NASDAQ) S&P
Global Market Intelligence’s coverage universe.

Total Return Performance
250
Carter Bank & Trust
NASDAQ Composite Index
200

Index Value

SNL Bank and Thrift Index

150

100

50
12/31/12

12/31/13

12/31/14

12/31/15

12/31/16

12/31/17

Period Ending
Index
Carter Bank & Trust
NASDAQ Composite Index
SNL Bank and Thrift Index

12/31/12

12/31/13

12/31/14

12/31/15

12/31/16

12/31/17

100.00
100.00
100.00

129.30
140.12
136.92

154.59
160.78
152.85

169.61
171.97
155.94

170.85
187.22
196.86

225.61
242.71
231.49

Repurchases of Shares of Common Stock
Carter Bank & Trust did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during 2017.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The tables below summarize selected consolidated financial data as of the dates or for the periods presented and
should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in Part II, Item 7 and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data in Part II, Item 8 of
this Report:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Five-Year Selected Financial Data
Balance Sheet Summary
(At End of Period)
Total Assets
Securities Available-for-Sale, at Fair Value
Securities Held-to-Maturity, at Cost
Loans Held-for-Sale
Portfolio Loans (net of unearned income)
Allowance for Loan Losses
Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Noninterest-Bearing Deposits
Interest-Bearing Deposits
Total Deposits
Other Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Retained Earnings
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)
Total Shareholders' Equity
Summary of Earnings
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Provision for Loan Losses
Net Interest Income after Provision
Noninterest Income
Noninterest Expense
Net (Loss) Income before Taxes
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision
Net (Loss) Income
Net (Loss) Income per Share
Basic and Diluted
Selected Ratios
Return on Average Assets
Return on Average Equity
Average Equity to Average Assets
Total Risk-Based Capital
Leverage Ratio
Dividend Payout

For the Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014

2017

2013

$

4,112,292
947,201
517
2,684,445
(35,318)
59,884
530,242
3,139,373
3,669,615
10,551
3,680,166
265,930
(2,240)
432,126

$

4,505,529
879,694
2,731,783
(34,500)
59,795
534,923
3,528,916
4,063,839
7,040
4,070,879
266,214
434,650

$

4,893,968
1,422,101
2,638,852
(26,990)
59,828
534,005
3,920,556
4,454,561
12,858
4,467,419
258,113
426,549

$

4,629,941
1,828,264
2,320,621
(24,142)
62,308
458,266
3,755,691
4,213,957
18,090
4,232,047
229,458
397,894

$

4,661,811
1,920,420
2,014,666
(21,392)
69,755
434,173
3,835,480
4,269,653
17,221
4,286,874
206,501
374,937

$

$

$

146,727
45,330
3,000
98,397
14,473
69,585
43,285
9,825
33,460

$

$

152,377
47,797
3,300
101,280
14,685
66,566
49,399
10,241
39,158

$

$

147,422
46,382
17,717
83,323
12,494
78,193
17,624
1,645
15,979

$

$

143,589
37,111
43,197
63,281
12,827
94,320
(18,212)
(17,531)
(681)

$

147,288
52,788
2,700
91,800
12,861
69,505
35,156
9,080
26,076

$

(0.03)

$

0.61

$

1.49

$

1.27

$

0.99

-0.02%
-0.15%
10.27%
14.15%
9.33%
0.00%
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0.33%
3.63%
9.12%
13.35%
8.10%
49.30%

0.82%
9.51%
8.64%
12.03%
7.61%
26.85%

0.73%
8.80%
8.25%
12.07%
7.32%
31.50%

0.57%
7.09%
7.98%
11.98%
6.62%
40.40%

CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
This section reviews our financial condition for each of the past two years and results of operations for each of the
past three years. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods to place them on a basis comparable with
the current period presentation. Some tables may include additional time periods to illustrate trends within our
Consolidated Financial Statements. The results of operations reported in the accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in future periods.
Important Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains or incorporates statements that we believe are “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements
generally relate to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, outlook for earnings, revenues,
expenses, capital and liquidity levels and ratios, asset levels, asset quality, financial position, and other matters
regarding or affecting Carter Bank & Trust and its future business and operations. Forward looking statements are
typically identified by words or phrases such as “will likely result,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “forecast,”
“project,” “intend,” “ believe,” “assume,” “strategy,” “trend,” “plan,” “outlook,” “outcome,” “continue,” “remain,”
“potential,” “opportunity,” “believe,” “comfortable,” “current,” “position,” “maintain,” “sustain,” “seek,” “achieve”
and variations of such words and similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as will, would, should,
could or may. Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward-looking statements are based are
reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate and the forward-looking statements based on
these assumptions could be incorrect. The matters discussed in these forward-looking statements are subject to
various risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results and trends to differ materially from those
made, projected, or implied in or by the forward-looking statements depending on a variety of uncertainties or other
factors including, but not limited to: credit losses, cyber-security concerns; rapid technological developments and
changes; sensitivity to the interest rate environment including a prolonged period of low interest rates, a rapid
increase in interest rates or a change in the shape of the yield curve; a change in spreads on interest-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities; our ability to retain existing deposits and attract new deposits; regulatory supervision
and oversight; legislation affecting the financial services industry as a whole, and Carter Bank & Trust in particular;
the outcome of pending and future litigation and governmental proceedings; increasing price and product/service
competition; the ability to continue to introduce competitive new products and services on a timely, cost-effective
basis; containing costs and expenses; reliance on significant customer relationships; general economic or business
conditions; deterioration of the housing market and reduced demand for mortgages; deterioration in the overall
macroeconomic conditions or the state of the banking industry that could warrant further analysis of the carrying
value of goodwill and could result in an adjustment to its carrying value resulting in a non-cash charge to net
income; re-emergence of turbulence in significant portions of the global financial and real estate markets that could
impact our performance, both directly, by affecting our revenues and the value of our assets and liabilities, and
indirectly, by affecting the economy generally and access to capital in the amounts, at the times and on the terms
required to support our future businesses; and the risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors of this
Report or contained in any of our subsequent filings with the FDIC. Forward-looking statements are based on beliefs
and assumptions using information available at the time the statements are made. We caution you not to unduly rely
on forward-looking statements because the assumptions, beliefs, expectations and projections about future events
may, and often do, differ materially from actual results. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as to the date on
which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect developments
occurring after the statement is made.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Explanation of Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In addition to the results of operations presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or
GAAP, in the United States, management uses, and this annual report references, net interest income on a fully
taxable equivalent, or (“FTE”), basis, which is a non-GAAP financial measure. Management believes this measure
provides information useful to investors in understanding our underlying business, operational performance trends
as it facilitates comparisons with the performance of other companies in the financial services industry. Although
management believes that this non-GAAP financial measure enhance investors’ understanding of our business and
performance, this non-GAAP financial measure should not be considered an alternative to GAAP or considered to
be more important than financial results determined in accordance with GAAP, nor is it necessarily comparable with
similar non-GAAP measures which may be presented by other companies.
The Bank believes the presentation of net interest income on an FTE basis ensures the comparability of net interest
income arising from both taxable and tax-exempt sources and is consistent with industry practice. Interest income
per the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income is reconciled to net interest income adjusted to an FTE
basis in the Net Interest Income section of the "Results of Operations – Year ended December 31, 2017."
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Accounting Estimates
Carter Bank & Trust’s accounting and reporting policies conform to GAAP in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and predominant practice in the banking industry. The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with GAAP requires management to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Over time, these estimates, assumptions and judgments may prove
to be inaccurate or vary from actual results and may significantly affect our reported results and financial position
for the period presented or in future periods. We currently view the determination of the allowance for credit losses,
fair value measurements, goodwill and income taxes to be critical because they are highly dependent on subjective
or complex judgments, assumptions and estimates made by management.
Allowance for Loan Losses
We account for the credit risk associated with our lending activities through the allowance and provision for loan
losses. The allowance represents management’s best estimate of probable losses that have been incurred in our
existing loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date. The provision is a periodic charge to earnings in an amount
necessary to maintain the allowance at a level that is appropriate based on management’s assessment of probable
estimated losses. Management determines and reviews with the Board of Directors the adequacy of the allowance on
a quarterly basis in accordance with the methodology described below.
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AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

•

Individual loans are selected for review in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 310, “Receivables.” These are generally large balance
commercial loans and commercial mortgages that are rated less than “satisfactory” based on our internal
credit-rating process.

•

We assess whether the loans identified for review in step one are “impaired,” which means that it is probable
that all amounts will not be collected according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement, which
generally represents loans that management has placed on nonaccrual status.

•

For impaired loans we calculate the estimated fair value of the loans that are selected for review based on
observable market prices, discounted cash flows or the value of the underlying collateral less costs to sell and
record an allowance if needed.

•

We then select pools of homogeneous smaller balance loans, having similar risk characteristics, as well as
unimpaired larger commercial loans, that have similar risk characteristics, for evaluation collectively under
the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 450, “Contingencies.” These smaller balance loans generally include
residential mortgages, consumer loans, installment loans and some commercial loans.

•

FASB ASC Topic 450 loans are segmented into groups with similar characteristics and an allowance for loan
losses is allocated to each segment based on recent loss history and other relevant information.

•

We then review the results to determine the appropriate balance of the allowance for credit losses. This
review includes consideration of additional factors, such as the mix of loans in the portfolio, the balance of
the allowance relative to total loans and nonperforming assets, trends in the overall risk profile in the
portfolio, trends in delinquencies and nonaccrual loans, and local and national economic information and
industry data, including trends in the industries we believe are higher risk.

There are many factors affecting the allowance for loan losses; some are quantitative, while others require
qualitative judgment. These factors require the use of estimates related to the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows, appraised values on impaired loans, estimated losses for each loan category based on historical loss
experience by category, loss emergence periods for each loan category and consideration of current economic trends
and conditions, all of which may be susceptible to significant judgment and change. To the extent that actual
outcomes differ from estimates, additional provisions for loan losses could be required that could adversely affect
our earnings or financial position in future periods. The loan portfolio represents the largest asset category on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Fair Values Measurements
FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” establishes a framework for measuring fair
value. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 820, Carter Bank & Trust groups financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at fair value into three levels based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded
and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value.
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that an entity has the
ability to access as of the measurement date, or observable inputs.
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect an entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. When
that occurs, we classify the fair value hierarchy on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. We used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair value:
Securities: The fair values of securities available for sale are determined by obtaining quoted prices on
nationally recognized securities exchanges, if available. This valuation method is classified as Level 1 in
the fair value hierarchy. For securities where quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated on
market prices of similar securities, or matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique, used widely in the
industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities but
rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. Matrix pricing relies
on the securities’ relationship to similarly traded securities, benchmark curves, and the benchmarking of
like securities. Matrix pricing utilizes observable market inputs such as benchmark yields, reported trades,
broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data,
and industry and economic events. In instances where broker quotes are used, these quotes are obtained
from market makers or broker-dealers recognized to be market participants. This valuation method is
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. For securities where quoted prices or market prices of
similar securities are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market
indicators.
Impaired Loans: An impaired loan is evaluated at the time the loan is identified as impaired and is
recorded at fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is measured based on the value of the collateral securing
the loan and is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Fair value is determined using several
methods. Generally, the fair value of real estate is determined based on appraisals by qualified licensed
appraisers. These appraisals may utilize a single valuation approach or a combination of approaches
including comparable sales and the income approach.
Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the appraisers to adjust for differences between
the comparable sales and income data available. These routine adjustments are made to adjust the value of
a specific property relative to comparable properties for variations in qualities such as location, size, and
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income production capacity relative to the subject property of the appraisal. Such adjustments are typically
significant and result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value.
Impaired loans are evaluated quarterly for additional impairment. We obtain updated appraisals on
properties securing our loans when circumstances are warranted such as at the time of renewal or when
market conditions have significantly changed. This determination is made on a property-by-property basis
in light of circumstances in the broader economic climate and our assessment of deterioration of real estate
values in the market in which the property is located. The first stage of our assessment involves
management’s inspection of the property in question. Management also engages in conversations with local
real estate professionals and market participants to determine the likely marketing time and value range for
the property. The second stage involves an assessment of current trends in the regional market. After
thorough consideration of these factors, management will either internally evaluate fair value or order a
new appraisal.
Other Real Estate Owned (“OREO”): OREO is evaluated at the time of acquisition and recorded at fair
value as determined by independent appraisal or internal evaluation less costs to sell and is classified as
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. At December 31, 2017 all OREO assets had been re-evaluated for
impairment using recent appraisals less than 12 months old and are carried on the Bank’s books at fair
value less cost to sell. When marketing OREO assets for sell, staff from the special assets group rely on
current appraised values and local realtor and broker inputs to determine asking prices for the assets.
Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually and
written down and charged to results of operations only in periods in which the recorded value is more than the
estimated fair value. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives will continue to be amortized over their useful
lives and are periodically evaluated for impairment.
As of December 31, 2017, goodwill and other intangible assets were not considered impaired; however, changing
economic conditions that may adversely affect our performance and stock price could result in impairment, which
could adversely affect earnings in future periods. As a result of our Step 2 analysis as of December 31, 2017, it was
determined that the fair value of our goodwill exceeded its carrying value.
Income Taxes
We estimate income tax expense based on amounts expected to be owed to the tax jurisdictions where we conduct
business. On a quarterly basis, management assesses the reasonableness of its effective tax rate based upon its
current estimate of the amount and components of net income, tax credits and the applicable statutory tax rates
expected for the full year.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined using the asset and liability method and are reported in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
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liabilities and their respective tax bases. If current available information raises doubt as to the realization of the
deferred tax assets, a valuation allowance is established. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. Management assesses all available positive and negative evidence on a quarterly
basis to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the existing deferred tax assets. The
amount of future taxable income used in management’s valuation is based upon management approved forecasts,
evaluation of historical earnings levels, proven ability to raise capital to support growth or during times of economic
stress and consideration of prudent and feasible potential tax strategies. If future events differ from our current
forecasts, a valuation allowance may be required, which could have a material impact on our financial condition and
results of operations.
Accrued taxes payable or receivable represent the net estimated amount due to or due from taxing jurisdictions and
are reported in other liabilities and other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Management evaluates and
assesses the relative risks and appropriate tax treatment of transactions and filing positions after considering statutes,
regulations, judicial precedent and other information and maintains tax accruals consistent with its evaluation of
these relative risks and merits. Changes to the estimate of accrued taxes occur periodically due to changes in tax
rates, interpretations of tax laws, the status of examinations being conducted by taxing authorities and changes to
statutory, judicial and regulatory guidance. These changes, when they occur, can affect deferred taxes and accrued
taxes, as well as the current period’s income tax expense and can be significant to our operating results.
Executive Overview
Carter Bank & Trust (the “Bank”) is a state non-member Bank headquartered in Martinsville, Virginia with assets of
$4.1 billion at December 31, 2017. The Bank operates branches in Virginia and North Carolina. The Bank provides
a full range of financial services with retail, and commercial banking products and insurance. Our common stock
trades under symbol CARE on the Over the Counter (OTC) Pink Marketplace.
The Bank earns revenue primarily from interest on loans and securities and fees charged for financial services
provided to our customers. The Bank incurs expenses for the cost of deposits, provision for loan losses and other
operating costs such as salaries and employee benefits, data processing, occupancy and tax expense.
Our mission is that the Bank strives to be the preferred lifetime financial partner for our customers and shareholders,
and the employer of choice in the communities the Bank is privileged to serve. Our strategic plan focuses on
restructuring the balance sheet to provide more diversification and higher yielding assets to increase the net interest
margin. Another area of focus is the transformation of our infrastructure of the Bank to provide a foundation for
operational efficiency and provide new products and services for our customers that will ultimately increase
noninterest income.
During 2017, the Bank has taken aggressive steps to deal with legacy problem loans so they will not have a lingering
impact to our long-term performance. Our focus going forward into 2018 will be focused on loan and deposit growth
and implementation of new opportunities to increase fee income while closely monitoring our operating expenses.
The Bank is focused on executing our strategy to successfully build our brand and grow our business in
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our markets. While the Bank has benefited from recent increases in short-term interest rates, the low interest rate
environment still remains a challenge for our net interest income. The Bank has been able to mitigate the impact of
lower rates through loan growth offset by large charge-offs and pay-downs on legacy credits. The Bank expects to
benefit from any future increases in interest rates.
Earnings Summary
Net interest income, on a FTE basis, increased $6.0 million to $115.0 million in 2017 as compared to 2016. The
increase in net interest income is primarily driven by a $9.3 million decrease in interest expense during 2017 as
compared to 2016 primarily due to the intentional runoff of higher cost certificates of deposit. The net interest
margin, on a fully taxable equivalent basis, increased 39 basis points to 2.79% over the past twelve months due to
our deployment of excess cash into higher yielding and diversified investment securities as well as the
aforementioned runoff of higher cost deposits.
The provision for loan losses
million as compared to 2016.
During 2017, the Bank has
relationships. This resulted in
legacy credits.

totaled $43.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of $25.5
Net charge-offs were $42.4 million for 2017 as compared to $10.2 million for 2016.
dealt with significant impairment in several large commercial real estate loan
significant charge-offs as the Bank aggressively worked toward resolution of these

Noninterest income decreased $0.9 million, or 6.8%, to $11.6 million, excluding net securities gains, in 2017 as
compared to $12.5 million in 2016. The decline in noninterest income is primarily attributable to lower income from
other real estate owned due to the disposition of several properties during the period. Debit card income, a key
component of the Bank’s noninterest income, improved to $4.9 million in 2017 as compared to $4.7 million in 2016.
Net securities gains of $1.2 million were realized during 2017 to take advantage of market opportunities and reduce
the credit risk of the securities portfolio.
Total noninterest expense increased $16.1 million, or 20.6%, in 2017 to $94.3 million as compared to $78.2 million
in 2016. Several nonrecurring items primarily contributed to this increase including $5.6 million of write-downs on
retail branch offices of which the real estate is marketed for sale, $3.3 million of historic tax credit investment writedowns, $4.9 million for regulatory and compliance reviews, $0.7 million for other write-downs and $0.1 million for
the establishment of a reserve for unfunded loan commitments. Also contributing to the increase was an increase in
salaries and employee benefits of $5.2 million, $5.7 million increase in legal and professional consulting fees and
$2.1 million of licensing fees for data processing that were fully amortized during 2017. These increases were
expected and planned as investments are made in the appropriate infrastructure to support the Bank in the future.
Offsetting these increases were decreases of $6.8 million, which were comprised of decreases in losses on sales and
write-downs of other real estate owned and expenses due to the aforementioned disposition of several properties
during the period and higher losses on sales in 2016. FDIC insurance expense decreased $1.0 million attributable to
lower FDIC assessment rates and a decrease in the assessment base.
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The provision for income taxes was a tax benefit of $17.5 million for 2017 as a result of a pretax loss of $18.2
million as compared to a tax provision of $1.6 million in 2016 and pretax income of $17.6 million. 2017 was
negatively impacted by a charge of $2.8 million from the write-down of the Bank’s deferred tax assets resulting
from the recent tax reform legislation.
The effective tax rate was negative 96% for the tax benefit in 2017 and 9% for the tax expense in 2016. The Bank
ordinarily generates an annual effective tax rate that is less than the federal statutory rate in effect for a fiscal year
(which was 35% for 2017, 2016 and 2015) due to benefits resulting from tax-exempt interest and tax benefits
associated with tax credits, which are relatively consistent regardless of the level of pretax income. The consistent
level of tax benefits that reduce our tax rate below the statutory 35% statutory rate and the pretax loss produced a
negative annual effective tax rate for 2017.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Net Interest Income
Our principal source of revenue is net interest income. Net interest income represents the difference between the
interest and fees earned on interest-earning assets and the interest paid on interest-bearing liabilities. Net interest
income is affected by changes in the average balance of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and
changes in interest rates and spreads. The level and mix of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities is
managed by our Asset and Liability Committee, or (“ALCO”), in order to mitigate interest rate and liquidity risks of
the balance sheet. A variety of ALCO strategies were implemented, within prescribed ALCO risk parameters, to
produce what the Bank believes is an acceptable level of net interest income.
The interest income on interest-earning assets and the net interest margin are presented on an FTE basis. The FTE
basis adjusts for the tax benefit of income on certain tax-exempt loans and securities using the applicable federal
statutory tax rate for each period (which was 35% for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015) and the
dividend-received deduction for equity securities. The Bank believes this FTE presentation provides a relevant
comparison between taxable and non-taxable sources of interest income.
The following table reconciles net interest income per the Consolidated Statements of Income to net interest income
and adjusted to a fully taxable equivalent basis (“FTE”) for the periods presented:
Years Ended December 31,
2017
2016
2015
$143,589 $147,422 $152,377
37,111
46,382
47,797
106,478
101,040
104,580
8,505
7,939
7,725
$114,983 $108,979 $112,305
2.58%
2.22%
2.33%
0.21
0.18
0.18
2.79%
2.40%
2.51%

(Dollars in Thousands)
Total Interest Income
Total Interest Expense
Net Interest Income
Adjustment to FTE Basis
Net Interest Income (FTE) (non-GAAP)
Net Interest Margin
Adjustment to FTE Basis
Net Interest Income (FTE) (non-GAAP)
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Average Balance Sheet and Net Interest Income Analysis (FTE)
Net interest income, on a FTE basis, increased $6.0 million, or 5.5 percent, for 2017 compared to 2016. The increase
in net interest income is primarily driven by the intentional runoff of higher cost certificates of deposit. The net
interest margin, on an FTE basis, increased 39 basis points for 2017 compared to 2016. The increases were primarily
due to the deployment of excess cash into higher yielding and diversified investment securities and loans as well as
the runoff of higher cost deposits.
The following table provides information regarding the average balances, interest and rates earned on interestearning assets and the average balances, interest and rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities for the years ended
December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
ASSETS
Interest-Bearing Deposits with Banks
Tax-Free Investment Securities
Taxable Investment Securities
Tax-Free Loans
Taxable Loans, net of Unearned
Income

2017
Average
Balance
$ 481,128
126,287
806,353
446,937

Income/
Expense
$ 4,689
7,530
14,911
16,771

2016
Average
Balance
$ 781,593
123,072
978,193
382,889

Rate
0.97%
5.96%
1.85%
3.75%

Income/
Expense
$ 3,859
7,649
21,347
15,034

2015
Rate
0.49%
6.22%
2.18%
3.93%

Average
Balance
$ 451,855
130,084
1,477,925
340,899

Income/
Expense
$ 1,103
7,981
31,851
14,091

Rate
0.24%
6.14%
2.16%
4.13%

2,263,601

108,193

4.78%

2,281,207

107,472

4.71%

2,079,635

105,076

5.05%

Total Interest-Earning Assets

$4,124,306

$152,094

3.69%

$4,546,954

$155,361

3.42%

$4,480,398

$160,102

3.57%

LIABILITIES
Deposits
Interest-Bearing Demand
Money Market
Savings
Certificates of Deposit
Total Interest-Bearing Deposits
Total Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Net Interest Income
Net Interest Margin

$ 243,815
141,438
727,182
2,199,263
$3,311,698
$3,311,698

$

0.65%
0.56%
0.49%
1.42%
1.12%
1.12%

$ 243,355
219,775
710,493
2,633,535
$3,807,158
$3,807,158

$

0.61%
0.75%
0.51%
1.50%
1.22%
1.22%

$ 240,348
223,838
736,900
2,667,173
$3,868,259
$3,868,259

$

0.47%
0.96%
0.90%
1.42%
1.24%
1.24%

1,587
788
3,568
31,168
$ 37,111
$ 37,111
$114,983

2.79%

1,487
1,649
3,617
39,629
$ 46,382
$ 46,382
$108,979

1,127
2,147
6,660
37,863
$ 47,797
$ 47,797
$112,305

2.40%

Interest income, on a FTE basis, decreased $3.3 million, or 2.1 percent, in 2017 compared to 2016. The decrease
was primarily a result of a decline in average total interest-earning assets of $422.6 million in 2017 compared to
2016. The rates earned on interest-earning assets increased 27 basis points primarily due to diversification of excess
cash and the investment portfolio. Average interest-bearing deposits with banks, which are primarily cash at the
Federal Reserve Bank, decreased $300.5 million and the rates increased 48 basis points due to the Federal Funds
rate increases since December of 2016. The decline of Federal Reserve Bank balances was utilized to deploy the
excess cash into higher yielding and diversified investment securities as well as the aforementioned runoff of higher
cost deposits.
Interest expense decreased $9.3 million, or 20.0 percent, in 2017 compared to 2016. The decrease was primarily due
to decreases in average interest-bearing deposits of $495.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared
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to the same period in 2016 primarily a result of the aforementioned intentional runoff of higher cost certificates of
deposits. The cost of interest-bearing deposits decreased 10 basis points in 2017 compared to 2016.
The following table sets forth for the periods presented a summary of the changes in interest earned and interest paid
resulting from changes in volume and changes in rates:
2017 Compared to 2016
(Dollars in Thousands)
ASSETS
Interest-Bearing Deposits with Banks
Tax-Free Investment Securities
Taxable Investment Securities
Tax-Free Loans
Taxable Loans, net of Unearned
Income
Total Interest-Earning Assets
LIABILITIES
Deposits
Interest-Bearing Demand
Money Market
Savings
Certificates of Deposit
Total Interest-Bearing Deposits
Total Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Net Interest Income

Increase/
(Decrease)
$

$

$

830
(119)
(6,436)
1,737
721
(3,267)

100
(861)
(49)
(8,461)
$ (9,271)
$ (9,271)
$
6,004

$

$

2016 Compared to 2015
Increase/
(Decrease)

Rate

Volume

2,314
(319)
(2,686)
(778)

$(1,484)
200
(3,750)
2,515

1,550
81

(829)
$(3,348)

$

$

$

$

97
(273)
(134)
(1,926)
$ (2,236)
$ (2,236)

29

3
(588)
85
(6,535)
$(7,035)
$(7,035)

$

2,756
(332)
(10,504)
943
2,396
(4,741)

360
(498)
(3,043)
1,766
$ (1,415)
$ (1,415)
$ (3,326)

Rate
$

Volume

1,951
98
266
(793)

805
(430)
(10,770)
1,736

(7,789)
$ (6,267)

10,185
$ 1,526

$

$

346
(459)
(2,804)
2,244
$ (673)
$ (673)

$

14
(39)
(239)
(478)
$ (742)
$ (742)
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Provision for Loan Losses
The following table summarizes the activity in the ALL for the periods presented:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Balance Beginning of Year
Provision for Loan Losses
Charge-offs:
Real Estate Loans
Consumer Loans
Commercial Loans
Total Charge-offs
Recoveries:
Real Estate Loans
Consumer Loans
Commercial Loans
Total Recoveries
Total Net Charge-Offs
Balance End of Year

$

$

2017
34,500
43,197

$

2016
26,990
17,717

$

2015
24,142
3,300

$

2014
21,392
3,000

$

2013
19,371
2,700

42,813
465
31
43,309

9,687
510
257
10,454

310
177
20
507

89
166
82
337

733
149
11
893

720
210
930
42,379
35,318

131
110
6
247
10,207
34,500

55
55
452
26,990

36
51
87
250
24,142

104
110
214
679
21,392

$

$

$

$

Net charge-offs to average loans

1.56%

0.38%

0.02%

0.01%

0.04%

Allowance for Loan Losses to Year-end loans

1.32%

1.26%

1.03%

1.04%

1.06%

The provision for loan losses is the amount to be added to the allowance for loan losses, or (“ALL”), after
considering loan charge-offs and recoveries, to bring the ALL to a level determined to be appropriate in
management's judgment to absorb probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio.
The provision for loan losses increased $25.5 million to $43.2 million in 2017 compared to $17.7 million in 2016.
The increase in provision expense in 2017 as compared to 2016 is attributable to significant impairment in several
large commercial real estate loan relationships. This resulted in significant charge-offs as we aggressively worked
toward resolution of these legacy credits. The increase in provision expense for 2017 as compared to 2016 is
directly attributable to the impairment of these commercial real estate credit relationships.
Net charge-offs increased $32.2 million to $42.4 million in 2017 compared to $10.2 million for 2016. Annualized
net loan charge-offs to average loans were 1.56% and 0.38% in 2017 and 2016, respectively. Specific reserves were
$32 thousand at December 31, 2017. The Bank had $0.2 million of specific reserves at December 31, 2016.
Nonperforming loans decreased at December 31, 2017 by $26.6 million, to $92.9 as compared to $119.5 million at
December 31 2016. The allowance for loan losses was 38.0% of nonperforming loans as of December 31, 2017 as
compared to 28.9% of nonperforming loans as of December 31, 2016. Management is aggressively taking steps to
address problem loan relationships.
The ALL at December 31, 2017 was $35.3 million compared to $34.5 million at December 31, 2016. The ALL as a
percent of total portfolio loans was 1.32% at December 31, 2017 and 1.26% at December 31, 2016.
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Noninterest Income
Years Ended December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands)
Gains on Sales of Securities, net
Service charges, Commissions and Fees
Debit Card Interchange Fees
Insurance Fees
Other Real Estate Owned Income
Other
Total Noninterest Income

2017
$

$

2016

1,186
2,974
4,854
1,847
448
1,518
12,827

$

3,139
4,718
1,878
1,261
1,498
12,494

$

%
Change

$ Change
$

$

1,186
(165)
136
(31)
(813)
20
333

NM
(5.3)%
2.9%
(1.7)%
(64.5)%
1.3%
2.7%

NM - percentage not meaningful

Noninterest income decreased $0.9 million, or 6.8%, to $11.6 million, excluding net securities gains, in 2017 as
compared to $12.5 million in 2016. The decline in noninterest income is primarily attributable to lower income from
other real estate owned due to the disposition of several properties during the period. Debit card income, a key
component of the Bank’s noninterest income, improved to $4.9 million in 2017 as compared to $4.7 million in 2016.
Net securities gains of $1.2 million were realized during 2017 to take advantage of market opportunities and reduce
the credit risk of the securities portfolio.
Noninterest Expense
Years Ended December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands)

2017

Salaries and Employee
Benefits
Occupancy Expense, net
FDIC Insurance Expense
Other Taxes
Telephone Expense
Professional and Legal Fees
Data Processing License Fee
Losses on Sales and Write-downs of Other Real Estate Owned, net
Losses on Sales and Write-downs of Fixed Assets
Debit Card Expense
Historic Tax Credit Write-down
Other Real Estate Owned Expense
Other
Total Noninterest Expense

2016

$ Change

%
Change

$

42,711
9,738
3,890
1,907
1,699
6,852
5,604
4,614
5,583
2,436
3,259
791
5,236

$

37,527
8,513
4,914
1,760
1,615
1,109
3,456
10,746
44
2,735
1,446
4,328

$

5,184
1,225
(1,024)
147
84
5,743
2,148
(6,132)
5,539
(299)
3,259
(655)
908

13.8%
14.4%
(20.8)%
8.4%
5.2%
517.9%
62.2%
(57.1)%
NM
(10.9)%
NM
(45.3)%
21.0%

$

94,320

$

78,193

$

16,127

20.6%

NM - percentage not meaningful

Total noninterest expense increased $16.1 million, or 20.6%, in 2017 to $94.3 million as compared to $78.2 million
in 2016. Several nonrecurring items primarily contributed to this increase including $5.3 million of write-downs on
retail branch offices marketed for sale, $3.3 million of historic tax credit investment write-downs, $4.9 million for
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regulatory and compliance reviews, $0.7 million for other write-downs and $0.1 million for the establishment of a
reserve for unfunded loan commitments. Also contributing to the increase was an increase in salaries and employee
benefits of $5.2 million, $5.7 million increase in legal and professional consulting fees and $2.1 million of licensing
fees for data processing that were fully amortized during 2017. These increases were expected and planned as
investments are made in the appropriate infrastructure to support the Bank in the future. Offsetting these increases
were decreases of $6.8 million, which were comprised of decreases in losses on sales and write-downs of other real
estate owned and expenses due to the aforementioned disposition of several properties during the period and higher
losses on sales in 2016. FDIC insurance expense decreased $1.0 million attributable to lower FDIC assessment rates
and a decrease in the assessment base.
Provision for Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes was a tax benefit of $17.5 million for 2017 as a result of a pretax loss of $18.2
million as compared to a tax provision of $1.6 million in 2016 and pretax income of $17.6 million. 2017 was
negatively impacted by a charge of $2.8 million from the write-down of the Bank’s deferred tax assets resulting
from the recent tax reform legislation.
The effective tax rate was negative 96% for the tax benefit in 2017 and 9% for the tax expense in 2016. The Bank
ordinarily generates an annual effective tax rate that is less than the applicable federal statutory rate for a fiscal year
(which was 35% for 2017, 2016 and 2015) due to benefits resulting from tax-exempt interest and tax benefits
associated with tax credits, which are relatively consistent regardless of the level of pretax income.
The consistent level of tax benefits that reduce the Bank’s tax rate below the applicable statutory rate, coupled with
the pretax losses during 2017, produced a negative annual effective tax rate for 2017.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
Net income for 2016 equaled $16.0 million or $0.61 per share compared to net income for 2015 of $39.2 million or
$1.49 per share.
The decrease in net income from 2016 to 2015 was primarily attributed to increased loan loss provision and writedowns of OREO. The provision for loan losses increased from $3.3 million as of December 31, 2015 to $17.7
million as of December 31, 2016 primarily to charge-offs on impaired loans. Write-downs on other real estate
increased from $13 thousand in 2015 to $8.4 million in 2016 due to declines in market values.
Net interest income was $101.0 million for 2016 as compared to $104.6 million in 2015.
Net interest income decreased $3.5 million, or 3.4%. Interest and fees on loans increased $3.0 million. Taxable
interest and fee income on loans increased $2.4 million, or 2.3%, and non-taxable income increased $0.6 million, or
6.7%. Interest income on all categories of securities decreased $10.7 million, or 28.9%, compared to 2015.
As a result, our total interest income for 2016 decreased $5.0 million compared to the prior year. All deposits come
from the Bank’s customer base and are considered core deposits. Our total interest expense for 2016 decreased $1.4
million when compared with the prior year. Net interest income decreased $3.5 million.
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In the view of management, the allowance for loan losses is adequate to meet the loss contingency based on
experience factors and a review of the loan portfolio. Based on management’s analysis of the loan portfolio,
including nonaccrual and impaired loans, the provision for loan losses for Carter Bank & Trust for 2016 and 2015
equaled $17.7 million and $3.3 million, respectively.
Noninterest income equaled $12.5 million for 2016 and $14.7 million in 2015. The principal component of noninterest income is service charges, commissions and fees, which equaled $5.0 million for 2016 and $4.7 million for
2015. The largest increase was in debit card income, increasing $0.3 million compared to the prior year.
Noninterest expense equaled $78.2 million for 2016 and $66.6 million for 2015. Salaries and employee benefits,
which is the largest of these expenses, equaled $37.5 million for 2016 and $36.4 million for 2015.
Income taxes on 2016 earnings amounted to $1.6 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 9.33%, compared to
20.73% in 2015. The major difference between the statutory rate and the effective rate results from income that is
not taxable for federal income tax purposes. The primary non-taxable income is that of municipal securities and
loans.
Financial Condition
December 31, 2017
Total assets as of December 31, 2017 declined to $4.1 billion, or 8.7%, from $4.5 billion as of December 31, 2016.
Total loans were essentially flat at $2.7 billion as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 due to the reduction of several
large legacy credit relationships which offset loan growth in other areas of the loan portfolio.
Federal Reserve Bank excess reserves declined $455.2 million from December 31, 2016. This excess cash primarily
funded the planned decrease in high cost deposits during the past twelve months and was deployed into higher
yielding and diversified investment securities and loans.
The securities portfolio increased by $67.5 million to $947.2 million as of December 31, 2017 as compared to
December 31, 2016. Purchases and reinvestment of security maturities have been made in to higher yielding and
diversified investment securities and currently comprise 23.0% of total assets.
Total deposits as of December 31, 2017 were $3.7 billion as compared to $4.1 billion as of December 31, 2016, a
decline of $394.2 million, or 9.7%. Time deposits represented the largest segment of decline in deposits with a
$328.0 million decline year-over-year. This reduction is strategically aligned with the Bank’s plan to improve the
net interest margin. Noninterest bearing deposits declined slightly by $4.7 million, or 0.9%, to $530.2 million as of
December 31, 2017 as compared to $534.9 million as of December 31, 2016. Noninterest bearing deposits
comprised 14.4% and 13.2% of total deposits at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.
The allowance for loan losses was 1.32% of total loans as of December 31, 2017 as compared to 1.26% as of
December 31, 2016. The allowance for loan losses was 38.0% of nonperforming loans as of December 31, 2017 as
compared to 28.9% of nonperforming loans as of December 31, 2016. In the view of management, the allowance
for loan losses is adequate to meet the loss contingency based on experience factors and a review of the loan
portfolio.
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The Bank remains well capitalized. The Bank’s Tier 1 Capital ratio increased to 12.93% as of December 31, 2017 as
compared to 12.22% as of December 31, 2016. The Bank’s leverage ratio was 9.33% at December 31, 2017 as
compared to 8.10% in December 31, 2016. The Bank’s Total Risk-Based Capital ratio was 14.15% at December 31,
2017 as compared to 13.35% at December 31, 2016.
Securities Activity
The balances and average rates of our securities portfolio are presented below as of December 31:
Available-for-Sale Securities
2017

(Dollars in Thousands)
U.S. Government Agency Securities
Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Asset Backed Securities
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Small Business Administration
States and Political Subdivisions
Corporate Notes
Total Securities Available-for-Sale

WeightedAverage
Yield

Balance
$

$

298,665
60,380
24,908
16,867
61,594
68,260
306,963
109,564
947,201

1.42%
1.98%
2.58%
2.28%
2.45%
2.73%
4.42%
1.75%
2.66%

Held-to-Maturity Securities
2016

(Dollars in Thousands)
U.S. Agency Securities
Mortgage-Backed Securities
States and Political Subdivisions
Corporate Notes
Total Securities Held-to-Maturity

Balance
$

$

2015

WeightedAverage
Yield

302,891
228
299,935
276,640
879,694

1.42%
2.77%
3.47%
2.44%
2.44%

Balance
$

681,125
288
331,765
408,923
$ 1,422,101

WeightedAverage
Yield
1.51%
3.49%
2.48%
2.80%
2.35%

The Bank invests in various securities in order to maintain a source of liquidity, to satisfy various pledging
requirements, to increase net interest income and as a tool of the ALCO to reposition the balance sheet for interest
rate risk purposes. Securities are subject to market risks that could negatively affect the level of liquidity available to
us. Security purchases are subject to our investment policy approved annually by our Board of Directors and
administered through ALCO and our treasury function.
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The securities portfolio increased by $67.5 million at December 31, 2017 as compared to December 31, 2016. The
increase was primarily due to the purchases of investments and reinvestment of security maturities that have been
made in to higher yielding and diversified investment securities.
On July 26, 2017, the Bank reclassified its entire held-to-maturity portfolio to the available-for-sale portfolio. At the
time of reclassification, the investments had an amortized cost of $863.8 million. At December 31, 2017, total gross
unrealized gains in the available-for-sale portfolio were $4.5 million offset by $7.3 million of gross unrealized
losses.
Management evaluates the securities portfolio for other than temporary impairment, or OTTI, on a quarterly basis.
During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 the Bank did not record any OTTI. The performance of the
debt and equity securities markets could generate impairments in future periods requiring realized losses to be
reported.
The following table sets forth the maturities of securities at December 31, 2017 and the weighted average yields of
such securities. Taxable-equivalent adjustments (using a 35 percent federal income tax rate) for 2017 have been
made in calculating yields on obligations of state and political subdivisions.
Available-for-Sale Securities

Within One Year
Amount
Yield

(Dollars in Thousands)
U.S. Government Agency Securities
Residential Mortgage-Backed
Securities
Commercial Mortgage-Backed
Securities
Asset Backed Securities
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Small Business Administration
States and Political Subdivisions
Corporate Notes
Total
Weighted Average Yield

$

Maturing
After One But
After Five But
Within
Within
Five Years
Ten Years
Amount
Yield
Amount
Yield

After Ten Years
Amount
Yield

27,821

1.24%

$ 270,844

1.44%

-

-

-

-

-

-

155

3.29%

9,367

2.67%

50,858

1.85%

41,646
104,564
$ 174,031

2.94%
1.53%

2,079
99,800
$ 372,878

2.62%
3.64%
-

22,965
2,097
51,599
5,000
$ 91,028

2.61%
2.73%
6.24%
6.25%

1,943
16,867
61,594
64,083
113,919
$ 309,264

2.27%
2.28%
2.45%
2.73%
4.82%
-

1.82%

2.03%

4.85%

Weighted -average yields are calculated on a taxable-equivalent basis using the federal statutory tax rate of 35 percent.
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Loan Composition
The following table summarizes our loan portfolio as of December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Commercial
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial
Commercial Construction
Total Commercial Loans
Consumer
Residential Mortgages
Other Consumer
Consumer Construction
Total Consumer Loans
Total Portfolio Loans, Net of Unearned Income
Loans Held for Sale
Total Loans, Net of Unearned Income

2017

2016

December 31,
2015

2014

2013

$ 1,536,957
803,833
118,786
2,459,576

$ 1,527,552
835,131
199,551
2,562,234

$ 1,363,648
851,083
248,021
2,462,752

$ 1,171,522
579,939
350,638
2,102,099

$ 1,109,385
522,548
191,921
1,823,854

136,895
79,980
7,994
224,869
2,684,445
517
$ 2,684,962

138,657
20,724
10,168
169,549
2,731,783
$ 2,731,783

145,331
22,810
7,959
176,100
2,638,852
$ 2,638,852

155,294
57,743
5,485
218,522
2,320,621
$ 2,320,621

160,384
27,789
2,639
190,812
2,014,666
$ 2,014,666

Our loan portfolio represents our most significant source of interest income. The risk that borrowers will be unable
to pay such obligations is inherent in the loan portfolio. Other conditions such as downturns in the borrower's
industry or the overall economic climate can significantly impact the borrower’s ability to pay.
Total loans were essentially flat at $2.7 billion as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 due to the
reduction of several large legacy commercial credit relationships. Commercial loans decreased $102.7 million, or
4.0%. Consumer loans increased $55.3 million, or 32.6%. The increase is a result of a consumer loan purchase
program that was implemented during the third quarter of 2017 to diversify the loan portfolio. Loans held-for-sale
were $0.5 million of purchased mortgage loans from another financial institution with fully executed contracts with
an investor. The loans are held until funded by the investor, typically a two-week period.
The following tables present the maturity schedule of selected loan types at December 31, 2017:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Fixed interest rates
Variable interest rates
Total Construction Loans

(Dollars in Thousands)
Fixed interest rates
Variable interest rates
Total Commercial, Industrial & Agricultural

Within
One Year
$ 49,065
$

49,065

Within
One Year
$ 52,104
$ 52,104
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Maturity
After One
But Within
Five Years
$ 61,968
2,125
$

64,093

Maturity
After One
But Within
Five Years
$ 5,648
4,678
$ 10,326

After
Five Years
$ 5,367
8,255
$

Total
$ 116,400
10,380

13,622

$ 126,780

After
Five Years
$ 21,196
249,638
$ 270,834

Total
$ 78,948
254,316
$ 333,264
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Credit Quality
On a monthly basis, a special asset meeting is held to monitor all special mention and substandard loans greater than
$1.0 million. These loans typically represent the highest risk of loss to us. Action plans are established and these
loans are monitored through regular contact with the borrower, review of current financial information and other
documentation, review of all loan or potential loan restructures or modifications and the regular re-evaluation of
assets held as collateral.
Additional credit risk management practices include periodic review and update of our lending policies and
procedures to support sound underwriting practices and portfolio management through portfolio stress testing. Our
loan review process serves to independently monitor credit quality and assess the effectiveness of credit risk
management practices to provide oversight of all corporate lending activities. The loan review function has the
primary responsibility for assessing commercial credit administration and credit decision functions of consumer and
mortgage underwriting, as well as providing input to the loan risk rating process.
Our policy is to place loans in all categories in nonaccrual status when collection of interest or principal is doubtful,
or generally when interest or principal payments are 90 days or more past due based on contractual terms.
Nonperforming assets consist of nonaccrual loans, nonaccrual TDRs and OREO. The following table summarizes
nonperforming assets for the dates presented:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Nonperforming Loans
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total Nonperforming Loans
Nonperforming Troubled Debt Restructurings
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total Nonperforming Troubled Debt Restructurings
Total Nonperforming Loans
Other Real Estate Owned
Total Nonperforming Assets

December 31,
2015
2014
$
92,944 $
7,651
40
164
40
92,984
7,855

2017
$
51,047
47
51,094

2016
$
96,143
1
1
96,145

41,804
41,804
92,898
39,793
132,691

23,319
23,319
119,464
23,558
$ 143,022

7,920
7,920
100,904
43,422
$ 144,326

Nonperforming Loans as a percent of Total Loans

3.46%

4.37%

3.82%

1.07%

.76%

Nonperforming Assets as a percent of Total Loans plus
OREO

4.87%

5.19%

5.38%

2.91%

2.93%

$

$

17,041
17,041
24,896
43,829
68,725

2013
$
321
58
90
469

$

Nonperforming assets, or NPAs, decreased $10.3 million to $132.7 million at December 31, 2017 compared to
$143.0 million at December 31, 2016. The decrease was due to a $26.5 million decline in nonperforming loans and a
$16.2 million increase in Other Real Estate (OREO) primarily due to $13.7 million for 38 retail branch offices that
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were marketed for sale in the fourth quarter of 2017. The decline in nonperforming loans was due primarily to
charge-offs of approximately $42.2 million related to six legacy relationships during 2017.
The following table summarizes past due loans for the dates presented:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Loans 90 Days or More Past Due and Still Accruing
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total Loans 90 Days or More Past Due

Loans 30 to 89 day Past Dues:
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total Loans

2017
$
493
59
4
$
556

2016
$
592
26
$
618

2017
$ 5,443
392
161
$ 5,996

2016
$ 9,158
197
23
$ 9,378

December 31,
2015
2014
$
418 $
1,270
5
55
15
$
423 $
1,340
December 31,
2015
$ 43,062
329
75
$ 43,466

2014
5,109
239
94
$ 5,442
$

2013
6,072
$
6,072

$

2013
3,401
347
118
$ 3,866
$

Loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing decreased $62 thousand to $556 thousand at December 31, 2017
compared to $618 thousand at December 31, 2016. Loans past due 30 to 89 days or more and still accruing
decreased $3.4 million to $6.0 million at December 31, 2017 compared to $9.4 million at December 31, 2016. The
decrease was primarily due to one loan in the amount of $6.9 million that was past due 30 – 89 days at year end
2016 and was subsequently brought current during the first quarter of 2017.
Closed-end installment loans, amortizing loans secured by real estate and any other loans with payments scheduled
monthly are reported past due when the borrower is in arrears two or more monthly payments. Other multi-payment
obligations with payments scheduled other than monthly are reported past due when one scheduled payment is due
and unpaid for 30 days or more. We monitor delinquency on a monthly basis, including early stage delinquencies of
30 to 89 days past due for early identification of potential problem loans.
TDRs are loans that we, for economic or legal reasons related to a borrower’s financial difficulties, grant a
concession to the borrower that we would not otherwise grant. The Bank strives to identify borrowers in financial
difficulty early and work with them to modify the terms before their loan reaches nonaccrual status. These modified
terms generally include extension of maturity dates at a stated interest rate lower than the current market rate for a
new loan with similar characteristics, reductions in contractual interest rates or principal deferment. While unusual,
there may be instances of principal forgiveness. These modifications are generally for longer term periods that
would not be considered insignificant.
An accruing loan that is modified into a TDR can remain in accrual status if, based on a current credit analysis,
collection of principal and interest in accordance with the modified terms is reasonably assured, and the borrower
has demonstrated sustained historical performance for a reasonable period before the modification. All TDRs are
considered to be impaired loans and will be reported as impaired loans for their remaining lives, unless the
restructuring agreement specifies an interest rate equal to or greater than the rate that would be accepted at the time
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of the restructuring for a new loan with comparable risk and we fully expect that the remaining principal and interest
will be collected according to the restructured agreement. For all TDRs, regardless of size, as well as all other
impaired loans, the Bank conducts further analysis to determine the probable loss and assign a specific reserve to the
loan if deemed appropriate. Further, all impaired loans are reported as nonaccrual loans unless the loan is a TDR
that has met the requirements noted above to be returned to accruing status. TDRs can be returned to accruing status
if the ultimate collectability of all contractual amounts due, according to the restructured agreement, is not in doubt
and there is a period of a minimum of six months of satisfactory payment performance by the borrower either
immediately before or after the restructuring.
As an example, consider a substandard commercial construction loan that is currently 90 days past due where the
loan is restructured to extend the maturity date for a period longer than would be considered an insignificant period
of time. The post-modification interest rate given to the borrower is considered to be lower than the current market
rate for new debt with similar risk and all other terms remain the same according to the original loan agreement.
This loan will be considered a TDR as the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and a concession has been
granted due to the long extension, resulting in payment delay as well as the rate being lower than current market rate
for new debt with similar risk. The loan will be reported as a nonaccrual TDR and an impaired loan. In addition, the
loan could be charged down to the fair value of the collateral if a confirmed loss exists. If the loan subsequently
performs, by means of making on-time principal and interest payments according to the newly restructured terms for
a period of six months, and it is expected that all remaining principal and interest will be collected according to the
terms of the restructured agreement, the loan will be returned to accrual status and reported as an accruing TDR. The
loan will remain an impaired loan for the remaining life of the loan because the interest rate was not adjusted to be
equal to or greater than the rate that would be accepted at the time of the restructuring for a new loan with
comparable risk.
The following table summarizes the restructured loans as of the dates presented:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total TDRs

Performing
TDRs
$ 121,465
133,182
$ 254,647

December 31, 2017
Nonperforming
TDRs
$
41,804
$

Total
TDRs
$ 163,269
133,182

41,804

$ 296,451

Performing
TDRs
$ 67,464
$

67,464

December 31, 2016
Nonperforming
TDRs
$
23,319
$

23,319

Total
TDRs
$90,783
$90,783

TDRs increased $205.7 million to $296.5 million at December 31, 2017 compared to 90.8 million at December 31,
2016. The increase is primarily due to new TDRs totaling $240.4 million, which were offset by principal reductions,
charge-offs and migration to other real estate. Total TDRs of $41.8 million at December 31, 2017 were on
nonaccrual. At December 31 2017, there were minimal commitments to lend additional funds on one loan
relationship identified as a TDR.
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The following tables represent credit exposures by internally assigned grades as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017
Pass
Special Mention

Consumers &
Other Loans

Real Estate
$ 1,299,705

$

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

Commercial
& Industrial

73,921

$

24,180

$

Total

470,569

$ 1,868,375

29,989

6,000

61,019

-

97,008

470,938

59

248,065

-

719,062

Doubtful

-

-

-

-

-

Loss
Total Portfolio Loans, net of
Unearned Income

-

-

-

-

-

$ 1, 800,632

$

79,980

$

333,264

$

470,569

$ 2,684,445

Performing Loans

$ 1,707,736

$

79,978

$

333,264

$

470,569

$ 2,591,547

-

92,898

470,569

$ 2,684,445

Substandard

Non-Accrual Loans
Total Loans, net of Unearned
Income

92,896
$ 1,800,632

2
$

79,980

$

333,264

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016
Pass
Special Mention

Consumers &
Other Loans

Real Estate
$ 1,157,236

$

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

Commercial
& Industrial

20,657

$

$

366,051

$

Total

462,356

$ 2,006,300

68,254

54

6,583

-

74,891

650,438

13

141

-

650,592

Doubtful

-

-

-

-

-

Loss
Total Loans, net of Unearned
Income

-

-

-

-

-

$ 1,875,928

$

20,724

$

372,775

$

462,356

$ 2,731,783

Performing Loans

$ 1,756,466

$

20,723

$

372,774

$

462,356

$ 2,612,319

-

119,464

462,356

$ 2,731,783

Substandard

Non-Accrual Loans
Total Loans, net of Unearned
Income

119,462
$ 1,875,928

1
$

20,724

1
$

372,775

$

Special mention, substandard and doubtful loans at December 31, 2017 increased by $90.6 million to $816.1
million compared to $725.5 million at December 31, 2016, with an increase of $22.1 million in special mention and
an increase of $68.5 million in substandard.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The Bank maintains an ALL at a level determined to be adequate to absorb estimated probable credit losses inherent
within the loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date and it is presented as a reserve against loans in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Determination of an adequate ALL is inherently subjective and may be subject to significant
changes from period to period. The methodology for determining the ALL has two main components: evaluation
and impairment tests of individual loans and evaluation and impairment tests of certain groups of homogeneous
loans with similar risk characteristics.
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During the third quarter 2017, management made two changes to its methodology for calculating the allowance for
loan losses. The first change involved the methodology for calculating average historic loan loss rates. The previous
methodology of applying front weighted averages to the twelve quarter trailing average historical loss rate
calculation has been revised to utilize a simple average of the twelve quarter trailing average historical loss rate
calculation. The Bank believes the simple average properly reflects the historical losses currently in the portfolio
based on loan portfolio composition and loss history. In the second change, the Bank implemented an industry
recognized automated platform to be utilized in calculating the allowance for loan losses. The new platform
calculates historical loan loss rates by utilizing trailing period end quarterly total loan pool balances. The Bank’s
previous model for calculating historical loan loss rates utilized the most recent period end quarterly loan pool
balances for loans collectively evaluated for impairment only. The Bank has determined that the method for
calculating the historical loss percentage under the new platform properly reflects the historic loss percentage in the
portfolio at the time the losses were incurred. The impact related to these changes was a decrease in the provision for
loan losses of $9.4 million.
Our charge-off policy for commercial loans requires that loans and other obligations that are not collectible be
promptly charged-off when the loss becomes probable, regardless of the delinquency status of the loan. The Bank
may elect to recognize a partial charge-off when management has determined that the value of collateral is less than
the remaining investment in the loan. A loan or obligation does not need to be charged-off, regardless of
delinquency status, if (i) management has determined there exists sufficient collateral to protect the remaining loan
balance and (ii) there exists a strategy to liquidate the collateral. Management may also consider a number of other
factors to determine when a charge-off is appropriate. These factors may include, but are not limited to:
• The status of a bankruptcy proceeding
• The value of collateral and probability of successful liquidation; and/or
• The status of adverse proceedings or litigation that may result in collection
Consumer unsecured loans and secured loans are evaluated for charge-off after the loan becomes 90 days past due.
Unsecured loans are fully charged-off and secured loans are charged-off to the estimated fair value of the collateral
less the cost to sell.
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The following summarizes our allowance for loan loss experience at December 31 for each of the years presented
below:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Balance Beginning of Year
Provision for Loan Losses
Charge-offs:
Real Estate Loans
Consumer Loans
Commercial Loans
Total Charge-offs
Recoveries:
Real Estate Loans
Consumer Loans
Commercial Loans
Total Recoveries
Total Net Charge-offs
Balance End of Year

$

$

2017
34,500
43,197

2016
$ 26,990
17,717

2015
$ 24,142
3,300

2014
$ 21,392
3,000

2013
$ 19,371
2,700

42,813
465
31
43,309

9,687
510
257
10,454

310
177
20
507

89
166
82
337

733
149
11
893

720
210
930
42,379
35,318

131
110
6
247
10,207
34,500

55
55
452
26,990

36
51
87
250
24,142

104
110
214
679
21,392

$

$

$

$

Net Charge-offs to Average Loans

1.56%

0.38%

0.02%

0.01%

0.04%

Allowance for Loan Losses to Year-end Loans

1.32%

1.26%

1.03%

1.04%

1.06%

Net charge-offs were $42.4 million in 2017 as compared to $10.2 million in 2016. During 2017, we have dealt with
significant impairment in several large commercial real estate loan relationships. This resulted in significant chargeoffs as we aggressively worked toward resolution of these legacy credits.
An inherent risk to the loan portfolio as a whole is the condition of the economy in our markets. In addition, each
loan segment carries with it risks specific to the segment. The Bank develops and documents a systematic ALL
methodology based on the following portfolio segments: 1. Commercial Real Estate (“CRE”), 2. Commercial &
Industrial (“C&I”), 3. Consumer 4. Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions. The following is a discussion of
the key risks by portfolio segment that management assesses in preparing the ALL.
CRE loans are secured by commercial purpose real estate, including both owner occupied properties and investment
properties, for various purposes such as hotels, strip malls and apartments. Operations of the individual projects as
well as global cash flows of the debtors are the primary sources of repayment for these loans. The condition of the
local economy is an important indicator of risk, but there are also more specific risks depending on the collateral
type as well as the business.
C&I loans are made to operating companies or manufacturers for the purpose of production, operating capacity,
accounts receivable, inventory or equipment financing. Cash flow from the operations of the borrower is the primary
source of repayment for these loans. The condition of the local economy is an important indicator of risk, but there
are also more specific risks depending on the industry of the borrower. Collateral for these types of loans often do
not have sufficient value in a distressed or liquidation scenario to satisfy the outstanding debt.
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Consumer loans are made to individuals and may be secured by assets other than 1-4 family residences, as well as
unsecured loans. This segment includes auto loans and unsecured loans and lines. The primary source of repayment
for these loans is the income and assets of the borrower. The condition of the local economy, in particular the
unemployment rate, is an important indicator of risk for this segment. The value of the collateral, if there is any, is
less likely to be a source of repayment due to less certain collateral values.
Obligations of States and Political Subdivision loans are made to local and state municipalities for various purposes
including refinancing existing obligations, infrastructure up-fit and expansion, or to purchase new equipment. This
segment of loans may be secured by general obligations from the municipal authority or revenues generated by
infrastructure and equipment financed by the Bank. The primary repayment source for these loans include the tax
basis of the municipality, specific revenue streams related to the infrastructure financed, and other business
operations of the municipal authority. The health and stability of state and local economies directly impacts each
municipality’s tax basis and are important indicators of risk for this segment. The ability of each municipality to
increase taxes and fees to offset debt service requirements give this type of loan a very low risk profile in the
continuum of the Bank’s loan portfolio.
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The following is the ALL balance by segment as of December 31 for the years presented below:

2017

(Dollars in Thousands)
Real Estate
Consumer & Other Loans
Commercial & Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Sub.
Balance End of Year

Amount
$ 33,367
288
1,203
460
$ 35,318

2016
% of
Loans
in each
Category
to Total
Loans
67%
3%
12%
18%
100%

Amount
$ 32,476
82
1,480
462
$ 34,500

2015
% of
Loans
in each
Category
to Total
Loans
69%
1%
13%
17%
100%

Amount
$ 16,584
6,098
4,308
$ 26,990

2014
% of
Loans
in each
Category
to Total
Loans
67%
1%
17%
15%
100%

Amount
$ 15,244
5,230
3,668
$ 24,142

% of
Loans
in each
Category
to Total
Loans
73%
2%
11%
14%
100%

2013

Amount
$ 13,797
4,412
3,183
$ 21,392

% of
Loans
in each
Category
to Total
Loans
73%
1%
13%
13%
100%

Significant to our ALL is a higher concentration of commercial loans. The ability of borrowers to repay commercial loans is dependent upon the success of their
business and general economic conditions. Due to the greater potential for loss within our commercial portfolio, we monitor the commercial loan portfolio through
an internal risk rating system. Loan risk ratings are assigned based upon the creditworthiness of the borrower and are reviewed on an ongoing basis according to our
internal policies. Loans rated special mention or substandard have potential or well-defined weaknesses not generally found in high quality, performing loans, and
require attention from management to limit loss.
The following table summarizes the ALL balance as of December 31 for the years presented below:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Collectively Evaluated for Impairment
Individually Evaluated for Impairment
Total Allowance for Loan Losses

2017
$ 35,286
32
$ 35,318

2016
$
$

34,256
244
34,500

2015
$
26,440
550
$ 26,990

2014
$
24,142
$
24,142

2013
$
21,392
$
21,392

The ALL was $35.3 million, or 1.32% of total portfolio loans at December 31, 2017 compared to $34.5 million, or 1.26% of total portfolio loans at December 31,
2016.
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The increase in the ALL of $0.8 million was primarily due to a $1.0 million increase for loans collectively evaluated
for impairment, offset by a $0.2 million decrease in the specific reserve for impaired loans in the reserve at
December 31, 2017 compared to December 31, 2016. Also, impacting the ALL were the aforementioned changes to
the allowance for loans losses methodology. Please reference Note 5-Allowance for Loan Losses for additional
information. The $1.0 million increase since December 31, 2016 in the reserve for collectively evaluated loans is
related to an increase in recent historical loan losses offset by reduced qualitative factors as a result of management
enhancing internal policies and procedures, loan review systems, overall strengthening of business and economic
conditions in regions and industries where the loan portfolio has exposure, and other external factors including
recent tax reform at year end 2017.
Deposits
The following tables present the composition of deposits at December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Noninterest-Bearing Demand
Interest-Bearing Demand
Money Market
Savings
Certificates of Deposits
Total

(Dollars in Thousands)
Noninterest-Bearing Demand
Interest-Bearing Transaction Demand
Money Market
Savings
Certificates of Deposit
Total Interest-Bearing Deposits
Total Deposits

2017
$ 530,242
260,979
102,686
721,459
2,054,249

2016
$ 534,923
259,942
182,579
704,147
2,382,248

$ Change
$ (4,681)
1,037
(79,893)
17,312
(327,999)

$3,669,615

$4,063,839

$(394,224)

For the Year Ended December 31,
Average Balance
Average Cost Rate
2017
2016
2015
2017
2016
2015
$ 550,496 $ 534,170 $ 494,348
-

-

243,815
141,438
727,182
2,199,263
3,311,698

243,355
219,775
710,493
2,633,535
3,807,158

240,348
223,838
736,900
2,667,173
3,868,259

0.65%
0.56%
0.49%
1.42%
1.12%

0.61%
0.75%
0.51%
1.50%
1.22%

0.47%
0.96%
0.90%
1.42%
1.24%

$3,862,194

$4,341,328

$4,362,607

1.12%

1.22%

1.24%

Deposits are our primary source of funds. The Bank believes that our deposit base is stable and that the Bank has the
ability to attract new deposits. Total deposits at December 31, 2017 decreased $394.2 million, or 9.7%, from
December 31, 2016. Time deposits represented the largest segment of decline in deposits with a $328.0 million
decline year-over-year. This reduction is strategically aligned with the Bank’s plan to improve the net interest
margin. Noninterest bearing deposits decreased slightly by $4.7 million, or 0.9%, to $530.2 million as of December
31, 2017 as compared to $534.9 million as of December 31, 2016. Noninterest bearing deposits comprised 14.4%
and 13.2% of total deposits at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the maturities of our certificates of deposits:
(Dollars in Thousands)
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

$

Total

$

2017
893,403
281,322
494,340
233,054
150,419
1,711
2,054,249

Maturities of CDs of $250,000 or more outstanding at December 31, 2017 are summarized as follows:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Three Months or Less
Over Three Months Through Twelve Months
Over Twelve Months Through Three Years
Over Three Years
Total

Amount
51,614
40,254
75,894
20,392
$
188,154
$

Percent
27.43%
21.39%
40.34%
10.84%
100%

Capital Resources

Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1 Ratio
Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio
Leverage Ratio

2017
12.93%
12.93%
14.15%
9.33%

2016
12.22%
12.22%
13.35%
8.10%

2015
11.36%
11.36%
12.03%
7.61%

2014
N/A
11.26%
12.07%
7.32%

Shareholders’ equity decreased $2.6 million, or 0.6%, to $432.1 million at December 31, 2017 compared to $434.7
million at December 31, 2016. The decrease in shareholders’ equity is primarily due to a net loss of $0.7 million in
2017. Other comprehensive loss of $2.2 million was primarily due to net unrealized gains on securities availablefor-sale driven by the increase in interest rates at the end of the year.
We continue to maintain our capital position with a leverage ratio of 9.33% as compared to the regulatory guideline
of 5.00% to be well capitalized and a risk-based Common Equity Tier 1 ratio of 12.93% compared to the regulatory
guideline of 6.50% to be well capitalized. Our risk-based Tier 1 and Total capital ratios were 12.93% and 14.15%,
respectively at December 31, 2017, which places us above the federal bank regulatory agencies’ “well capitalized”
guidelines of 8.00% and 10.00% for Tier 1 and Total capital, respectively. We believe that we have the ability to
raise additional capital, if necessary.
In July 2013 the federal banking agencies issued a final rule to implement Basel III (which were agreements reached
in July 2010 by the international oversight body of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision to require more
and higher-quality capital) and the minimum leverage and risk-based capital requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act.
The final rule established a comprehensive capital framework, and went into effect on January 1, 2015, for smaller
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banking organizations such as Carter Bank & Trust. The rule also requires a banking organization to maintain a
capital conservation buffer composed of common equity Tier 1 capital in an amount greater than 2.50 percent of
total risk-weighted assets beginning in 2019. The capital conservation buffer is scheduled to phase in over several
years, of which 2016 was the first year. The capital conservation was 25 percent in 2016 and will increase to 50
percent in 2017, 75 percent in 2018 and 100 percent in 2019 and beyond. As a result, starting in 2019, a banking
organization must maintain a common equity Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio greater than 7.00%, a Tier I risked based
capital ratio greater than 8.5%, and a Total risk based capital ratio greater than 10.5%; otherwise it will be subject to
restrictions on capital distributions and discretionary bonus payments. By 2019, when the new rule is fully phased
in, the minimum capital requirements plus the capital conservation buffer will exceed the regulatory capital ratios
required for an insured depository institution to be well-capitalized under the FDIC’s prompt correction action
framework.
Federal regulators periodically propose amendments to the regulatory capital rules and the related regulatory
framework and consider changes to the capital standards that could significantly increase the amount of capital
needed to meet applicable standards. The timing of adoption, ultimate form and effect of any such proposed
amendments cannot be predicted.
Management believes that, as of December 31, 2017, the Bank would meet all capital adequacy requirements under
the Basel III Capital Rules on a fully phased-in basis as if such requirements were in effect as of that date.
Contractual Obligations
Contractual obligations represent future cash commitments and liabilities under agreements with third parties and
exclude contingent contractual liabilities for which we cannot reasonably predict future payments. We have various
financial obligations, including contractual obligations and commitments that may require future cash payments.
The following table presents as of December 31, 2017, significant fixed and determinable contractual obligations to
third parties by payment date:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Deposits without a Stated Maturity (1)
Certificates of Deposits (1)
Operating and Capital Leases
Purchase Obligations

2018
$1,615,366
893,403
125
2,366

2019-2020
$
775,662
164
8,169

Total

$2,511,260

$783,995

Payments Due In
2021-2022 Later Years
$
- $
383,473
1,711
76
98
8,059
16,155
$391,608

$17,964

Total
$ 1,615,366
2,054,249
463
34,749
$3,704,827

(1) Excludes Interest

Operating lease obligations represent short and long-term lease arrangements as described in Note 7 Premises and
Equipment, to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Report. Purchase obligations
primarily represent obligations under agreement with a third party data processing servicer and communications
charges.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the normal course of business, we offer off-balance sheet credit arrangements to enable our customers to meet
their financing objectives. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in
excess of the amount recognized in the financial statements. Our exposure to credit loss, in the event the customer
does not satisfy the terms of the agreement, equals the contractual amount of the obligation less the value of any
collateral. We apply the same credit policies in making commitments and standby letters of credit that are used for
the underwriting of loans to customers. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, annual renewals or
other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee. Because many of the commitments are expected to
expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements.
The following table sets forth the commitments and letters of credit as of December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Commitments to Extend Credit
Standby Letters of Credit
Total

2017
$278,718
38,664

2016
$ 264,006
32,410

$317,382

$ 296,416

Estimates of the fair value of these off-balance sheet items were not made because of the short-term nature of these
arrangements and the credit standing of the counterparties.
Our allowance for unfunded commitments is determined using a methodology similar to that used to determine the
ALL. Amounts are added to the allowance for unfunded commitments through a charge to current earnings in
noninterest expense. The balance in the allowance for unfunded commitments was $0.1 million at December 31,
2017.
Liquidity
Liquidity is defined as a financial institution’s ability to meet its cash and collateral obligations at a reasonable cost.
This includes the ability to satisfy the financial needs of depositors who want to withdraw funds or of borrowers
needing to access funds to meet their credit needs. In order to manage liquidity risk our Board of Directors has
delegated authority to the ALCO for formulation, implementation and oversight of liquidity risk management for the
Bank. The ALCO’s goal is to maintain adequate levels of liquidity at a reasonable cost to meet funding needs in
both a normal operating environment and for potential liquidity stress events. The ALCO monitors and manages
liquidity through various ratios, reviewing cash flow projections, performing stress tests and by having a detailed
contingency funding plan. The ALCO policy guidelines define graduated risk tolerance levels. If our liquidity
position moves to a level that has been defined as high risk, specific actions are required, such as increased
monitoring or the development of an action plan to reduce the risk position.
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Our primary funding and liquidity source is a stable customer deposit base. We believe we have the ability to retain
existing and attract new deposits, mitigating any funding dependency on other more volatile sources. Although
deposits are the primary source of funds, the Bank has identified various other funding sources that can be used as
part of our normal funding program when either a structure or cost efficiency has been identified. Additional
funding sources accessible to the Bank include Fed Funds lines with four other financial institutions.
An important component of our ability to effectively respond to potential liquidity stress events is maintaining a
cushion of highly liquid assets. Highly liquid assets are those that can be converted to cash quickly, with little or no
loss in value, to meet financial obligations. ALCO policy guidelines define a ratio of highly liquid assets to total
assets by graduated risk tolerance levels of minimal, moderate and high. At December 31, 2017, the Bank had
$862.0 million in highly liquid assets, which consisted of $58.4 million in interest-bearing deposits with banks,
$151.7 million in Federal Reserve Bank Excess Reserves, $651.4 million in unpledged securities and $0.5 million in
loans held-for-sale. This resulted in highly liquid assets to total assets ratio of 21.0% at December 31, 2017.
Market Risk
Market risk refers to potential losses arising from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and
commodity prices. Our market risk is composed primarily of interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is comprised of
repricing risk, basis risk, yield curve risk and options risk. Repricing risk arises from differences in the cash flow or
repricing between asset and liability portfolios. Basis risk arises when asset and liability portfolios are related to
different market rate indices, which do not always change by the same amount. Yield curve risk arises when asset
and liability portfolios are related to different maturities on a given yield curve; when the yield curve changes shape,
the risk position is altered. Options risk arises from “embedded options” within asset and liability products as certain
borrowers have the option to prepay their loans when rates fall, while certain depositors can redeem or withdraw
their deposits early when rates rise.
The process by which we manage our interest rate risk is called asset/liability management. The goals of our
asset/liability management are increasing net interest income without taking undue interest rate risk or material loss
of net market value of our equity, while maintaining adequate liquidity. Net interest income is increased by growing
earning assets and increasing the difference between the rate earned on earning assets and the rate paid on interestbearing liabilities. Liquidity is measured by the ability to meet both depositors’ and credit customers’ requirements.
We use an asset/liability model to measure our interest rate risk. Interest rate risk measures include earnings
simulation and gap analysis. Gap analysis is a static measure that does not incorporate assumptions regarding future
events. Gap analysis, while a helpful diagnostic tool, displays cash flows for only a single rate environment. Net
interest income simulations explicitly measure the exposure to earnings from changes in market rates of interest.
Under simulation analysis, our current financial position is combined with assumptions regarding future business to
calculate net interest income under various hypothetical rate scenarios. Our net interest income simulations assume a
level balance sheet whereby new volume equals run-off. The ALCO reviews earnings simulations over multiple
years under various interest rate scenarios. Reviewing these various measures provides us with a reasonably
comprehensive view of our interest rate profile.
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The following gap analysis compares the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets and interestbearing liabilities subject to repricing over a period of time. The ratio of rate sensitive assets to rate sensitive
liabilities repricing within a one year period was 0.61 at December 31, 2017. A ratio of less than one indicates a
higher level of repricing liabilities over repricing assets over the next twelve months. The level of Carter Bank &
Trust’s ratio is largely driven by the modeling of interest-bearing non-maturity deposits, which are included in the
analysis as repricing within one year.
(Dollars in Thousands)
Uses of Funds
Investment Securities, Available-for-Sale
FRB Excess Reserves
Interest Bearing Deposits in Other Financial Institutions
Loans Held-for-Sale
Portfolio Loans, net of Non-Accrual
Total Earning Assets
Deposits
Interest-Bearing Demand
Money Market
Savings
Certificates of Deposit
Total Deposits
Total Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Maturity/Rate Sensitivity Gap Per Period
Cumulative Maturity/Rate Sensitivity Gap

Within
One Year
$

One to
Five Years

292,193
151,715
58,365
517
713,067
1,215,857

$

$

$
$

260,979
102,686
721,459
893,403
1,978,527
1,978,527

$
$

(762,670)
(762,670)

$

$

$

401,142
-

1,205,607
1,606,749

Over
Five Years
$

$

$

$
$

1,159,135
1,159,135
1,159,135

$
$

447,614
(315,056)

253,866
-

672,873
926,739

Total
$

$

947,201
151,715
58,365
517
2,591,547
3,749,345

$

$
$

1,711
1,711
1,711

$
$

260,979
102,686
721,459
2,054,249
3,139,373
3,139,373

$
$

925,028
609,972

$

609,972

The Bank is not a party to any derivative financial instruments.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITTIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market risk is defined as the degree to which changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, or
equity prices can adversely affect a financial institution’s earnings or capital. For financial institutions market risk
primarily reflects exposures to changes in interest rates. Interest rate fluctuations affect earnings by changing net
interest income and other interest-sensitive income and expense levels. Interest rate changes affect capital by
changing the net present value of a bank’s future cash flows, and the cash flows themselves, as rates change.
Accepting this risk is a normal part of banking and can be an important source of profitability and enhancing
shareholder value. However, excessive interest rate risk can threaten a bank’s earnings, capital, liquidity and
solvency. Our sensitivity to changes in interest rate movements is continually monitored by the ALCO. The ALCO
monitors and manages market risk through rate shock analyses, economic value of equity, or (“EVE”), analyses and
by performing stress tests in order to mitigate earnings and market value fluctuations due to changes in interest rates.
Rate shock analyses’ results are compared to a base case to provide an estimate of the impact that market rate
changes may have on 12 months of pretax net interest income. The base case and rate shock analyses are performed
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on a static and growth balance sheet. A static balance sheet is a no growth balance sheet in which all maturing
and/or repricing cash flows are reinvested in the same product at the existing product spread. Rate shock analyses
assume an immediate parallel shift in market interest rates and also include management assumptions regarding the
impact of interest rate changes on non-maturity deposit products (noninterest-bearing demand, interest-bearing
demand, money market and savings) and changes in the prepayment behavior of loans and securities with
optionality. Our policy guidelines limit the change in pretax net interest income over a 12 month horizon using rate
shocks of +/- 100, 200 and 300 basis points. We have temporarily suspended the -200 and -300 basis point rate
shock analyses. Due to the low interest rate environment, we believe the impact to net interest income when
evaluating the -200 and -300 basis point rate shock scenarios does not provide meaningful insight into our interest
rate risk position.
In order to monitor interest rate risk beyond the 12 month time horizon of rate shocks, we also perform EVE
analyses. EVE represents the present value of all asset cash flows minus the present value of all liability cash flows.
EVE rate change results are compared to a base case to determine the impact that market rate changes may have on
our EVE. As with rate shock analysis, EVE analyses incorporate management assumptions regarding prepayment
behavior of fixed rate loans and securities with optionality and the behavior and value of non-maturity deposit
products. Our policy guidelines limit the change in EVE given changes in rates of +/- 100, 200 and 300 basis points.
We have also temporarily suspended the EVE -200 and -300 basis point scenarios due to the low interest rate
environment.
The table below reflects the rate shock analyses and EVE analyses results. Both are in the minimal risk tolerance
level.
December 31, 2017
Change in Interest
Rate
(basis points)
300
200
100
(100)

% Change in Pretax

% Change in Economic
Value of Equity
5.50%
5.30%
3.69%
-5.97%

Net Interest Income
11.29%
8.46%
4.36%
-6.08%

The results from the rate shock analyses are consistent with having an liability sensitive balance sheet. Having an
liability sensitive balance sheet means that more liabilities than assets will reprice during the measured time frames.
The implications of a liability sensitive position will differ depending upon the change in market interest rates and
mix of the balance sheet.
In addition to rate shocks and EVE analyses, sensitivity analyses are performed to help us identify which model
assumptions cause the greatest impact on pretax net interest income. Sensitivity analyses may include changing
prepayment behavior of loans and securities with optionality and the impact of interest rate changes on non-maturity
deposit products.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands Except Per Share Data)

ASSETS

2017

Cash and Due From Banks

$

Interest-Bearing Deposits in Other Financial Institutions
Federal Reserve Bank Excess Reserves
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

$

Securities Available-for-Sale, at Fair Value
Securities Held-to-Maturity, at Cost (Fair Value $885,167 at December 31, 2016)
Loans Held-for-Sale
Portfolio Loans, net of Unearned Income
Allowance for Loan Losses
Portfolio Loans, net

$

2016

58,533

$

45,211

58,365

42,662

151,715

606,904

268,613

$

694,777

947,201

-

-

879,694

517

-

2,684,445

2,731,783

(35,318)

(34,500)

2,649,127

$

2,697,283

Bank Premises and Equipment, net

77,273

96,606

Other Real Estate Owned, net

39,793

23,558

Goodwill

59,762

59,762

Other Assets

70,006

53,849

Total Assets

$

4,112,292

$

530,242

$

4,505,529

LIABILITIES
Deposits:
Noninterest-Bearing Demand

$

534,923

Interest-Bearing Demand

260,979

259,942

Money Market

102,686

182,579

Savings

721,459

704,147

2,054,249

2,382,248

Certificates of Deposit
Total Deposits

$

Other Liabilities

3,669,615

$

10,551

Total Liabilities

$

3,680,166

4,063,839
7,040

$

4,070,879

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock, Par Value $1 Per Share, Authorized 100,000,000
Shares; 26,257,761 Outstanding in 2017 and 2016

26,258

26,258

Additional Paid-in-Capital

142,178

142,178

Retained Earnings

265,930

266,214

(2,240)

-

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)
Total Shareholders' Equity

$

432,126

$

434,650

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

$

4,112,292

$

4,505,529

See accompanying notes to audited consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

2017

(Dollars in Thousands except Per Share Data)

INTEREST INCOME
Loans, including fees
Taxable
Non-Taxable
Investment Securities
Taxable
Non-Taxable
FRB Excess Reserves

$

Total Interest Income

Years
Ended December 31,
2016

108,193
10,901

$

107,472
9,772

$

2015

105,076
9,159

14,911
4,895
4,689

21,347
4,972
3,859

31,851
5,188
1,103

143,589

147,422

152,377

Interest Expense
Interest Expense on Deposits

37,111

46,382

47,797

Total Interest Expense
NET INTEREST INCOME
Provision for Loan Losses

37,111
106,478
43,197

46,382
101,040
17,717

47,797
104,580
3,300

Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan Losses
NONINTEREST INCOME
Gain on Sales of Securities, net
Service Charges, Commissions and Fees
Debit Card Interchange Fees
Insurance Fees
Other Real Estate Owned Income
Other

63,281

83,323

101,280

1,186
2,974
4,854
1,847
448
1,518

3,139
4,718
1,878
1,261
1,498

3,154
4,384
1,585
3,595
1,967

Total Noninterest Income
NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Salaries and Employee Benefits
Occupancy Expense, net
FDIC Insurance Expense
Other Taxes
Telephone Expense
Professional and Legal Fees
Data Processing Licensing Fee
Losses on Sales and Write-downs of Other Real Estate Owned, net
Loss on Sales and Write-downs of Bank Premises
Debit Card Expense
Historic Tax Credit Write-down
Other Real Estate Owned Expense
Other

12,827

12,494

14,685

42,711
9,738
3,890
1,907
1,699
6,852
5,604
4,614
5,583
2,436
3,259
791
5,236

37,527
8,513
4,914
1,760
1,615
1,109
3,456
10,746
44
2,735
1,446
4,328

36,398
8,018
3,410
1,329
1,569
382
2,736
261
551
2,228
3,517
6,167

94,320
(18,212)
(17,531)

78,193
17,624
1,645

66,566
49,399
10,241

Total Noninterest Expense
(Loss) Income Before Taxes
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision
Net (Loss) Income

$

(681)

$

15,979

$

39,158

Earnings per Common Share
Basic and Diluted

$

(0.03)

$

0.61

$

1.49

See accompanying notes to audited consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Net (Loss) Income
Other Comprehensive Loss:
Unrealized (Gains)/Losses on Securities:
Net Unrealized Loss Arising during the Period
Transfer of Held-to-Maturity Securities to Available-for-Sale Securities
Reclassification Adjustment for Gains included in Net (Loss) Income
Net Unrealized Loss Recognized in Comprehensive Loss
Tax Effect
Other Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive (Loss) Income

2017
$ (681)

2016
$ 15,979

2015
$ 39,158

(7,249)

-

-

5,600

-

-

(1,186)
(2,835)
992
(1,843)

-

-

$(2,524)

See accompanying notes to audited consolidated financial statements.
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$

15,979

$

39,158

CARTER BANK & TRUST
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA (continued)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in Thousands)

Balance December 31, 2014
Net Income
Cash Dividends Declared and Paid
Balance December 31, 2015
Net Income
Cash Dividends Declared and Paid
Balance December 31, 2016
Net Loss
Cash Dividends Declared and Paid
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net
Reclassification of Stranded Tax Effects from
Change in Tax Rate
Balance December 31, 2017

Years Ended December 31,

Common Stock
$
26,258

Additional
Paid-in-Capital
$
142,178

$

26,258

$

142,178

$

26,258

$

142,178

$

26,258

$

142,178

See accompanying notes to audited consolidated financial statements.
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Retained
Earnings
$
229,458
39,158
(10,503)
$
258,113
15,979
(7,878)
$
266,214
(681)

$

397
265,930

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Total
Shareholder's
Equity

$

-

$

$

-

$

$

-

$

$

(1,843)

397,894
39,158
(10,503)
426,549
15,979
(7,878)
434,650
(681)
(1,843)

(397)
(2,240)

432,126

$
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA (continued)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in Thousands)
2017
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (Loss) Income
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities
Provision for Loan Losses
Origination of Loans Held-for-Sale
Proceeds From Loans Held-for-Sale
Depreciation/amortization of Bank Premises and Equipment
Amortization of Core Deposit Intangible
Benefit for Deferred Taxes
Net Amortization of Securities
Historic Tax Credit Investment Write downs
Securities Gain, net
Write-downs of Other Real Estate Owned
Losses (Gains) on Sales of Other Real Estate Owned, Net
Losses on Sales and Write-downs of Bank Premises
(Increase) Decrease in Other Assets
Increase (decrease) in Other Liabilities
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities

$(681)

Years Ended
December 31,
2016
$15,979

2015
$39,158

43,197
(45,900)
45,383
3,150
(10,371)
1,332
3,259
(1,186)
4,672
(58)
5,583
(8,053)
3,511
43,838

17,717
3,285
(5,832)
-

3,300
3,255
2,447
(2,283)
-

8,411
2,336
(9,254)
14
32,656

13
248
10,469
(2,949)
53,658

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Securities Held-to-Maturity:
Proceeds from Maturities and Redemptions
Purchases
Securities Available-for-Sale:
Proceeds from Sales
Proceeds from Maturities, Redemptions, and Pay downs
Purchases
Purchase of Bank Premises and Equipment, Net
Loan Originations and Payments, net
Other Real Estate Owned Improvements
Proceeds from Sales of Other Real Estate Owned
Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Investing Activities

57,330
(41,436)

667,407
(125,000)

406,163
-

123,920
183,197
(393,499)
(3,114)
(5,606)
(372)
3,802
(75,778)

(844)
(95,977)
(168)
2,124
447,542

(597)
(319,186)
649
87,029

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net Change in Demand, Money Markets and Savings Accounts
(Decrease) increase in Time Deposits
Cash Dividends
Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Financing Activities

(66,225)
(327,999)
(394,224)

(45,681)
(345,041)
(7,878)
(398,600)

88,996
151,608
(10,503)
230,101

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

(426,164)

81,598

370,788

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period

$694,777

$613,179

$242,391

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period

$268,613

$694,777

$613,179
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in Thousands)
2017

Years Ended
December 31,
2016

2015

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Cash Interest Paid
Cash Paid for Income Taxes
Transfer of Securities from Held-to-Maturity
to Available-for-Sale
Unrealized Gain on Transfer of Securities from
Held-to-Maturity to Available-for-Sale
Net Unrealized Losses on Securities Available-for-Sale
Transfer from Loans to Loans Held-for-Sale
Transfer from Loans to Other Real Estate Owned
Loans Provided for Sales of Other Real Estate Owned
Transfer from Fixed Assets to Other Real Estate Owned

See accompanying notes to audited consolidated financial statements.
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$37,824
1,675

$46,848
10,801

$47,124
6,988

863,800

-

-

5,600
(8,435)
17,912
7,347
13,714

610
7,771
-

503
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CARTER BANK & TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in Thousands in Charts Except for Per Share Data)
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations:
Carter Bank & Trust (the “Bank”) is a banking institution, incorporated under Virginia law, with headquarters
located in Martinsville, Virginia. The Bank is a non-member state bank, regulated by the FDIC and State Bureau of
Financial Institutions. The Bank has one wholly owned subsidiary, Mortgage Company of Virginia which owns
100% of Bank Services of Virginia and Bank Services Insurance, Inc.
Accounting Policies:
Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or
GAAP. In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the dates of the
balance sheets and revenues and expenses for the periods then ended. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Our significant accounting policies are described below.
Principles of Consolidation:
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Carter Bank & Trust and its wholly owned
subsidiary. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Reclassification:
Amounts in prior years' period financial statements and footnotes are reclassified whenever necessary to conform to
the current year’s presentation. Reclassifications had no material effect on prior year net income or shareholders’
equity.
Subsequent Event:
Prior to December 31, 2017, the Bank entered into an agreement for the sale of Bank Services Insurance, Inc. in
January of 2018. The transaction resulted in a gain of $1.2 million. The Bank has further evaluated subsequent
events for recognition and disclosure through March 15, 2018 which is the date the financial statements were
available to be issued.
Use of Estimates:
To prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.,
management makes estimates and assumptions based on available information. These estimates and assumptions
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the disclosures provided, and actual results could differ.
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Operating Segments:
While the chief decision-makers monitor the revenue streams of the various products and services, operations are
managed and financial performance is evaluated on a Bank-wide basis, and operating segments are aggregated into
one as operating results for all segments are similar. Accordingly, all of the financial service operations are
considered by management to be aggregated in one reportable operating segment.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: The Bank considers all cash on hand, amounts due from banks, federal funds sold,
and FRB excess reserves as cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows with all
items having maturities fewer than 90 days. Federal funds are customarily sold for one-day periods. The FRB pays
the target fed funds rate on the FRB excess reserves.
Restrictions on Cash: Cash on hand or on deposit with the Federal Reserve Bank was required to meet regulatory
reserve and clearing requirements.
Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments: Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit
instruments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial letters of credit, issued to meet customer financing
needs. The face amount for these items represents the exposure to loss, before considering customer collateral or
ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.
Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income. Other
comprehensive income includes unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale which are recognized as
a separate component of equity.
Securities: The Bank classifies securities into held-to-maturity and available-for-sale categories. During 2017,
management determined to transfer all investment securities previously classified as held-to-maturity to availablefor-sale. See further information on this transfer within Note 3. Held-to-maturity securities are those which the
Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold until maturity and are reported at amortized cost. Securities classified
as available-for-sale include securities, which can be sold for liquidity, investment management, or similar reasons
even if there is not a present intention of such a sale. Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, with
unrealized gains or losses included in other comprehensive income, net of tax.
Premium amortization is deducted from, and discount accretion is added to, interest income on securities using the
level yield method without anticipating prepayments, except for mortgage-backed securities where prepayments are
anticipated. Gains and losses are recognized upon the sale of specific identified securities on the completed trade
date.
Other-Than-Temporary Impairments of Securities: In determining an other-than-temporary impairment
(“OTTI”), management considers many factors, including: (1) the length of time and the extent to which the fair
value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, (3) whether the
market decline was affected by macroeconomic conditions, and (4) whether the Bank has the intent to sell the debt
security or more likely than not will be required to sell the debt security before its anticipated recovery. The
assessment of whether an OTTI decline exists involves a high degree of subjectivity and judgment and is based on
the information available to management at a point in time.
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When an OTTI occurs, the amount of the OTTI recognized in earnings depends on whether an entity intends to sell
the security or it is more likely than not it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost
basis, less any current-period credit loss. If an entity intends to sell or it is more likely than not it will be required to
sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, less any current-period credit loss, the OTTI shall be
recognized in earnings equal to the entire difference between the investment’s amortized cost basis and its fair value
at the balance sheet date. If an entity does not intend to sell the security and it is not more likely than not that the
entity will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis less any current-period loss, the
OTTI shall be separated into the amount representing the credit loss and the amount related to all other factors. The
amount of the total OTTI related to the credit loss is determined based on the present value of cash flows expected to
be and is recognized in earnings. The amount of the total OTTI related to other factors is recognized in other
comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes. The previous amortized cost basis less the OTTI recognized in
earnings becomes the new amortized cost basis of the investment.
Loans and Allowance for Loan Losses: Loans are recorded at the amount of the loan disbursed to borrowers plus
the applicable amount, if any, of unearned income and other charges, less payments received. Income earned on
loans is recognized by methods which generally result in level rates of return on principal amounts outstanding. The
net amount of nonrefundable loan origination fees approximates the direct costs associated with the lending process.
The allowance for loan losses is an estimate of probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio as determined by
management taking into consideration historical loan loss experience, diversification of the loan portfolio, amounts
of secured and unsecured loans, banking industry standards and averages, and general economic conditions.
Ultimate losses may vary from current estimates. These estimates are reviewed periodically and as adjustments
become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become reasonably estimable.
A loan is considered impaired when it is probable that the Bank will be unable to collect all principal and interest
amounts when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. A performing loan may be considered
impaired. The allowance for loan losses related to loans identified as impaired is primarily based on the excess of
the loan's current outstanding principal balance over the estimated fair value of the related collateral, less cost to sell.
For a loan that is not collateral-dependent, the allowance is recorded at the amount by which the outstanding
principal balance exceeds the current estimate of the future cash flows on the loan discounted at the loan's original
effective interest rate. Interest on impaired loans is recognized when cash is received.
Loans, including impaired loans, are generally classified as nonaccrual if they are past due as to maturity or payment
of principal or interest for a period of more than 90 days based on contractual terms, unless such loans are wellsecured and in the process of collection. If a loan or a portion of a loan is classified as doubtful or is partially
charged off, the loan is generally classified as nonaccrual. Loans that are on a current payment status or past due less
than 90 days may also be classified as nonaccrual, if repayment in full of principal and/or interest is unlikely.
While a loan is classified as nonaccrual and the probability of collecting the recorded loan balance is doubtful,
collections of interest and principal are generally applied as a reduction to principal outstanding. When the
probability of collecting the recorded loan balance is expected, interest income may be recognized on a cash basis.
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In the case where a nonaccrual loan had been partially charged off, recognition of interest on a cash basis is limited
to that which would have been recognized on the recorded loan balance at the contractual interest rate. Cash interest
receipts in excess of that amount are recorded as recoveries to the allowance for loan losses until prior charge-offs
have been fully recovered.
Loans may be returned to accrual status when all principal and interest amounts contractually due (including
arrearages) are reasonably assured of repayment within an acceptable period of time, and there is a sustained period
of repayment performance by the borrower in accordance with the contractual terms of interest and principal.
During the quarterly evaluation of the allowance for loan losses, particular characteristics associated with a segment
of the loan portfolio are also considered. These characteristics are detailed below:
Commercial loans not secured by real estate carry risks associated with the successful operation of a business, and
the repayments of these loans depend on the profitability and cash flows of the business. Additional risk relates to
the value of collateral upon which depreciation occurs and the valuation is less precise.
Loans secured by commercial real estate also carry risks associated with the success of the business and the ability
to generate a positive cash flow sufficient to service debts. Real estate security diminishes risks only to the extent
that a market exists for the subject collateral.
Residential real estate loans carry risks associated with the continued credit-worthiness of the borrower and changes
in the value of the collateral. In instances where construction is in process, these loans carry risks that a project will
not be completed as scheduled and budgeted and that the value of the collateral may, at any point be less than the
principal amount of the loan. Additional risks may occur if the general contractor, who may not be a loan customer,
is unable to finish the project as planned due to financial pressures unrelated to the project.
Consumer loans carry risks associated with the continued credit-worthiness of the borrower and the value of the
collateral, such as automobiles, which may depreciate more rapidly than other assets. In addition, these loans may be
unsecured. Consumer loans are more likely than real estate loans to be immediately affected in an adverse manner
by job loss, divorce, illness, or personal bankruptcy. Consumer loans are further segmented into automobile and
recreational vehicle loans and other consumer loans.
Loans to tax-exempt state and political subdivisions carry risks associated with changes in budget constraints or
revenue bases of the particular municipality or entity. These loans are dependent on the cash flow from the taxexempt entity and often times have col lateral upon which depreciation occurs and valuation is less than precise.
Troubled Debt Restructurings: In situations where, for economic or legal reasons related to a borrower's financial
condition, management may grant a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider, the related loan
is classified as a troubled debt restructuring (TDR). Management strives to identify borrowers in financial difficulty
early and work with them to modify their loan to more affordable terms before their loan reaches nonaccrual status.
These modified terms have historically included interest only periods, extended amortization periods beyond what
management would typically offer for a similar loan or a below market interest rate when compared to
management's underwriting standards for a similar loan type. These concessions are intended to minimize the
economic loss and to avoid foreclosure or repossession of the collateral. In cases where borrowers are granted new
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terms that provide for a reduction of interest, management measures any impairment on the restructuring as noted
above for impaired loans.
Concentration of Credit Risk: The majority of the Bank's loans, commitments and lines of credit have been
granted to customers in the Bank's market area. The concentrations of credit by loan classification are set forth in
Note 4.
Advertising Costs: We expense all marketing-related costs, including advertising costs, as incurred. Advertising
expense was $191 thousand, $180 thousand, and $209 thousand for the years ended 2017, 2016, and 2015,
respectively.
Bank Premises and Equipment: Bank premises and equipment acquired are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation. Depreciation is charged to operating expenses over the estimated useful life of the assets by the
straight-line method. Land is carried at cost. Costs of maintenance or repairs are charged to expense as incurred and
improvements are capitalized. Upon retirement or disposal of an asset, the asset and related allowance account are
eliminated. Any gain or loss on such transactions is included in current operations. Depreciation has been included
under occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income totaling $3.2 million in 2017, $3.3 million in
2016, and $3.3 million in 2015. The estimated useful life for bank premises ranges from 5 to 40 years and equipment
depreciates over a 3 to 10 year period.
Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per share represent income available to common shareholders divided by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect
additional common shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive common shares had been issued, as well as
any adjustment to income resulting from the assumed issuance. The Bank had no dilutive common stock equivalents
as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; therefore, basic and diluted earnings per share are equal for the Bank for
the years ended December 2017, 2016, and 2015. The number of weighted average shares used to compute earnings
per share was 26,257,761 for each of years in the three year period ended December 31, 2017.
Other Real Estate Owned: Real estate properties acquired through or in lieu of loan foreclosure are initially
recorded at fair value less estimated selling cost at the date of foreclosure. Any write-downs based on the asset's fair
value at the date of acquisition are charged to the allowance for loan losses. After foreclosure, these assets are
carried at the lower of their new cost basis or fair value less cost to sell. Costs of significant property improvements
are capitalized, whereas costs relating to holding property are expensed. Valuations are periodically performed by
management, and any write-downs are recorded as a charge to operations, if necessary, to reduce the carrying value
of a property to the lower of its carrying value or fair value less cost to sell.
Income Taxes: Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for
deductible temporary differences, operating losses, and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when,
in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of
enactment.

63

CARTER BANK & TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
When tax returns are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the
taxing authorities, while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the
position that would be ultimately sustained. The benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in
the period during which, based on all available evidence, management believes it is more likely than not that the
position will be sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tax
positions taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely of being
realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing authority. The portion of the benefits associated with tax
positions taken that exceeds the amount measured as described above is reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax
benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets along with any associated interest and penalties that would
be payable to the taxing authorities upon examination. Interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax
benefits are classified as additional income taxes in the consolidated statements of income.
Transfer of Financial Assets: Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets
has been surrendered. Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been
isolated from the Bank, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage
of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Bank does not maintain effective control over
the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity, or the ability to unilaterally
cause the transferee to return specific assets.
Retirement Benefits: The Bank has established an employee benefit plan as described in Note 11. The Bank does
not provide any other post-retirement benefits.
Loans Or Debt Securities Acquired In A Transfer: Loans acquired through the completion of a transfer,
including loans acquired in a business combination that have evidence of deterioration of credit quality since
origination and for which it is probable, at acquisition, that the Bank will be unable to collect all contractually
required payments receivable, are initially recorded at fair value (as determined by the present value of the expected
future cash flows) with no valuation allowance. Loans are evaluated individually to determine if there is evidence of
deterioration of credit quality since origination. Loans with evidence of deterioration of credit quality since
origination may be aggregated and accounted for as a pool of loans if the loans being aggregated have common risk
characteristics. The difference between the undiscounted cash flows expected at the acquisition and the investment
in the loan, or the "accretable yield," is recognized as interest income on a level-yield method over the life of the
loan. Contractually required payments for interest and principal that exceed the undiscounted cash flows expected at
acquisition. or the "nonaccretable difference," are not recognized as a yield adjustment, as a loss accrual, or a
valuation allowance. Increases in expected cash flows subsequent to the initial investment are recognized
prospectively through adjustment of the yield on the loan over its remaining life. Decreases in expected cash flows
are recognized immediately as impairment. If the Bank does not have the information necessary to reasonably
estimate the cash flows to be expected, it may use the cost recovery method or cash basis method of income
recognition.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets: Goodwill resulting from business combinations prior to January 1, 2009
represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill
resulting from business combinations after January 1, 2009, is generally determined as the excess of the fair value of
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the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a
purchase business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized, but tested for
impairment at least annually or more frequently if events and circumstances exist that indicate that a goodwill
impairment test should be performed. The Bank has selected October 1st as the date as of which to perform the
annual impairment test. Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives to
their estimated residual values. Goodwill is the only intangible asset with an indefinite life on our balance sheet.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market
information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note 6. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the
estimates.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, “Financial Instruments –
Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” The
amendments in ASU 2016-01, among other things: 1) Requires equity investments (except those accounted for
under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. 2) Requires public business entities to use the exit price
notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes. 3) Requires separate
presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset (i.e.,
securities or loans and receivables). 4) Eliminates the requirement for public business entities to disclose the
method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial
instruments measured at amortized cost. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Bank does not expect the adoption of
ASU 2016-01 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” Among other things, in the
amendments in ASU 2016-02, lessees will be required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception
of short-term leases) at the commencement date: (1) A lease liability, which is a lessee‘s obligation to make lease
payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (2) A right-of-use asset, which is an asset that
represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. Under the new
guidance, lessor accounting is largely unchanged. Certain targeted improvements were made to align, where
necessary, lessor accounting with the lessee accounting model and Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application is permitted upon issuance. Lessees (for capital and
operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified
retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the financial statements. The modified retrospective approach would not require
any transition accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. Lessees and
lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition approach. The Bank does not expect the adoption of ASU 201602 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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During June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.” The amendments in this ASU, among other things,
require the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Financial institutions and other
organizations will now use forward-looking information to better inform their credit loss estimates. Many of the loss
estimation techniques applied today will still be permitted, although the inputs to those techniques will change to
reflect the full amount of expected credit losses. In addition, the ASU amends the accounting for credit losses on
available-for-sale debt securities and purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. For public companies that
are not SEC filers, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2020. We are currently gathering loan level data, and assessing our data and
system needs. The impact of the current expected credit losses model implementation is being evaluated, but it is
expected that a one-time cumulative-effect adjustment to the allowance for loan losses will be recognized in retained
earnings on the consolidated balance sheet as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the new standard
is effective, as is consistent with regulatory expectations set forth in interagency guidance. The magnitude of any
adjustment or the overall impact of the new standard on financial condition or results of operation cannot yet be
determined.
During August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments”, to address diversity in how certain cash receipts and cash payments are
presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The amendments should be applied using a
retrospective transition method to each period presented. If retrospective application is impractical for some of the
issues addressed by the update, the amendments for those issues would be applied prospectively as of the earliest
date practicable. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Bank does not expect the
adoption of ASU 2016-15 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
During January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the
Definition of a Business”. The amendments in this ASU clarify the definition of a business with the objective of
adding guidance to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or
disposals) of assets or businesses. Under the current implementation guidance in Topic 805, there are three elements
of a business—inputs, processes, and outputs. While an integrated set of assets and activities (collectively referred to
as a “set”) that is a business usually has outputs, outputs are not required to be present. In addition, all the inputs and
processes that a seller uses in operating a set are not required if market participants can acquire the set and continue
to produce outputs. The amendments in this ASU provide a screen to determine when a set is not a business. If the
screen is not met, the amendments (1) require that to be considered a business, a set must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output and (2) remove
the evaluation of whether a market participant could replace missing elements. The ASU provides a framework to
assist entities in evaluating whether both an input and a substantive process are present. The amendments in this
ASU are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those
annual periods. The amendments in this ASU should be applied prospectively on or after the effective date. No
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disclosures are required at transition. The Bank does not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-01 to have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
During January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350):
Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment”. The amendments in this ASU simplify how an entity is required to
test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Step 2 measures a goodwill
impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that
goodwill. Instead, under the amendments in this ASU, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill
impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity still has the
option to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is
necessary. Public business entities that are not SEC filers should adopt the amendments in this ASU for annual or
interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for
interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Bank does not
expect the adoption of ASU 2017-04 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
During March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, “Compensation — Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost.” The
amendments in this ASU require an employer that offers defined benefit pension plans, other postretirement benefit
plans, or other types of benefits accounted for under Topic 715 to report the service cost component of net periodic
benefit cost in the same line item(s) as other compensation costs arising from services rendered during the period.
The other components of net periodic benefit cost are required to be presented in the income statement separately
from the service cost component. If the other components of net periodic benefit cost are not presented on a separate
line or lines, the line item(s) used in the income statement must be disclosed. In addition, only the service cost
component will be eligible for capitalization as part of an asset, when applicable. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual periods. Early
adoption is permitted. The Bank does not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-07 to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
During March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017‐08, “Receivables—Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic
310‐20), Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities.” The amendments in this ASU shorten the
amortization period for certain callable debt securities purchased at a premium. Upon adoption of the standard,
premiums on these qualifying callable debt securities will be amortized to the earliest call date. Discounts on
purchased debt securities will continue to be accreted to maturity. The amendments are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted,
including adoption in an interim period. Upon transition, entities should apply the guidance on a modified
retrospective basis, with a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the period of
adoption and provide the disclosures required for a change in accounting principle. The Bank is currently assessing
the impact that ASU 2017‐ 08 will have on our consolidated financial statements.
During May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017‐09, “Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting.” The amendments provide guidance on determining which changes to the terms and
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conditions of share-based payment awards require an entity to apply modification accounting under Topic 718. The
amendments are effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after
December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period, for reporting periods for
which financial statements have not yet been issued. The Bank is currently assessing the impact that ASU 2017‐ 09
will have on our consolidated financial statements.
During August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted
Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities.” The amendments in this ASU modify the designation and
measurement guidance for hedge accounting as well as provide for increased transparency regarding the
presentation of economic results on both the financial statements and related footnotes. Certain aspects of hedge
effectiveness assessments will also be simplified upon implementation of this update. The amendments are
effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15,
2018. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period. The Bank does not expect the adoption
of ASU 2017-12 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
During February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, “Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income
(Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.” The
amendments provide financial statement preparers with an option to reclassify stranded tax effects within
accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings in each period in which the effect of the change in the
U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (or portion thereof) is recorded. The
amendments are effective for all organizations for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. Organizations should apply the proposed amendments
either in the period of adoption or retrospectively to each period (or periods) in which the effect of the change in the
U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act is recognized. The Bank has elected to
reclassify the stranded income tax effects from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in the consolidated financial statements
for the period ending December 31, 2017. The amount of this reclassification in 2017 was $397 thousand.
NOTE 2 - RESTRICTIONS ON CASH AND DUE FROM BANK ACCOUNTS
The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, or the Federal Reserve, imposes certain reserve
requirements on all depository institutions. These reserves are maintained in the form of vault cash or as an interestbearing balance with the Federal Reserve. The required reserves averaged $40.4 million for 2017, $39.6 million for
2016 and $35.3 million for 2015.
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NOTE 3 - INVESTMENT SECURITIES
The following table presents the amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities as of the dates
presented:
Available-For-Sale Securities
December 31, 2017

(Dollars in Thousands)
U.S. Government Agency Securities
Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Asset Backed Securities
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Small Business Administration
States and Political Subdivisions

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized
Cost

Gross Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

$

35
3
2
57
4,363
-

$

Corporate Notes

$ 302,894
60,890
25,170
16,877
62,351
69,232
302,991
109,631

(4,229)
(545)
(262)
(13)
(759)
(1,029)
(391)
(67)

$ 298,665
60,380
24,908
16,867
61,594
68,260
306,963
109,564

Total Debt Securities

$ 950,036

$

4,460

$

(7,295)

$ 947,201

On July 26, 2017, the Bank reclassified its entire held-to-maturity portfolio to the available-for-sale portfolio. At the
time of reclassification, the investments had an amortized cost of $863.8 million and a net unrealized gain of $5.6
million.
The transfer of securities from the held-to-maturity portfolio to the available-for-sale portfolio resulted from the
implementation of a strategy to liquidate selected obligations of the states and political subdivisions portfolio and
corporate notes in order to mitigate credit risk and more proactively manage the securities portfolio.
The following table presents the amortized cost and fair value of held-to-maturity securities as of the dates
presented:
Held-to-Maturity Securities
December 31, 2016

(Dollars in Thousands)
U.S. Government Agency Securities
Mortgage-Backed Securities
States and Political Subdivisions

Amortized Cost

Gross
Unrecognized
Gains

Gross
Unrecognized
Losses

Fair Value

Corporate Notes

$302,891
228
299,935
276,640

$100
2
8,199
1,197

$ (3,294)
–
(478)
(253)

$ 299,697
230
307,656
277,584

Total Debt Securities

$879,694

$ 9,498

$ (4,025)

$ 885,167

The Bank did not have securities classified as available-for-sale at December 31, 2016 nor securities classified as
held-to-maturity at December 31, 2017.
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The following table shows the composition of gross and net realized gains and losses for the periods presented:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Gross Realized Gains
Gross Realized Losses
Net Realized Gains
Tax Impact

Years ended December 31,
2017
2016
2015
$ 1,253
$
$
(67)
$ 1,186
$
$
$ 415
$
$

-

Gains or losses are recognized in earnings on the trade date using the amortized cost of the specific security sold.
The net realized gains above reflect reclassification adjustments in the calculation of other comprehensive loss. The
net realized gains are included in noninterest income as gains on sales of securities, net in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. The tax impact is included in income tax (benefit) provision in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.
The amortized cost and fair value of the investment securities portfolio by contractual maturity at December 31,
2017 and 2016 are included in the tables below. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because
issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Securities not
due at a single date are shown separately.
Available-for-Sale
(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017
U.S Government Agencies, Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions, Small Business Administration,
and Corporate Notes
Due in One Year or Less
Due after One Year through Five Years
Due after Five Years through Ten Years
Due after Ten Years

Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Asset Backed Securities
Total Securities
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Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

$ 174,074
375,770
57,407
177,497
784,748

$ 174,031
372,723
58,696
178,002
783,452

60,890
25,170
62,351
16,877

60,380
24,908
61,594
16,867

$ 950,036

$ 947,201
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Held-to-Maturity
(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016
U.S Government Agencies, Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions, and Corporate Notes
Due in One Year or Less
Due after One Year through Five Years
Due after Five Years through Ten Years
Due after Ten Years

Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities
Total Securities

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

$ 160,937
620,889
59,105
38,535
879,466

$ 162,075
620,364
61,843
40,655
884,937

228

230

$ 879,694

$ 885,167

At December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the
U.S. Government and its Agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of stockholders’ equity.
The carrying value of securities pledged for various regulatory and legal requirements was $295.8 million at
December 31, 2017 and $302.9 million at December 31, 2016.
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Securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2017 and 2016, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual
securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, were as follows:
Available-For-Sale Securities
December 31, 2017
Less Than 12 Months
(Dollars in Thousands)
U.S. Government Agency Securities
Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Asset Backed Securities
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Small Business Administration
States and Political Subdivisions
Corporate Notes
Total Debt Securities

Number of
Securities

Fair Value

5
24
8
6
21
55
61
15

$ 119,209
51,984
24,908
13,960
59,677
58,770
79,833
76,283

$

195

$ 484,624

$

12 Months or More

Unrealized
Losses

Total

Number of
Securities

Unrealized
Losses

Number of
Securities

Fair Value

Fair Value

785
545
262
13
759
1,029
356
46

9
10
4

$ 179,456
6,766
18,478

$

3,795

23

$ 204,700

$

Unrealized
Losses

3,444
35
21

14
24
8
6
21
55
71
19

$ 298,665
51,984
24,908
13,960
59,677
58,770
86,599
94,761

$

4,229
545
262
13
759
1,029
391
67

3,500

218

$ 689,324

$

7,295

12 Months or More
Number of
Unrealized
Securities
Fair Value
Losses

Number of
Securities

Fair Value

49
28

11
58
28

$ 224,606
54,487
148,829

$

3,294
478
253

77

97

$ 427,922

$

4,025

Held-to-Maturity Securities
December 31, 2016

(Dollars in Thousands)

Less Than 12 Months
Number of
Unrealized
Securities
Fair Value
Losses

U.S. Government Agency Securities
States and Political Subdivisions
Corporate Notes

11
52
27

$ 224,606
49,252
143,859

$

3,294
429
225

6
1

$

Total Debt Securities

90

$ 417,717

$

3,948

7

$ 10,205
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5,235
4,970

$

$

Total
Unrealized
Losses
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Securities are evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment (“OTTI”) quarterly and more frequently if economic
or market concerns warrant. Consideration is given to the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has
been less than cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, the credit quality of the issuer, and
whether the Bank intends to sell the security or may be required to sell the security prior to maturity. The Bank has
reviewed all securities for other-than-temporary impairment.
As of December 31 2017, no OTTI has been identified for any investment securities in the Bank’s portfolio. The
Bank does not believe any individual unrealized loss as of December 31, 2017 represents an other than temporary
impairment, or OTTI. At December 31, 2017 there were 218 securities in an unrealized loss position and at
December 31, 2016 there were 97 debt securities in an unrealized loss position. The unrealized losses on debt
securities were primarily attributable to changes in interest rates and not related to the credit quality of these
securities. All debt securities are determined to be investment grade and are paying principal and interest according
to the contractual terms of the security. The Bank generally does not intend to sell and it is not more likely than not
that the Bank will be required to sell any of the securities in an unrealized loss position before recovery of their
amortized cost.
NOTE 4 – LOANS AND LOANS HELD FOR SALE
The composition of the loan portfolio, net of unearned income, by dollar amount is shown in the table below:
December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands)
Commercial
Commercial Real Estate
Commercial and Industrial
Commercial Construction
Total Commercial Loans
Consumer
Residential Mortgages
Other Consumer
Consumer Construction
Total Consumer Loans
Total Portfolio Loans, Net of Unearned Income
Loans Held for Sale

2017
$ 1,536,957
803,833
118,786
2,459,576

2016
$

136,895
79,980
7,994
224,869
2,684,445
517

Total Loans, Net of Unearned Income

$ 2,684,962

1,527,552
835,131
199,551
2,562,234
138,657
20,724
10,168
169,549
2,731,783
-

$

2,731,783

We attempt to limit our exposure to credit risk by diversifying our loan portfolio by segment, geography, collateral
and industry and actively managing concentrations. When concentrations exist in certain segments, we mitigate this
risk by reviewing the relevant economic indicators and internal risk rating trends and through stress testing of the
loans in these segments. Total commercial loans represented 92% of total portfolio loans at December 31, 2017 and
94% of total portfolio loans at December 31, 2016. Within our commercial portfolio, the CRE and Commercial
Construction portfolios combined comprised $1.7 billion or 67% of total commercial loans and 62% of total
portfolio loans at December 31, 2017 and comprised of $1.7 billion or 67% of total commercial loans and 63% of
total portfolio loans at December 31, 2016.
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During the second quarter of 2017, the Bank began purchasing mortgage loans from another financial institution
with fully executed contracts with investors. The Bank then holds the loans until funded by the investor. The
amount of these loans held-for-sale at December 31, 2017 was $0.5 million.
Troubled Debt Restructurings
The following table summarizes the restructured loans as of the dates presented:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total TDRs

Performing
TDRs
$
121,465
133,182
$
254,647

December 31, 2017
Nonperforming
Total
TDRs
TDRs
$
41,804 $
163,269
133,182
$
41,804 $
296,451

Performing
TDRs
$
67,464
$
67,464

December 31, 2016
Nonperforming
Total
TDRs
TDRs
$
23,319 $
90,783
$
23,319 $
90,783

In order to maximize the collection of loan balances, the Bank evaluates troubled loan accounts on a case-by-case
basis to determine if a loan modification would be appropriate. Loan modifications may be utilized when there is a
reasonable chance that an appropriate modification would allow our client to continue servicing the debt. A loan is
a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) if both of the following exist: 1.) the debtor is experiencing financial
difficulties, and 2.) a creditor has granted a concession to the debtor that it would not normally grant. Nonaccrual
loans that are modified can be placed back on accrual status when both principal and interest are current and it is
probable that the Bank will be able to collect all amounts due (both principal and interest) according to the terms of
the loan agreement.
The Bank had loans modified as TDR’s for the twelve months ending December 31, 2017 totaling $256.7 million in
post-modified recorded balance. One TDR of $16.3 million involved a rate reduction to a level that was not
commensurate with a market rate on commercial real estate loan. A portion of the first TDR of $16.3 million that
was previously modified in the first three months of 2017 was subsequently moved to other real estate via a deed in
lieu of foreclosure, during the second quarter 2017. The balance of the first TDR ($0.9 million) was paid off by the
borrower with sales proceeds from the collateral securing the loan during the fourth quarter 2017. Another TDR of
$3.4 million involved principal forgiveness in the amount of $4.3 million. The balance of the TDR’s that occurred
for the twelve months ending December 31, 2017 ($237.0 million) involved the modification of loan terms to allow
previously amortized loans to begin making interest only payments due to the borrowers’ financial difficulties.
There was no principal forgiveness associated with this subset of TDR’s.
The remaining loan balances associated with these TDR’s that were restructured during the twelve months ended 2017
was $240.4 million at December 31, 2017. There were no TDR payment defaults during the year ended December 31,
2017 for TDRs with outstanding principal balances at year end 2017. For purposes of this disclosure, a TDR payment
default occurs when, within 12 months of the original TDR modification, either a full or partial charge-off occurs or a
TDR becomes 90 days or more past due.
At December 31, 2017 the Bank had $41.8 million in loans modified as TDR’s in previous years which had
experienced a payment default subsequent to the rework date and were classified as nonperforming. A majority of
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the nonperforming loans were in process of foreclosure at year end 2017. During the first quarter 2018 the Bank
foreclosed on $29.9 million in loans that were classified as nonperforming TDR’s at year 2017.
There was one loan modified as a TDR for the twelve months ending December 31, 2016 with a pre-modification
recorded balance of $674 thousand and a post-modification recorded balance of $754 thousand. The concession
granted for the TDR in 2016 was an extension of maturity and the capitalization of accrued interest. The remaining loan
balance associated with this TDR was $761 thousand at December 31, 2016. There were no TDR payment defaults
during the year ended December 31, 2016.
The specific reserve portion of the allowance for loan losses on TDRs, if required, is determined by discounting the
restructured cash flow at the original effective rate of the loan before modification or is based on the fair value of the
collateral less cost to sell, if repayment of the loan is collateral dependent. If the resulting amount is less than the
recorded book value, the Bank either establishes a valuation allowance as a component of the allowance for loan
losses or charges off the impaired balance if it determines that such amount is a confirmed loss. This method is used
consistently for all segments of the portfolio. As of December 31, 2017, there were two specific reserves allocated
in the amount totaling $32 thousand. As of December 31, 2016 a reserve of $244 thousand was allocated for one
TDR loan. All significant impaired loans have been determined to be collateral dependent.
The following is a summary of nonperforming assets as of the dates presented:
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands)
Nonperforming Loans
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total Nonperforming Loans
Nonperforming Troubled Debt Restructurings
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial
Total Nonperforming Troubled Debt Restructurings
Total Nonperforming Loans
Other Real Estate Owned
Total Nonperforming Assets

2017
$

$

2016
51,047
47
51,094
41,804
41,804
92,898
39,793
132,691

$

$

96,143
1
1
96,145
23,319
23,319
119,464
23,558
143,022

NPAs decreased $10.3 million to $132.7 million during 2017 compared to $143.0 million for the year ended 2016,
primarily due to charge-offs on legacy nonperforming credits during 2017.
We have granted loans to certain officers and directors of Carter Bank & Trust and to certain affiliates of the officers
and directors in the ordinary course of business. These loans were made on substantially the same terms, including
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated persons and
did not involve more than normal risk of collectability.
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The following table presents a summary of the aggregate amount of loans to any such persons as of December 31:
2017
$

(Dollars in Thousands)
Beginning Balance
New Loans
Repayments
Total

$

2016
17,409
1,352
(3,386)
15,375

$

$

19,271
2,619
(4,481)
17,409

NOTE 5 - ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES
We maintain an ALL at a level determined to be adequate to absorb estimated probable credit losses inherent in the
loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date. We develop and document a systematic ALL methodology based on the
following portfolio segments: 1. Commercial Real Estate (“CRE”), 2. Commercial & Industrial (“C&I”), 3.
Consumer 4. Obligations of States and Political Subdivisions. The following is a discussion of the key risks by
portfolio segment that management assesses in preparing the ALL.
CRE loans are secured by commercial purpose real estate, including both owner occupied properties and investment
properties, for various purposes such as hotels, strip malls and apartments. Operations of the individual projects as
well as global cash flows of the debtors are the primary sources of repayment for these loans. The condition of the
local economy is an important indicator of risk, but there are also more specific risks depending on the collateral
type as well as the business.
C&I loans are made to operating companies or manufacturers for the purpose of production, operating capacity,
accounts receivable, inventory or equipment financing. Cash flow from the operations of the borrower is the primary
source of repayment for these loans. The condition of the local economy is an important indicator of risk, but there
are also more specific risks depending on the industry of the borrower. Collateral for these types of loans often do
not have sufficient value in a distressed or liquidation scenario to satisfy the outstanding debt.
Consumer loans are made to individuals and may be secured by assets other than 1-4 family residences, as well as
unsecured loans. This segment includes auto loans and unsecured loans and lines. The primary source of repayment
for these loans is the income and assets of the borrower. The condition of the local economy, in particular the
unemployment rate, is an important indicator of risk for this segment. The value of the collateral, if there is any, is
less likely to be a source of repayment due to less certain collateral values.
Obligations of States and Political Subdivision loans are made to local and state municipalities for various purposes
including refinancing existing obligations, infrastructure upfit and expansion, or to purchase new equipment. This
segment of loans may be secured by general obligations from the municipal authority or revenues generated by
infrastructure and equipment financed by the Bank. The primary repayment source for these loans include the tax
base of the municipality, specific revenue streams related to the infrastructure financed, and other business
operations of the municipal authority. The health and stability of state and local economies directly impacts each
municipality’s tax basis and are important indicators of risk for this segment. The ability of each municipality to
increase taxes and fees to offset debt service requirements give this type of loan a very low risk profile in the
continuum of the Bank’s loan portfolio.
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The following table presents, by portfolio segment, the changes in the allowance for loan losses and the allocation of
the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015:

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017

Real
Estate

Allowance for Loan Losses:
Balance: Beginning of Year
Provision Charged to Expense
Losses Charged Off
Recoveries

$ 32,476
42,984
(42,813)
720

Balance, End of Year

$ 33,367

Consumer
& Other
Loans

$

Commercial
& Industrial

$ 82
461
(465)
210

$ 1,480
(246)
(31)
-

288

$ 1,203

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

$

Total

462
(2)
–
–

$ 34,500
43,197
(43,309)
930

$

460

$ 35,318

December 31, 2016
Allowance for Loan Losses:
Balance: Beginning of Year
Provision Charged to Expense
Losses Charged Off
Recoveries

$ 16,584
25,448
(9,687)
131

$ 6,098
(5,616)
(510)
110

$ 4,308
(2,577)
(257)
6

$

–
462
–
–

$ 26,990
17,717
(10,454)
247

Balance, End of Year

$ 32,476

$

82

$ 1,480

$

462

$ 34,500

December 31, 2015
Allowance for Loan Losses:
Balance: Beginning of Year
Provision Charged to Expense
Losses Charged Off
Recoveries

$ 15,244
1,650
(310)
–

$ 5,230
990
(177)
55

$ 3,668
660
(20)
–

$–
–
–
–

$ 24,142
3,300
(507)
55

Balance, End of Year

$ 16,584

$ 6,098

$ 4,308

$–

$ 26,990

We continually monitor the commercial loan portfolio through an internal risk rating system. Loan risk ratings are
assigned based upon the creditworthiness of the borrower and are reviewed on an ongoing basis according to our
internal policies. Loans within the pass rating generally have a lower risk of loss than loans risk rated as special
mention and substandard.
Our risk ratings are consistent with regulatory guidance and are as follows:
Pass – The loan is currently performing and is of high quality.
Special Mention –Assets with potential weaknesses that warrant management’s close attention and if left
uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset
or in the institutions credit position at some future date. Special mention assets are not adversely classified
and do not expose an institution to sufficient risk to warrant adverse classification.
Substandard – Assets that are inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity of
the obligor or by the collateral pledged, if any. Assets so classified have a well-defined weakness, or
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weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. Such assets are characterized by the distinct
possibility that the institution will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.
Doubtful – Assets with all the weaknesses inherent in one classified substandard with the added
characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently known
facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable.
Loss – Assets considered of such little value that its continuance on the books is not warranted. This
classification does not mean that the asset has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, but rather it is not
practical or desirable to defer writing off this basically worthless asset even though partial recovery may be
affected in the future.
The following tables represent credit exposures by internally assigned grades as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017
Pass
Special Mention
Substandard

Consumers &
Other Loans

Real Estate
$ 1,299,705

$

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

Commercial
& Industrial

73,921

$

24,180

$

Total

470,569

$ 1,868,375

29,989

6,000

61,019

-

97,008

470,938

59

248,065

-

719,062

Doubtful

-

-

-

-

-

Loss
Total Portfolio Loans, net of
Unearned Income

-

-

-

-

-

$ 1, 800,632

$

79,980

$

333,264

$

470,569

$ 2,684,445

Performing Loans

$ 1,707,736

$

79,978

$

333,264

$

470,569

$ 2,591,547

-

92,898

470,569

$ 2,684,445

Non-Accrual Loans
Total Loans, net of Unearned
Income

92,896
$ 1,800,632

2
$

79,980

$

333,264

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016
Pass
Special Mention
Substandard

Consumers &
Other Loans

Real Estate
$ 1,157,236

$

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

Commercial
& Industrial

20,657

$

$

366,051

$

Total

462,356

$ 2,006,300

68,254

54

6,583

-

74,891

650,438

13

141

-

650,592

Doubtful

-

-

-

-

-

Loss
Total Loans, net of Unearned
Income

-

-

-

-

-

$ 1,875,928

$

20,724

$

372,775

$

462,356

$ 2,731,783

Performing Loans

$ 1,756,466

$

20,723

$

372,774

$

462,356

$ 2,612,319

-

119,464

462,356

$ 2,731,783

Non-Accrual Loans
Total Loans, net of Unearned
Income

119,462
$ 1,875,928

1
$

20,724
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The Bank individually evaluates all substandard and nonaccrual commercial loans greater than $0.5 million for
impairment. A loan is impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Bank will be
unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Our methodology for
evaluating whether a loan is impaired includes risk-rating credits on an individual basis and consideration of the
borrower’s overall financial condition, payment history and available cash resources. In measuring impairment, the
Bank primarily utilizes fair market value of the collateral; however, the Bank also uses the discounted cash flow
method for loans that are not deemed to be collateral dependent at the time of impairment. Troubled debt
restructurings, or (“TDRs”), whether on accrual or nonaccrual status, are also classified as impaired loans. TDRs are
loans where the Bank, for economic or legal reasons related to a borrower’s financial difficulties, grant a concession
to the borrower that the Bank would not otherwise grant. The Bank strives to identify borrowers in financial
difficulty early and work with them to modify the terms before their loan reaches nonaccrual status. These modified
terms generally include extensions of maturity dates at a stated interest rate lower than the current market rate for a
new loan with similar risk characteristics, reductions in contractual interest rates or principal deferment. While
unusual, there may be instances of principal forgiveness. These modifications are generally for longer term periods
that would not be considered insignificant.
The following table presents the balances in the ALL and the recorded investment in the loan balances based on
impairment method as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017

Real
Estate

Consumer
& Other
Loans

Commercial
& Industrial

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

Total

Allowance for Loan Losses:
Individually Evaluated for Impairment
Collectively Evaluated for Impairment

$

32
33,335

$

–
288

$

–
1,203

$

–
460

$

32
35,286

Total Loans:
Individually Evaluated for Impairment
Collectively Evaluated for Impairment

$230,875
1,569,757

$ 21
79,978
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215,802
117,462

$
–
470,569

$ 446,698
2,237,766
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(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016

Real
Estate

Consumer
& Other
Loans

Commercial
& Industrial

Obligations
Of States and
Political Sub.

Total

Allowance for Loan Losses:
Individually Evaluated for Impairment
Collectively Evaluated for Impairment
Loans Acquired with Deteriorating Credit
Quality

$

244
32,232
–

$

–
82
–

$

$638,686
1,229,952

$ –
20,770

$

7,290

–

–
1,480
–

$

–
462
–

$

244
34,256
-

Total Loans:
Individually Evaluated for Impairment
Collectively Evaluated for Impairment
Loans Acquired with Deteriorating Credit
Quality

–
372,775

$
–
462,356

$ 638,686
2,085,853

–

–

7,290

The recorded investment in loans excludes accrued interest receivable and loan origination fees.
The following table includes the recorded investment and unpaid principal balance for impaired loans at December
31, 2017 and 2016:
(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017
Loans without a Specific Valuation Allowance
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial and Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Subs

Unpaid Principal
Balance

Total Impaired Loans

Specific
Allowance

$ 229,894
21
215,802
-

$ 229,894
21
215,802
-

$-

981
-

981
-

32
-

230,875
21
215,802
-

230,875
21
215,802
-

32
-

$ 446,698

$ 446,698

$ 32

Loans with a specific valuation allowance
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial and Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Subs
Total by Category
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial and Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Subs

Recorded
Balance
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(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016
Loans without a Specific Valuation Allowance
Real Estate

Unpaid Principal
Balance

Total Impaired Loans

Specific
Allowance

$ 637,925

$ 637,925

761

761

244

638,686

638,686

244

$ 638,686

$ 638,686

$ 244

Loans with a Specific Valuation Allowance
Real Estate
Total by Category
Real Estate

Recorded
Balance

$

–

The following table summarizes investments in loans considered to be impaired and related information on those
impaired loans for the year presented:
(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017

Average Investment
in Impaired Loans

Loans without a Specific Valuation Allowance
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial and Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Subs
Loans with a specific valuation allowance
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial and Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Subs
Total by Category
Real Estate
Consumer
Commercial and Industrial
Obligations of States and Political Subs
Total Impaired Loans
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Estimated Interest
Income Recognized

$ 252,714
64
301,649
-

$6,660
14,932
-

879
-

45
-

253,593
64
301,649
-

6,705
14,932
-

$ 555,306

$ 21,637
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(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016

Average Investment
in Impaired Loans

Loans without a Specific Valuation Allowance
Real Estate
Loans with a Specific Valuation Allowance
Real Estate
Total by Category
Real Estate
Total Impaired Loans

Interest Income
Recognized

$ 573,807

$ 22,548

742

24

574,549

22,572

$ 574,549

$ 22,572

Cash basis interest income recognized materially agrees with interest income recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015.
During the third quarter of 2017, management made two changes to its methodology for calculating the allowance
for loan losses which impacted the provision:
•

The first change involved the methodology for calculating average historic loan loss rates. The
previous methodology of applying front weighted averages to the twelve quarter trailing average
historical loss rate calculation was revised to utilize a simple average of the twelve quarter trailing
average historical loss rate calculation. The Bank believes the simple average properly reflects the
probable losses currently in the portfolio based on loan portfolio composition and loss history.

•

The second change involved the Bank implementing an industry recognized automated platform to be
utilized in calculating the allowance for loan losses. The new platform calculates historical loan loss
rates by utilizing trailing period end quarterly total loan pool balances. The Bank’s previous model for
calculating historical loan loss rates utilized the most recent period end quarterly loan pool balances for
loans collectively evaluated for impairment only. The Bank has determined that the method for
calculating the historical loss percentage under the new platform properly reflects the historic loss
percentage in the portfolio at the time the losses were incurred.
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The following table represents the impact on the provision for loan losses for the year ended December 2017.
(Dollars in Thousands)
Calculated Provision
Based on
Current Methodology
Real Estate

Calculated Provision
Based on
Prior
Methodology

Difference

$42,984

$ 52,063

Consumer & Other Loans

461

520

(59)

Commercial & Industrial

(246)

(5)

(241)

(2)

(2)

-

$ 43,197

$52,576

$ (9,379)

Obligations of State and Political Sub.
Total

$(9,079)

The impact related to these two changes resulted in a decrease of $9.4 million in the provision for loan losses.

Age Analysis of Past-Due Loans by Class
The following table includes an aging analysis of the recorded investment of past-due loans as of December 31,
2017 and 2016. Also included are loans that are 90 days or more past due as to interest and principal and still
accruing because they are 1) well-secured and in the process of collection, or 2) real estate loans or loans exempt
under regulatory rules from being classified as non-accrual.

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017
Real Estate Loans
Consumer Loans
C & I Loans
States and Political Sub.
Total

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016
Real Estate Loans
Consumer Loans
C & I. Loans
States and Political Sub.
Total

Loans
30-59 Days
Past Due

Loans
60-89 Days
Past Due

Loans 90 or
More Days
Past Due

$ 5,288
315
155
-

$ 155
77
6
-

$ 493
59
4

$5,758

$238

$556

Loans
30-59 Days
Past Due

Loans
60-89 Days
Past Due

-

Total
Past Due

Current
Loans

$5,936
451
165
$6,552

Accruing
Loans
More Than 90
Past Due

Non-Accrual
Loans

Total
Loans

$ 1,701,800
79,527
333,099
470,569

$92,896
2
-

$ 1,800,632
79,980
333,264
470,569

$ 493
59
4
-

$2,584,995

$92,898

$2,684,445

$556

Loans 90 or
More Days
Past Due

Total
Past Due

Current
Loans

Non-Accrual
Loans

Total
Loans

Accruing
Loans
More Than 90
Past Due

$ 8,968
171
23
–

$ 190
26
–
–

$ 592
26
–
–

$ 9,750
223
23
–

$ 1,746,716
20,500
372,751
462,356

$ 119,462
1
1
–

$ 1,875,928
20,724
372,775
462,356

$ 592
26
–
–

$ 9,162

$ 216

$ 618

$ 9,996

$ 2,602,323

$ 119,464

$ 2,731,783

$ 618

As of December 31, 2017, there were no nonaccrual or past due loans related to loans held-for-sale.
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NOTE 6 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. We use various valuation techniques to determine fair value, including market, income
and cost approaches. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that an entity has the
ability to access as of the measurement date, or observable inputs.
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, and other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect an entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. When
that occurs, we classify the fair value hierarchy on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. We used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair value:
Securities: The fair values of securities available for sale are determined by obtaining quoted prices on
nationally recognized securities exchanges, if available. This valuation method is classified as Level 1 in
the fair value hierarchy. For securities where quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated on
market prices of similar securities, or matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique, used widely in the
industry to value debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities but
rather by relying on the securities’ relationship to other benchmark quoted securities. Matrix pricing relies
on the securities’ relationship to similarly traded securities, benchmark curves, and the benchmarking of
like securities. Matrix pricing utilizes observable market inputs such as benchmark yields, reported trades,
broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data,
and industry and economic events. In instances where broker quotes are used, these quotes are obtained
from market makers or broker-dealers recognized to be market participants. This valuation method is
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. For securities where quoted prices or market prices of
similar securities are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market
indicators.
Impaired Loans: An impaired loan is evaluated at the time the loan is identified as impaired and is
recorded at fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is measured based on the value of the collateral securing
the loan and is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Fair value is determined using several
methods. Generally, the fair value of real estate is determined based on appraisals by qualified licensed
appraisers. These appraisals may utilize a single valuation approach or a combination of approaches
including comparable sales and the income approach.
Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the appraisers to adjust for differences between
the comparable sales and income data available. These routine adjustments are made to adjust the value of
a specific property relative to comparable properties for variations in qualities such as location, size, and
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income production capacity relative to the subject property of the appraisal. Such adjustments are typically
significant and result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value.
Impaired loans are evaluated quarterly for additional impairment. We obtain updated appraisals on
properties securing our loans when circumstances are warranted such as at the time of renewal or when
market conditions have significantly changed. This determination is made on a property-by-property basis
in light of circumstances in the broader economic climate and our assessment of deterioration of real estate
values in the market in which the property is located. The first stage of our assessment involves
management’s inspection of the property in question. Management also engages in conversations with local
real estate professionals and market participants to determine the likely marketing time and value range for
the property. The second stage involves an assessment of current trends in the regional market. After
thorough consideration of these factors, management will either internally evaluate fair value or order a
new appraisal.
Other Real Estate Owned (“OREO”): OREO is evaluated at the time of acquisition and recorded at fair
value as determined by independent appraisal or internal evaluation less costs to sell and is classified as
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. At December 31, 2017 all OREO assets had been re-evaluated for
impairment using recent appraisals less than 12 months old and are carried on the Bank’s books at fair
value less cost to sell. When marketing OREO assets for sell, staff from the special assets group rely on
current appraised values and local realtor and broker inputs to determine asking prices for the assets.
Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2017 are summarized below:

Available-for-Sale Securities

(Dollars in Thousands)

U.S. Government Agency Securities
Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities
Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities
Asset Backed Securities
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Small Business Administration
States and Political Subdivisions
Corporate Notes
Total

Fair Value at December 31, 2017
Quoted Prices
Significant
in Active
Other
Markets for
Observable
Identical Assets
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)

Carrying
Value

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$ 298,665
60,380
24,908
16,867
61,594
68,260
306,963
109,564

$—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ 298,665
60,380
24,908
16,867
61,594
68,260
306,963
109,564

$—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ 947,201

$—

$ 947,201

—

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2017 or 2016. No financial assets were measured at
fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2016.
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Financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis are summarized below:
(Dollars in Thousands)

December 31, 2017
OREO
Impaired Loans

Level 1
$ –
$ –

Level 2
$ –
$ –

Level 3
$ 39,793
$
949

Fair Value
$ 39,793
$
949

December 31, 2016
OREO
Impaired Loans

Level 1
$ –
$ –

Level 2
$ 3,898
$
–

Level 3
$ 19,660
$
517

Fair Value
$ 23,558
$
517

Impaired loans had a carrying amount of $949 thousand at December 31, 2017 with a valuation allowance of $32
thousand, resulting in $0.2 million reduction in provision for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Impaired loans had a carrying amount of $517 thousand at December 31, 2016 with a valuation allowance of $0.2
million, resulting in $0.3 million reduction in provision for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2016.
OREO, which is measured at the lower of carrying or fair value less costs to sell, had a net carrying amount of $39.8
million as of December 31, 2017, compared with $23.6 million at December 31, 2016, respectively. Write-downs of
$4.7 million were recorded on OREO for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $8.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016, respectively.
The following table summarizes the Bank’s assets that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016:
(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2017
Assets
Impaired Loans
Total Impaired Loans

Fair
Value
$ 949
$ 949

Valuation
Technique
Net Present Value

Unobservable
Inputs
Discount Rate

Other Real Estate Owned
Other Real Estate Owned
Total Other Real Estate Owned

$ 20,491
19,302
$ 39,793

Discounted Appraisals
Appraisals

Discount & Selling Costs
Selling Costs

20.0 – 21.2%
0.0% - 10.0%

21.0%
6.0%

(Dollars in Thousands)
December 31, 2016
Assets
Impaired Loans
Total Impaired Loans

Fair
Value
$517
$ 517

Valuation
Technique
Appraisals

Unobservable
Inputs
Selling Costs

Weighted
Range
6.0%

Average
6.0%

Internal Valuations

Selling Costs

4.0%-8.0%

5.0%

Other Real Estate Owned
Total Other Real Estate Owned

$ 19,660
$ 19,660
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Carrying amount and estimated fair values of financial instruments were as follows for the periods indicated:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Financial Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Securities Available-for-Sale
Loans Held-for-Sale
Portfolio Loans, net of Unearned Income
Accrued Interest Receivable
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits
Accrued Interest Payable

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2017
Carrying
Value
$
268,613
947,201
517
2,684,445
21,271

Level 1
$
58,533
-

Level 2
$
210,080
947,201
6,026

$

$

$

3,669,615
2,202

(Dollars in Thousands)
Financial Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Securities Held-to-Maturity
Portfolio Loans, net of Unearned Income
Accrued Interest Receivable
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits:
Accrued Interest Payable

530,242

3,136,640
2,202

Level 3
$

517
2,667,737
15,245

$

$

-

$

Total
268,613
947,201
517
2,667,737
21,271

3,666,882
2,202

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2016
Carrying
Value
$
694,777
879,694
2,731,783
22,733

Level 1
$
45,211
-

Level 2
$
649,566
885,167
6,157

$

$

$

4,063,839
2,915

534,923
-

3,363,127
2,915

Level 3
$

2,717,020
16,576

$

$

-

$

The methods and assumptions, not previously presented, used to estimate fair values are described as follows:
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying amounts of cash and short-term instruments approximate fair values and are classified as either
Level 1 or Level 2. Non-interest bearing deposits are Level 1 and interest bearing due from bank accounts and
FRB Excess Reserves are Level 2.
(b) Securities
Fair values of investment securities are valued using Level 2 techniques similar to as described earlier for
available-for-sale securities.
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694,777
885,167
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22,733

3,898,050
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(c) Loans Held-for-Sale and Portfolio Loans, Net of Unearned Income
Fair values of loans are estimated as follows: For variable rate loans that reprice frequently and with no
significant change in credit risk, fair values are based on carrying values resulting in a Level 3 classification.
Fair values for other loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using interest rates currently
being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality resulting in a Level 3
classification. Impaired loans are valued at the lower of cost or fair value as described previously. The carrying
value of loans held-for-sale approximates the fair value. Loans held for sale include purchased mortgage loans
from another financial institution with fully executed contracts with an investor. These loans are held until
funded by the investor, typically a two-week period. The methods utilized to estimate the fair value of loans do
not necessarily represent an exit price.
(d) Deposits
The fair values disclosed for non-interest bearing deposits are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on
demand at the reporting date resulting in a Level 1 classification. The carrying amounts of variable rate interest
bearing deposits approximate their fair values at the reporting date resulting in a Level 2 classification. Fair
values for fixed rate interest bearing deposits are estimated using a discounted cash flows calculation that
applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly
maturities on time deposits resulting in a Level 2 classification.
(e) Accrued Interest Receivable/Payable
The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value resulting in a Level 2 or Level 3 classification
based on the level of the asset or liability with which the accrual is associated.
NOTE 7 - PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT
Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation as follows:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Bank Premises (including land of $29,960 on December 31, 2017 and

December 31,
2017
2016
$
86,196
$ 105,868

$38,650 on December 31, 2016)

Furniture and Equipment
Leasehold Improvements
Accumulated Depreciation
Total

$

15,915
658
102,769
(25,496)
77,273

$

13,817
1,062
120,747
(24,141)
96,606

During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Bank marketed for sale 38 retail branch office locations. The real estate was
valued based on recent comparative market values received from a real estate broker and a write-down of $5.3
million was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2017. The net remaining carrying value of $13.7 million is classified
as held-for-sale in other real estate owned in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017. The
disposition of the properties is expected to be completed during 2018.
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The Bank leases offices from non-related parties under various terms. Rental expense for these leases was $142
thousand in 2017, $141 thousand in 2016, and $137 thousand for 2015.
The Bank currently leases 4 offices under operating leases. Two leases, for our Lexington and Amherst offices,
have already been extended into their last renewal periods and expire November 1, 2020 and September 30, 2018,
respectively. The Bank currently leases its Weyers Cave office, whose original term will expire August 31, 2018.
There is an option to the extend the lease for three additional five-year terms. The Bank also leases its Waynesboro
office, whose original term expired July 31, 2007. The lease provides an option to extend for three additional sixyear terms. The lease is currently in its second renewal period.
Future minimum rental payments under these leases are as follows:
Years Ended December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
Total Minimum Lease Payments

$

$

125
86
78
38
38
98
463

NOTE 8 - OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED
The real estate owned activity was as follows:

Beginning Balance
Loans Transferred to Other Real Estate Owned
Loans to Finance the Sale of Other Real Estate Owned
Transfer of Closed Retail Offices to Other Real Estate Owned
Capitalized Expenditures
Direct Write-Downs
Sales of Other Real Estate Owned

Year Ended December 31,
2017
2016
$23,558
$43,422
17,912
610
(7,347)
(7,771)
13,714
372
168
(4,672)
(8,411)
(3,744)
(4,460)

End of Year

$39,793

(Dollars in thousands)

$23,558

2015
$ 43,829
503
(13)
(897)
$43,422

At December 31, 2017, and 2016, the balance of real estate owned includes $26.1 million and $23.6 million,
respectively of foreclosed properties recorded as a result of obtaining physical possession of the asset. At December
31, 2017 and 2016, the recorded investment of foreclosed residential real estate was $315 thousand and $1.0 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the recorded investment of consumer mortgage loans secured by
residential real estate properties for which formal foreclosure proceeds are in process is $384 thousand and zero,
respectively.
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Income and expenses applicable to foreclosed assets include the following:

Provision for Losses
Operating Expenses, net of rental income
Net Loss (Gain) on Sales

Year Ended December 31,
2017
2016
$ 4,672
$ 8,411
343
184
(58)
2,336

Other Real Estate Owned Expense

$4,957

(Dollars in thousands)

$10,931

2015
$ 13
(78)
248
$ 183

NOTE 9 – GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES
In the fourth quarter of 2017, the Bank’s reporting unit had positive equity and the Bank elected to perform a
qualitative assessment to determine if it was more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its
carrying value, including goodwill. The qualitative assessment indicated that it was more likely than not that the
carrying value of the reporting unit exceeded its fair value. Therefore, the Bank proceeded to complete the two-step
impairment test.
Step 1 includes the determination of the carrying value of the reporting unit, including the existing goodwill and
intangible assets, and estimating the fair value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit
exceeds its fair value, we are required to perform a second step to the impairment test.
Our annual impairment analysis as of October 1, 2017, indicated that the Step 2 analysis was necessary. Step 2 of
the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the impairment loss. Step 2 requires that the implied fair value
of the reporting unit goodwill be compared to the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the
reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an
amount equal to that excess. After performing Step 2 it was determined that the implied value of goodwill was
greater than the carrying amount and therefore no impairment was recorded.
Core deposit intangibles resulting from the acquisitions were $61.8 million and were fully amortized in 2015.
The following table presents goodwill as of the dates presented:
(Dollars in Thousands)

Balance as of January 1
Change recorded during the year
Impairment losses

$

Balance as of December 31

$

90

2017
59,762
59,762

$

$

2016
59,762
59,762

CARTER BANK & TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The following table represents the change recorded during the years presented with regards to covenants and
renewal rights, included in other assets, recorded on the Bank’s subsidiary Bank Services Insurance, Inc.
2017

(Dollars in Thousands)

2016

Balance as of January 1
Change recorded during the year
Impairment losses

$

33
89
-

$

66
(33)
-

Balance as of December 31

$

122

$

33

NOTE 10 – DEPOSITS
The following table presents the composition of deposits at December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Noninterest-Bearing Demand
Interest-Bearing Demand
Money Market
Savings
Certificates of Deposits
Total

2017
$ 530,242
260,979
102,686
721,459
2,054,249
$3,669,615

2016
$ 534,923
259,942
182,579
704,147
2,382,248
$4,063,839

$ Change
$ (4,681)
1,037
(79,893)
17,312
(327,999)
$(394,224)

All deposit accounts are insured by the FDIC up to the maximum amount allowed by law. The Dodd-Frank Act,
signed into law on July 21, 2010, makes permanent the $250,000 limit for federal deposit insurance and the
coverage limit applies per depositor, per insured depository institution for each account ownership. Time deposits
that meet or exceed the FDIC Insurance limit of $250,000 at year-end 2017 and 2016 were $188.2 million and
$268.5 million, respectively.
Certificates of Deposit maturing as of December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
TOTAL

$

$

2017
893,403
281,322
494,340
233,054
150,419
1,711
2,054,249

Overdrafts reclassified to loans at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were $2.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively.
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NOTE 11 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Bank has adopted an integrated profit sharing plan. Employees participate in the profit sharing plan following
completion of six (6) months of service and upon reaching the age of twenty years and six months as of January 1.
Vesting is based on years of service to the Bank, with a year being any year an employee works a minimum of 1,000
hours. The following table details the vesting schedule based on years of service for participants:
1 Year of Service
2 Years of Service
3 Years of Service
4 Years of Service
5 Years of Service

0% Vested
20% Vested
40% Vested
60% Vested
100% Vested

Any participant who has reached the age of 62 is fully vested regardless of length of service. Each participant in the
plan (who has not reached age 62) becomes 100% vested after five (5) years of service. The contribution to the plan
is determined each year by the Board of Directors and thus may fluctuate in amount from year to year. The
contribution by the Bank, which includes contributions to the nonqualified plan discussed below, was zero in 2017,
$2,370,000 in 2016, and $2,043,000 in 2015 and these amounts are included in salaries and employee benefits in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
The Bank's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer has participated in the qualified profit sharing plan of the
Bank beginning January 1, 2007 until April 7, 2017. He also participated in the non-qualified plan for highly paid
executives whose contribution to the qualified plan is limited due to IRS regulations. The contribution to the
nonqualified plan is the difference between the amount that would have been allocated to him, in the qualified plan,
if there were no IRS limitation, and the actual amount allocated in the plan after applying the IRS limitation. The
contributions to these plans on the Bank's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer's behalf were zero in 2017,
$81,311 for 2016, and $73,245 for 2015.
Carter Bank & Trust (the “Bank”) entered into a Non-Qualified Profit Sharing Plan originally on December 30,
1996, which was subsequently amended and restated effective December 20, 2007. The purpose of the Plan was to
provide additional benefits to be paid to the Executive upon the occurrence of a Distributable Event, which is either
termination or death. The Board of the Bank approved the amended plan on December 20, 2007. Since inception of
the Plan, the Bank’s former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer was the only Executive who participated in the
Plan. In April 2017, a distributable event occurred, in which distributions will occur over 45 quarterly payments.
The value of the plan was $1,362,068 as of December 31, 2017, and was solely comprised of cash. The quarterly
distributions will begin on January 1, 2018 and will be paid out in equal quarterly installments of $30,268.
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NOTE 12 - FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES
The components of the (benefit) provision for income tax expense were as follows:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Current
Deferred
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision

2017
$(7,160)
(10,371)
$ (17,531)

2016
$ 7,477
(5,832)
$ 1,645

2015
$12,524
(2,283)
$10,241

The following is a reconciliation of the differences between the (benefit) provision for income taxes and the amount
computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% that was effective for the years ended December
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 to income before taxes:
2017
(Dollars in Thousands)
Federal Income Tax at Statutory Rate
Tax Exempt Interest, net of disallowance
Federal Tax Credits, net of basis reduction
Enactment of Federal Tax Reform
Other
Income Tax (Benefit) Provision and
Effective Income Tax Rate

2016

2015

Amount
$(6,374)
(5,173)
(5,868)
2,798
(2,914)

Percent
35.0%
28.4%
32.2%
(15.4)%
16.1%

Amount
$ 6,168
(4,812)
(1,907)
2,196

Percent
35.0%
(27.3)%
(10.8)%
-%
12.4%

Amount
$ 17,290
(4,732)
(3,303)
986

Percent
35.0%
(9.6)%
(6.7)%
-%
2.0%

$ (17,531)

96.3%

$ 1,645

9.3%

$ 10,241

20.7%

On December 22, 2017, H.R.1, commonly known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”), was signed into law.
The Act includes many provisions that will affect our income tax expense, including reducing our federal tax rate
from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. As a result of the rate reduction, we are required to re-measure, through
income tax expense in the period of enactment, our deferred tax assets and liabilities using the enacted rate at which
we expect them to be recovered or settled. The re-measurement of our net deferred tax asset resulted in additional
income tax expense of $2.8 million.
Also on December 22, 2017, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) released Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) to address any uncertainty or diversity of views in practice in accounting for the
income tax effects of the Act in situations where a registrant does not have the necessary information available,
prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete this accounting in the reporting period that includes the
enactment date. SAB 118 allows for a measurement period not to extend beyond one year from the Act’s enactment
date to complete the necessary accounting.
We recorded provisional amounts of deferred income taxes using reasonable estimates in one area where
information necessary to complete the accounting was not available, prepared, or analyzed. Our deferred tax asset
for temporary differences associated with equity investments in partnerships is awaiting receipt of Schedules K-1
from outside preparers, which is necessary to determine our 2017 tax impact from these investments.
We will complete and record the income tax effects of these provisional items during the period the necessary
information becomes available. This measurement period will not extend beyond December 22, 2018.
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Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income or the existence of
sufficient taxable income within the carry-back period. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely
than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In assessing the need for a valuation
allowance, management considers the scheduled reversal of the deferred tax liabilities, the level of historical taxable
income, and the projected future taxable income over the periods in which the temporary differences comprising the
deferred tax assets will be deductible. Based on its assessment, management recorded a valuation allowance on
deferred tax assets related to its equity investment in partnerships that will generate capital losses upon exiting the
investment. The Bank has not identified prudent and feasible strategies to generate future capital gains to offset the
capital losses. Management has determined that it is more likely than not that all other deferred tax assets will be
realized in future periods so no additional valuation allowance is necessary at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amount used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Bank’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
(Dollars in Thousands)
Deferred Tax Assets
Allowance for Loan Losses
Net Unrealized Loss on Available-for-Sale Securities
Acquisition-Related Fair Value Adjustments
Valuation Adjustments on Other Real Estate Owned
Tax Credit Carryforwards
Equity Investment in Partnerships
Other
Gross Deferred Tax Assets
Less Valuation Allowance
Total Deferred Tax Assets

2017
$7,465
599
1,154
1,281
7,070
2,019
505
20,093
(2,021)
$18,072

2016
$12,185
1,900
3,593
810
18,488
(348)
$18,140

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Fixed Asset Depreciation
Equity Investment in Partnerships
Other
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities
Net Deferred Tax Assets

2017
$(6,482)
(255)
(6,737)
$11,335

2016
$(14,910)
(1,224)
(2,037)
(18,171)
$(31)

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Bank had no ASC 740-10 unrecognized tax benefits or accrued interest and
penalties recorded. The Bank does not expect the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase
within the next twelve months. The Bank recognizes interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits in income
tax expense.
The Bank is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as various other state and local jurisdictions. The Bank is
generally no longer subject to examination by federal, state and local taxing authorities for years prior to December
31, 2014.
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NOTE 13 - OFF BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES AND COMMITMENTS
Commitments to extend credit, which amounted to $278.7 million at December 31, 2017 and $264.0 million at
December 31, 2016, represent agreements to lend to customers with fixed expiration dates or other termination
clauses. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being funded, the total commitment
amounts do not necessarily represent future liquidity requirements. Standby letters of credit are conditional
commitments issued by the Bank guaranteeing the performance of a customer to a third party. Those guarantees are
primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. The Bank had outstanding letters of credit
totaling $38.7 million in 2017 and $32.4 million in 2016.
Our exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for
commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of those
instruments. The Bank uses the same credit policies in making commitments and unconditional obligations as it does
for on-balance-sheet instruments. Unless noted otherwise, collateral or other security is required to support financial
instruments with credit risk.
Our allowance for unfunded commitments is determined using a methodology similar to that used to determine the
ALL. Amounts are added to the allowance for unfunded commitments through a charge to current earnings in
noninterest expense. The balance in the allowance for unfunded commitments was $0.1 million at December 31,
2017.
NOTE 14 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In the ordinary course of business, directors and their related interests were customers of, and had transactions with
the Bank. Loan transactions with directors and officers, principal security holders and associates were made on
substantially the same terms as those prevailing at the time for comparable loans to other persons and did not
involve more than normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features. A summary of these
transactions is presented below:
2017
$

(Dollars in Thousands)
Beginning Balance
New Loans
Repayments
Total

$

2016
17,409
1,352
(3,386)
15,375

$

$

19,271
2,619
(4,481)
17,409

Total deposit dollars from executive officers, directors, and their related interests at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, were $3.5 million and $6.1 million.
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NOTE 15 - CAPITAL ADEQUACY
Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking
agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations, involve
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items calculated under regulatory
accounting practices. Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgements by regulators.
Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action. The final rules implementing Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision's capital guidelines for U.S. banks (Basel III rules) became effective for the Bank on January 1,
2015 with full compliance with all of the requirements being phased in over a multi-year schedule, and fully phased
in by January 1, 2019. As part of the new requirements, the common equity tier 1 Capital ratio is calculated and
utilized in the assessment of capital for all institutions. Under the Basel III rules, the Bank must hold a capital
conservation buffer above the adequately capitalized risk-based capital ratios. The capital conservation buffer is
being phased in beginning January 1, 2016, at 0.625%, increasing each year until reaching 2.50% on January 1,
2019. The net unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale securities is not included in computing regulatory capital.
Management believes as of December 31, 2017, the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are
subject.
Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications, well capitalized, adequately capitalized,
undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to
represent overall financial condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is required to accept brokered
deposits. If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset growth and expansion, and capital
restoration plans are required. At year-end 2017 and 2016, the most recent regulatory notifications categorized the
Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or
events since that notification that management believes have changed the institutions category.

(Dollars in Thousands)
December, 31 2017
Leverage Ratio
Common Equity Tier 1 (to Risk-Weighted
Assets)
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets)
Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets)
December, 31 2016
Leverage Ratio
Common Equity Tier 1 (to Risk-Weighted
Assets)
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets)
Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets)

Actual
Amount

Minimum
Capital Required
Basel III
Phase-In Schedule
Amount
Ratio

Ratio

Minimum
Capital Required
Basel III
Fully Phased-In
Amount
Ratio

To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Regulations
Amount
Ratio

$ 374,506

9.33%

$ 160,590

4.00%

$ 160,590

4.00%

$ 200,738

5.00%

374,506
374,506
409,972

12.93%
12.93%
14.15%

166,566
210,018
267,954

5.75%
7.25%
9.25%

202,776
246,228
304,164

7.00%
8.50%
10.50%

188,292
231,744
289,680

6.50%
8.00%
10.00%

$ 374,855

8.10%

$ 185,183

4.00%

$ 185,183

4.00%

$ 231,479

5.00%

374,855
374,855
409,355

12.22%
12.22%
13.35%

157,358
203,369
264,717

5.13%
6.63%
8.63%

214,718
260,729
322,077

7.00%
8.50%
10.50%

199,381
245,392
306,740

6.50%
8.00%
10.00%
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NOTE 16 - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)
The following summarizes the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31:
(Dollars in Thousands)
2017
Total Interest Income
Total Interest Expense
Net Interest Income
Provision for Loan Losses
Net Interest Income after Provision for Loan Losses
Total Non-Interest Income
Total Non-Interest Expense
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

First
Quarter
$
36,268
9,844
26,424
3,880
22,544
2,947
17,719
7,772
1,470

Second
Quarter
$
35,962
9,476
26,486
12,742
13,744
2,521
20,483
(4,218)
(2,735)

Third
Quarter
$
34,906
9,122
25,784
13,890
11,894
3,930
20,819
(4,995)
(4,566)

Fourth
Quarter
$
36,453
8,669
27,784
12,685
15,099
3,429
35,299
(16,771)
(11,700)

Net Income (Loss)

$

6,302

$

(1,483)

$

(429)

$

(5,071)

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

$

0.24

$

(0.06)

$

(0.02)

$

(0.19)

2016
Total Interest Income
Total Interest Expense
Net Interest Income
Provision for Loan Losses
Net Interest Income after Provision for Loan Losses
Total Non-Interest Income
Total Non-Interest Expense
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision (Benefit)
Net Income (Loss)

First
Quarter
$
37,817
12,043
25,774
975
24,799
3,325
16,794
11,330
3,000
$
8,330

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

$

2015
Total Interest Income
Total Interest Expense
Net Interest Income
Provision for Loan Losses
Net Interest Income after Provision for Loan Losses
Total Non-Interest Income
Total Non-Interest Expense
Income Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision
Net Income

First
Quarter
$
37,658
11,238
26,420
825
25,595
3,459
17,885
11,169
2,719
$
8,450

Second
Quarter
$
38,073
11,739
26,334
825
25,509
3,814
17,358
11,965
3,030
$
8,935

Third
Quarter
$
38,057
12,256
25,801
825
24,976
3,463
15,848
12,591
3,110
$
9,481

Fourth
Quarter
$
38,589
12,564
26,025
825
25,200
3,949
15,475
13,674
1,382
$
12,292

Net Income Per Share

$

$

$

$

97

0.32

0.32

$

Second
Quarter
37,172
12,031
25,141
975
24,166
2,635
18,909
7,892
1,610
6,282

$

0.24

$

0.34

$

Third
Quarter
36,881
11,579
25,302
3,214
22,088
2,840
18,721
6,207
975
5,232

$

Fourth
Quarter
35,552
10,729
24,823
12,553
12,270
3,694
23,769
(7,805)
(3,940)
(3,865)

$

0.20

$

(0.15)

$

0.36

$

0.47

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Carter Bank & Trust
Martinsville, Virginia
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Carter Bank & Trust and subsidiaries’ (the
“Bank”) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017,
and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion,
the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as of December 31,
2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the Bank's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013, and our report dated March 15, 2018 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Bank’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Bank in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ YOUNT, HYDE & BARBOUR, P.C.
We have served as the Bank's auditor since 2012.
Roanoke, Virginia
March 15, 2018
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Carter Bank & Trust
Martinsville, Virginia
Opinion on the Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited Carter Bank & Trust and subsidiaries’ (the “Bank”) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013. In our opinion, the Bank
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements of the
Bank and our report dated March 15, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion.
Basis for Opinion
The Bank’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Bank’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Bank in accordance with U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
An entity's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. An entity's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the entity; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
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or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the entity's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
/s/ YOUNT, HYDE & BARBOUR, P.C.
Roanoke, Virginia
March 15, 2018
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Bank maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide assurance that information
required to be disclosed by the Bank in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods required by the Securities and Exchange
Commission and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Bank’s management including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Bank’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report was carried out under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including the Bank’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on
the evaluation, the aforementioned officers concluded that the Bank’s disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of such period.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of the Bank is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Bank’s internal control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Bank’s financial
reporting and the preparation of published financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2017. In making this assessment, management used the 2013 criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on
management’s assessment, management believes that as of December 31, 2017, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective based on criteria set forth by COSO in its 2013 Internal Control-Integrated
Framework.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, Yount, Hyde & Barbour, P.C., has issued an attestation report on
the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting which appears in Item 8.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
For the period ended December 31, 2016, we disclosed a material weakness in internal control over financial
reporting as described in our 2016 Form 10-K, related to the process of estimating the allowance for loan losses. In
response to this material weakness, the Bank implemented changes to its internal control over financial reporting
during the quarter ended December 31, 2017, including changes to controls over review and accuracy of impairment
calculations on impaired loans; controls over the accuracy of data used to develop historical loss factors; controls
over identifying risk rating changes on loans: and controls over independent validation of the allowance
calculation. The Bank concluded that the material weakness has been fully remediated as of December 31, 2017.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by Part III, Item 10 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein from the sections entitled
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”, “Election of Directors”, “Executive Officers of the
Registrant” and “Corporate Governance and Board and Committee Meetings” in our proxy statement relating to our
June 27, 2018 annual meeting of shareholders.
The Bank has adopted a Code of Ethics (the “Code”) that applies to its directors, executive officers and employees
and is available on the Bank’s website at www.carterbankandtrust.com under “Investor Relations.” The Bank
intends to provide any required disclosure of any amendment to or waiver of the Code that applies to its principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions, on www.carterbankandtrust.com under “Investor Relations” promptly following the amendment or
waiver. The Bank may elect to disclose any such amendment or waiver in a report on Form 8-K filed with the FDIC
either in addition to or in lieu of the website disclosure. The information contained on or connected to the Bank’s
website is not incorporated by reference in this report and should not be considered part of this or any other report
that we file or furnish to the FDIC.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by Part III, Item 11 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein from the sections entitled
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis;” “Executive Compensation;” “Director Compensation;” “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”; and “Compensation Committee Report” in our proxy statement
relating to our June 27, 2018 annual meeting of shareholders.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Except as set forth below, the information required by Part III, Item 12 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein from
the sections entitled “Principal Beneficial Owners of Carter Bank & Trust Common Stock” and “Beneficial
Ownership of Carter Bank & Trust Common Stock by Directors and Officers” in our proxy statement relating to our
June 27, 2018 annual meeting of shareholders.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE
The information required by Part III, Item 13 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein from the sections entitled
“Related Person Transactions” and “Director Independence” in our proxy statement relating to our June 27, 2018
annual meeting of shareholders.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by Part III, Item 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated herein from the section entitled
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our proxy statement relating to our June 27, 2018 annual
meeting of shareholders.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report.
Consolidated Financial Statements: The following consolidated financial statements are included in Part II, Item 8
of this Report. No financial statement schedules are being filed because the required information is inapplicable or is
presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements or related notes.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

53

Consolidated Statements of Income

54

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income

55

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

56

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

57

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

59

Report of Yount, Hyde & Barbour, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, on Consolidated
Financial Statements

98

Report of Yount, Hyde & Barbour, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, on Effectiveness of
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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(b) Exhibits
3.1

Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Bank’s Form
8-A filed with the FDIC February 23, 2007)

3.2

Amended and Restated (as adopted by the Board of Directors on June 21, 2017)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Bank’s Form 8-K filed with the FDIC
June 26, 2017)

10.1*

Qualified Profit Sharing Plan of Carter Bank & Trust (formerly the Qualified Profit
Sharing Plan of each of the Merged Banks and MCOV) (incorporated by reference to
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Exhibit 10.1 to the Bank’s 2006 Form 10K filed with the FDIC July 6, 2007)
10.2*

Nonqualified Profit Sharing Plan of Carter Bank & Trust (formerly the Nonqualified
Profit Sharing Plan of MCOV) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Bank’s
2006 Form 10K filed with the FDIC July 6, 2007)

10.3*

31.1

Employment Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2017, by and between Carter Bank &
Trust and Wendy S. Bell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Bank’s Form
8-K filed with the FDIC June 20, 2017)
Employment Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2017, by and between Carter Bank
& Trust and Litz Van Dyke (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Bank’s
Form 8-K filed with the FDIC October 3, 2017)
Employment Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2017, by and between Carter Bank
& Trust and Phyllis Q. Karavatakis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Bank’s Form 8-K filed with the FDIC October 3, 2017)
Employment Agreement, dated as of September 29, 2017, by and between Carter Bank
& Trust and Jane Ann Davis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Bank’s
Form 8-K filed with the FDIC October 3, 2017)
Employment Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2017, by and between Carter Bank &
Trust and Bradford N. Langs (Filed herewith)
Employment Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2017, by and between Carter Bank &
Trust and Matthew M. Speare (Filed herewith)
Certification by principal executive officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

31.2

Certification by principal financial officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

32.1

Certification by principal executive officer pursuant to 8 U.S.C. §1350

32.2

Certification by principal financial officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*
10.8*

* Denotes management contract.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Not applicable
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
CARTER BANK & TRUST
(Registrant)
By:
/s/Litz H. Van Dyke
Name: Litz H. Van Dyke
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 15, 2018
By:
/s/ Wendy S. Bell
Name: Wendy S. Bell
Title: Executive VP & Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 15, 2018

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By:
/s/ James W. Haskins
Name: James W. Haskins
Title: Chairman of the Board
Date: March 15, 2018

By:
/s/ Litz H. Van Dyke
Name: Litz H. Van Dyke
Title: Director and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 15, 2018

By:
/s/ Phyllis Q. Karavatakis
Name: Phyllis Q. Karavatakis
Title: Vice Chairman and President and Chief
Banking Officer
Date: March 15, 2018

By: /s/Michael R. Bird
Name: Michael R. Bird
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018

By:
Name: Robert W. Conner
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018

By: /s/ Gregory W. Feldnann
Name: Gregory W. Feldmann
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018

By: /s/Chester A. Gallimore
Name: Chester A. Gallimore
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018

By: /s/ Charles E. Hall
Name: Charles E. Hall
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018
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By:
/s/ Lanny A. Kyle, O.D.
Name: Lanny A. Kyle, O.D.
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018
By:
/s /E. Warren Matthews
Name: E. Warren Matthews
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018

By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

By:
Name: George W. Lester, II
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018
By: /s/ Catherine L. Midkiff
Name: Catherine L. Midkiff
Title: Director
Date: March 15, 2018

/s/ Joseph E. Pigg
Joseph E. Pigg
Director
March 15, 2018
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF MAY 31, 2017, BY AND BETWEEN CARTER
BANK & TRUST AND BRADFORD N. LANGS

Exhibit 10.7

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of this 31 day of
May 2017, is made by and between Carter Bank & Trust (“Employer”) and Bradford N. Langs (“Executive”) and is
effective as of June 19, 2017 (the “Effective Date”).
WHEREAS, Employer wishes to hire Executive as a key executive of Employer and it is the desire of
Employer to have the benefit of his continued loyalty and service; and
WHEREAS, Executive wishes to be in the employ of Employer on the terms and subject to the conditions
set forth herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein the parties
agree as follows:

1.

Employment and Duties.

(a)
Executive shall be employed as Chief Strategy Officer of Employer (the “Position”) on
the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement. Executive accepts such employment and agrees to
perform the duties and responsibilities of the Position, as may be assigned to Executive by the Chief Executive
Officer or Board of Directors of Employer.
(b)
Executive shall devote his best efforts and full time to rendering services on behalf of
Employer in furtherance of its best interests. Executive shall comply with all policies, standards and regulations of
Employer now or hereafter promulgated, and shall perform his duties under this Agreement to the best of his
abilities and in accordance with the ethics and standards of conduct applicable to employees in the banking industry.

2.
Term. The Term (as defined below) of this Agreement is effective as of the Effective Date and
will continue through the earlier of (i) [insert date] (the “Initial Term”) or (ii) the date this Agreement otherwise
terminates pursuant to Section 6 or Section 16 below; provided, however, that, at the end of the Initial Term, if this
Agreement has not been previously terminated pursuant to Section 6 or Section 16 below, this Agreement shall be
automatically extended for a one-year term (a “Renewal Term”), commencing at the end of the Initial Term, unless
either party gives written notice of non-renewal no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the Initial Term.
This Agreement shall continue to be further extended for an additional one-year term at the end of each Renewal
Term, unless either party gives written notice of non-renewal no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the
applicable Renewal Term. During the Initial Term or any Renewal Term, this Agreement may be terminated at any
time pursuant to Section 6 or Section 16 below. The term of this Agreement, including all Renewal Terms, if any, is
referred to herein as the “Term.”
3.

Compensation.

(a)
Base Salary. During the Term, Employer shall cause Executive to be paid an annual
base salary of $297,500, paid in equal installments to Executive in accordance with Employer’s established payroll
practices (but no less frequently than monthly). Employer’s Board of Directors or its designee, in its discretion,
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may increase Executive's base salary during the Term. Employer shall withhold state and federal income taxes,
social security taxes and such other payroll deductions as may from time to time be required by law or agreed upon
in writing by Executive and Employer. Employer shall also withhold and remit to the proper party any amounts
agreed to in writing by Employer and Executive for participation in any corporate sponsored benefit plans for which
a contribution is required.

(b)

Bonuses.

(i)
Executive shall receive only such annual bonuses, if any, as the Board of
Directors or its designee, in its sole discretion, decides to pay to Executive. Any such bonus shall be paid
annually by March 15 of the year following the fiscal year for which performance is being evaluated.
(ii)
Executive shall receive a signing bonus in the total amount of One Hundred
Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($125,000), less applicable withholdings, payable as follows: (A) a payment
of $50,000, less applicable withholdings, in the first regular payroll after the Effective Date; and (B) a
payment of $75,000, less applicable withholdings, in the first regular payroll after January 1, 2018. In the
event that Executive is terminated with Cause (defined below) or resigns without Good Reason (defined
below) within twelve months of receiving the payment referenced in (ii)(A) or (ii)(B), or both, he must repay
in full to Employer the sum(s) paid to him, immediately upon demand.
(iii)
Subject to the conditions set forth herein, Executive will receive an incentive
award (“Award”) to be settled in cash in an amount that is calculated by determining the product of the
following: (A) the total number of shares of Employer’s common stock (“Stock”) that could be purchased
for Eighty-Five Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($85,500) on the Effective Date, based on the average
trading price for all trades of the Stock during the thirty (30) day period preceding the Effective Date,
multiplied by (B) the average trade price per single share of the Stock for the thirty (30) day period
immediately preceding the third anniversary of the Effective Date. This Award shall not vest until the third
anniversary of the Effective Date and shall be payable in cash in the first regular payroll after vesting (the
“payment date”), subject to all applicable withholdings, and conditioned upon Executive’s continued
employment on the payment date; provided, however, that if Executive is terminated with Cause (defined
below) or resigns without Good Reason (defined below) prior to the fourth anniversary of the Effective Date,
Executive must repay the Award to Employer, in full, immediately upon demand.

(c)
Equity Awards. Executive may be eligible to receive equity awards from Employer, in
such manner and subject to such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors or its designee, in its sole discretion,
may determine, if at all.
(d)
Housing Allowance. Employer will provide Executive the sum of $1,500 per month as a
temporary housing allowance to offset such expenses, for a period of up to six months from the Effective Date. This
housing allowance will be included in Executive’s regular payroll payments, but will be grossed up so that the
payment will be effectively net of taxes. The housing allowance will cease prior to the end of six months
immediately upon the closing by Executive of a residential purchase.
(e)

Moving Expenses. Employer agrees to reimburse Executive up to a maximum of Twenty
Thousand Dollars ($20,000) for reasonable moving expenses incurred by Executive in connection with moving his
household goods from his current residence to his new residence located in the Martinsville, Virginia area.
Reasonable moving expenses would include up to 90 days of temporary storage of household goods. Expenses will
be reimbursed based upon submission of actual receipts for related expenses. In the event Executive’s employment
with Employer terminates based on his resignation without “Good Reason” (defined below) or a termination for
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“Cause” (defined below) prior to the 12-month anniversary of the Effective Date, Executive shall refund a prorated
portion of the moving expenses provided by the Company. This refund will be calculated as follows: total moving
expenses paid/12 x the number of months remaining before the first year anniversary equals the repayment amount .

(f)

Clawback. Executive agrees that any incentive compensation that Executive receives
from Employer or a related entity shall be subject to repayment (i.e., clawback) to Employer or such related entity
to the extent required under any repayment or clawback policy adopted by the Board of Directors in the future.

(g)
COBRA Reimbursement. Employer will provide Executive with a $1,500 per month
COBRA reimbursement payment for a period of three months following the Effective Date. This payment will be
included in Executive’s regular payroll payments, but will be grossed up so that the payment will be effectively net
of taxes.
(h)

Automobile Allowance. Employer will provide Executive the sum of $500 per month as
an automobile allowance. This allowance will be included in Executive’s regular payroll payments, but will be
grossed up so that the payment will be effectively net of taxes.

4.

Benefits.

(a)
Corporate Benefit Plans. Executive shall be entitled to participate in or become a
participant in any employee benefit plan maintained by Employer for which he is or will become eligible on such
terms as the Board of Directors or its designee may, in its discretion, establish, modify or otherwise change.
(b)
Personal Time Off. Executive shall be entitled to four weeks (20 business days) of paid
time off (“PTO”) each year (or such greater annual number of days allowed under Employer’s PTO policy) which
shall be taken in accordance with Employer’s PTO Policy.

5.
Reimbursement of Expenses. Executive shall be reimbursed upon Executive’s incurring reasonable
and customary business expenses in connection with the performance of his duties, subject to presentation of adequate
substantiation, including receipts, for the reasonable business travel, entertainment, lodging, and other business
expenses incurred by Executive. In no event will such reimbursements be made later than the last day of the calendar
month following the calendar month in which Executive submits the request for payment of the reimbursable
expense, which shall be submitted no later than sixty (60) days after the expense is incurred.
6.

Termination of Employment.

(a)
Death or Incapacity. Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall terminate
automatically upon Executive’s death. Executive’s spouse, if she survives Executive, or, if not, Executive’s estate
shall receive (i) any unpaid base salary which otherwise would be payable to Executive through the date of
termination payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively feasible following termination, but not later than
thirty (30) days thereafter; (ii) any annual bonus compensation earned and awarded pursuant to Section 3(b)(i)
above, but not yet paid as of the date of termination, payable on the earlier of (A) the thirtieth (30th) day after the
date of termination, or (B) when otherwise due; (iii) any benefits vested, due and owing pursuant to the terms of
any other plans, policies or programs, payable when otherwise due (hereinafter subsections (i) – (iii) collectively
are referred to as the “Accrued Obligations”). Executive’s spouse, if she survives Executive, or, if not, Executive’s
estate shall also receive an amount equal to Executive’s base salary from the date of his death through the end of
the month in which his death occurs, payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively feasible following his
death, but not later than thirty (30) days thereafter. If Employer determines that Incapacity (as defined below) of
Executive has occurred, it may terminate Executive’s employment and this Agreement upon ninety (90) days’
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written notice, provided that, within ninety (90) days after receipt of such notice, Executive shall not have returned
to full-time performance of Executive’s assigned duties. In the event of a termination due to “Incapacity,”
Employer shall pay the Accrued Obligations to Executive. For purposes of this Agreement, “Incapacity” shall
occur if (i) Executive is unable to perform the material functions of his position for thirteen (13) consecutive weeks
and is then deemed to be permanently unable to continue in the Position by a physician selected by Employer or its
insurer, and acceptable to Executive or his legal representative, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
or (ii) Executive is deemed disabled as defined in the policy of disability insurance maintained by Employer for the
benefit of Executive (and others if a group policy). Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement,
Employer shall comply with all requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Further, if Executive’s
employment is terminated due to death or “Incapacity,” then no payments (other than the Accrued Obligations and
spousal death benefit described above) shall be owed or paid, including those under Section 7(a) or Section 9(a).

(b)
Termination by Employer With or Without Cause. Employer may terminate Executive’s
employment at any time during the Term of this Agreement, with or without notice (unless otherwise required
herein) and with or without Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean:
(i)

Executive’s willful misconduct in connection with the performance of Executive’s duties;

(ii) Executive’s misappropriation or embezzlement of funds or material property of
Employer or any affiliate;
(iii)

Executive’s fraud or dishonesty with respect to Employer or any affiliate;

(iv) Executive’s failure to perform any of the material duties and responsibilities required by
the Position (other than by reason of Incapacity), or Executive’s failure to follow reasonable instructions or
policies of Employer, in either case after being advised in writing of such failure and being given a
reasonable opportunity and period (as determined by Employer in its reasonable business judgment) to
remedy such failure (if such breach or violation is capable of being remedied), which period shall be not
less than thirty (30) days;
(v)
Executive’s conviction of, indictment for (or the procedural equivalent), or entering of a
guilty plea or plea of no contest with respect to any felony or any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude;
(vi)

Executive’s breach of a material term of this Agreement, or violation in any material
respect of any policy, code or standard of behavior or ethics generally applicable to officers of Employer,
after being advised in writing of such breach or violation and being given a reasonable opportunity and
period (as determined by Employer in its reasonable business judgment) to remedy such breach or
violation (if such breach or violation is capable of being remedied), which period shall be not less than
thirty (30) days;

(vii) Executive’s willful violation of any final cease and desist order;
(viii) Executive’s breach of any fiduciary duty owed to Employer or its affiliates; or
(ix)

Executive’s engaging in conduct that, if it became known by any regulatory or
governmental agency or the public, would be or is reasonably likely to result, in the good faith judgment
of Employer, in material injury to Employer, monetarily or otherwise.
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(c)
Termination by Executive for Good Reason. Executive may terminate employment for
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean:

(i)
The assignment of duties to Executive by Employer which result in Executive having
materially less authority or responsibility than he has on the Effective Date, without his express written
consent;
(ii) Requiring Executive to maintain his principal office outside of the City of Martinsville,
Virginia or any contiguous counties unless Employer moves its principal executive offices to the place to
which Executive is required to move; or
(iii)

A failure to pay Executive his base salary when due.

Executive is required to provide written notice to Employer detailing the existence of a condition described above in
this Section 6(c) within a thirty (30) day period after the initial existence of the condition, and Employer shall have
thirty (30) days after notice to remedy the condition without liability. In addition to the foregoing requirements, to
trigger payment under this Section 6(c), Executive must also terminate employment within ninety (90) days after the
initial occurrence of the event constituting “Good Reason” and Employer must have been allowed the full
opportunity to cure, as set forth above.
Notwithstanding the above, “Good Reason” shall not include any resignation by Executive where Cause for
Executive’s termination by Employer exists under Section 6(b), or there is an isolated, insubstantial or inadvertent
action by Employer (provided that such action is remedied by Employer after written notice by Executive), and
shall not include any action by Employer taken before the Effective Date of this Agreement.
(d)
Other. Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated voluntarily by Executive
without Good Reason upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to Employer or at any time by mutual agreement in
writing. In the event of such voluntary termination notice by Executive without Good Reason, Employer may
terminate Executive’s employment prior to the expiration of the notice period without incurring any liability under
Section 7, and Employer shall be required only to pay Executive’s base salary through the termination date (with
such payment to be made in accordance with Employer’s established payroll practices), plus any Accrued
Obligations (as defined Section 6(a)).

7.

Obligations Upon Termination.

(a)
Without Cause or for Good Reason. If either Employer terminates Executive’s
employment without Cause or Executive terminates his employment for Good Reason during the Term, Executive
shall be entitled to receive, subject to any applicable delay set forth in Section 19 below:

(i)

The Accrued Obligations (as defined in Section 6(a)); and

(ii) Subject to Executive's signing, delivering and not revoking the Release attached as
Exhibit A, which Release must be signed, delivered and not revoked within the period set forth in the
Release:
(A) A payment in a monthly amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of his annual base salary
in effect immediately preceding such termination for twelve (12) months, payable in accordance with
Employer’s established payroll practices (but no less frequently than monthly), provided that the amounts
Executive would otherwise have received during the sixty (60) days after Executive's termination had the
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payments begun immediately after Executive's termination of employment shall be paid in a lump sum on
the sixtieth (60th) day after Executive's termination of employment (the “Severance Benefit”); and
(B) For twelve (12) months after the date of termination, Executive shall receive
coverage under all employee health insurance programs or plans (medical, dental and vision) (“Health Care
Plans”) in which Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents were entitled to participate
immediately prior to such termination, with Employer paying the employer portion of the premium therefor
(the “Heath Care Continuance Benefit”), provided that the continued participation of Executive and/or his
spouse and any of his dependents is possible under the general terms and provisions of the Health Care
Plans. If Employer cannot maintain such coverage for Executive or his spouse or dependents under the
terms and provisions of the Health Care Plans (or where such continuation would adversely affect the tax
status of the Health Care Plans pursuant to which the coverage is provided), Employer shall provide the
Health Care Continuance Benefit by either providing substantially identical benefits directly or through an
insurance arrangement or by paying Executive the estimated cost of the expected premium for twelve (12)
months after the date of termination with such payments to be made in accordance with Employer’s
established payroll practices (but no less frequently than monthly) for employees generally for the period
during which such cash payments are to be provided. To the extent allowed by applicable law, the 12month Health Care Continuance Benefit period shall run concurrently with the period for which Executive
and/or his spouse and any of his dependents would be eligible for continuation coverage under the
Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1985 (the “COBRA Period”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in addition to Employer’s remedies set forth in Section 8(e), all such payments
and benefits under Section 7(a) otherwise to be made after Executive’s termination of employment shall cease to be
paid, and Employer shall have no further obligation with respect thereto, in the event Executive, without the consent
of Employer, breaches or engages in any activity prohibited in Section 8 or any of its sub-parts.

(b)
For Cause; Other Than for Good Reason. If Executive’s employment is terminated for
Cause or if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason, this Agreement shall
terminate without any further obligation of Employer to Executive other than the payment to Executive of the
Accrued Obligations.
8.

Covenants of Executive.

(a)
Confidentiality. As an employee of Employer, Executive will have access to and may
participate in the origination of non-public, proprietary and confidential information relating to Employer and/or its
affiliates and Executive acknowledges a fiduciary duty owed to Employer and its affiliates not to disclose any such
information. Confidential information may include, but is not limited to, trade secrets, customer lists and
information, internal corporate planning, methods of marketing and operation, and other data or information of or
concerning Employer and its affiliates or their customers that is not generally known to the public or generally in
the banking industry. Executive agrees that for a period of five (5) years following the cessation of employment,
Executive will not use or disclose to any third party any such confidential information, either directly or indirectly,
except as may be authorized in writing specifically by Employer; provided, however that to the extent the
information covered by this Section 8 is otherwise protected by the law, such as “trade secrets,” as defined by the
Virginia Uniform Trade Secrets Act, or customer information protected by banking privacy laws, that information
shall not be disclosed or used for however long the legal protections applicable to such information remain in
effect.
Nothing in this Agreement restricts or prohibits Executive or Executive’s counsel from initiating
communications directly with, responding to any inquiry from, volunteering information to, or providing testimony
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before a self-regulatory authority or a governmental, law enforcement or other regulatory authority, including the
U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations Board,
the Department of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority,
the Congress, and any Office of Inspector General (collectively, the “Regulators”), from participating in any
reporting of, investigation into, or proceeding regarding suspected violations of law, or from making other
disclosures that are protected under or from receiving an award for information provided under the whistleblower
provisions of state or federal law or regulation. Executive does not need the prior authorization of Employer to
engage in such communications with the Regulators, respond to such inquiries from the Regulators, provide
confidential information or documents containing confidential information to the Regulators, or make any such
reports or disclosures to the Regulators. Executive is not required to notify Employer that Executive has engaged in
such communications with the Regulators. Executive recognizes and agrees that, in connection with any such
activity outlined above, Executive must inform the Regulators that the information Executive is providing is
confidential.
Federal law provides certain protections to individuals who disclose a trade secret to their
attorney, a court, or a government official in certain, confidential circumstances. Specifically, federal law provides
that an individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the
disclosure of a trade secret under either of the following conditions:
(b)
Non-Competition. In consideration for Employer’s entering into this Agreement and in
exchange for the benefits promised herein, and other valuable consideration, Executive agrees that Executive will
not engage in “Competition” for a period of twelve (12) months after Executive’s employment with Employer
ceases for any reason. For purposes hereof, “Competition” means Executive’s performing duties that are the same as
or substantially similar to those duties performed by Executive for Employer or its affiliates during the last twelve
(12) months of Executive’s employment, as an officer, a director, an employee, a partner or in any other capacity,
within a twenty-five (25) mile radius of the headquarters of Employer (or any Virginia headquarters of any
successor in the event of a merger consummated as of the last day of employment) or within a ten (10) mile radius
of any branch of Employer (or any Virginia branch of any successor in the event of a merger consummated as of
the last day of employment), as such locations exist as of the date Executive’s employment ceases, if those duties
are performed for a bank holding company, or for a bank or other financial institution, that provides products or
services that are the same as or substantially similar to, and competitive with, any of the products or services
provided by Employer at the time Executive’s employment ceases.

(c)

Non-Piracy. In consideration for Employer’s entering into this Agreement and in
exchange for the benefits promised herein, and other valuable consideration, Executive agrees that for a period of
twelve (12) months after Executive’s employment ceases for any reason, Executive will not, directly or indirectly,
solicit, divert from Employer or transact business with any “Customer” of Employer with whom Executive had
“Material Contact” during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment or about whom Executive
obtained information not known generally to the public while acting within the scope of his employment during the
last twelve (12) months of employment, if the purpose of such solicitation, diversion or transaction is to provide
products or services that are the same as or substantially similar to, and competitive with, those offered by Employer
at the time Executive’s employment ceases. “Material Contact” means that Executive personally communicated with
the Customer, either orally or in writing, for the purpose of providing, offering to provide or assisting in providing
products or services of Employer during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment. “Customer”
means any person or entity with whom Employer had a depository or other contractual relationship, pursuant to
which Employer provided products or services during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment.

(d)
Non-Solicitation. In consideration for Employer’s entering into this Agreement and in
exchange for the benefits promised herein, and other valuable consideration, Executive agrees that for a period of
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twelve (12) months after Executive’s employment ceases for any reason, Executive will not, directly or indirectly,
hire any person employed by Employer or solicit for hire or induce any person to terminate employment with
Employer, if the purpose is to compete with Employer.

(e)

Remedies. Executive acknowledges that the covenants set forth in Section 8 of this
Agreement are just, reasonable, and necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of Employer. Executive
further acknowledges that if Executive breaches or threatens to breach any provision of Section 8, all payments
otherwise due under Section 7(a)(ii) and 9(a) shall immediately cease, but Employer’s remedies at law will be
inadequate, and Employer will be irreparably harmed. Accordingly, Employer shall be entitled to an injunction, both
preliminary and permanent, restraining Executive from such breach or threatened breach, such injunctive relief not
to preclude Employer from pursuing all available legal and equitable remedies, and being entitled to all reasonable
attorney’s fees and costs incurred in connection with the breach, threatened breach, or any challenge to the
enforceability of Section 8.

9.

Termination After Change of Control.

(a)
Without Cause or for Good Reason. If Executive’s employment is involuntarily
terminated without Cause within two (2) years after a Change of Control (as defined below) shall have occurred or if
Executive resigns for Good Reason within two (2) years after a Change of Control shall have occurred, Executive
shall be entitled to receive, subject to any applicable delay set forth in Section 19 below:

(i)

The Accrued Obligations (as defined in Section 6(a));

(ii)

Subject to Executive’s signing, delivering and not revoking the Release attached as
Exhibit A, which Release must be signed, delivered and not revoked within the period set forth in the
Release:
(A) A payment equal to twenty-four (24) months of Executive’s annual base salary in
effect immediately preceding such termination payable in one lump sum, less all applicable withholdings,
on the sixtieth (60th) day after Executive's termination of employment (the “Severance Benefit”); and
(B) For eighteen (18) months after the date of termination, Executive shall receive
coverage under all Health Care Plans in which Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents were
entitled to participate immediately prior to such termination, with Employer paying the employer portion of
the premium therefor (the “Heath Care Continuance Benefit”), provided that the continued participation of
Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents is possible under the general terms and provisions
of the Health Care Plans. If Employer cannot maintain such coverage for Executive or his spouse or
dependents under the terms and provisions of the Health Care Plans (or where such continuation would
adversely affect the tax status of the Health Care Plans pursuant to which the coverage is provided),
Employer shall provide the Health Care Continuance Benefit by either providing substantially identical
benefits directly or through an insurance arrangement or by paying Executive the estimated cost of the
expected premium for eighteen (18) months after the date of termination with such payments to be made in
accordance with Employer’s established payroll practices (but no less frequently than monthly) for
employees generally for the period during which such cash payments are to be provided, less all applicable
withholdings. To the extent allowed by applicable law, the 18-month Health Care Continuance Benefit
period shall run concurrently with the period for which Executive and/or his spouse and any of his
dependents would be eligible for continuation coverage under the COBRA Period.
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(C) An additional amount, payable in one lump sum, less all applicable withholdings, on
the sixtieth (60 ) day following Executive's termination of employment, equal to one (1) times the highest
annual bonus compensation pursuant to Section 3(b)(i) above earned by Executive for the three
(3) immediately preceding complete fiscal years or such fewer number of complete fiscal years as
Executive may have been employed by Employer. For the avoidance of any doubt, if Employer makes a
determination to award no annual bonus compensation to Executive for the three (3) immediately preceding
complete fiscal years or such fewer number of complete fiscal years as Executive may have been employed
by Employer, then no amount is payable under this Section 9(a)(ii)(C).
th

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in addition to Employer’s remedies set forth in Section 8(e), all such payments
and benefits under Section 9(a) otherwise to be made after Executive’s termination of employment shall cease to be
paid, and Employer shall have no further obligation with respect thereto, in the event Executive, without the consent
of Employer, engages in any activity prohibited by Section 8.
(b)
Modified Cutback of Compensation Deemed to be Contingent on a Change of Control. If
any benefits or payments are to be made under the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement between
Executive and Employer following a transaction that constitutes a change in the ownership or effective control of
Employer or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of Employer such that the provisions of Section
280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder (“Code Section 280G”) or
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code and any regulations thereunder could potentially apply to such
compensation, then the following provisions shall be applicable:

(i)

In the event the independent accountants serving as auditors for Employer on the date of
a change of control within the meaning of Code Section 280G (or any other accounting firm designated by
Employer) determine that some or all of the payments or benefits scheduled under this Agreement, as well
as any other payments or benefits on such change of control, would be nondeductible by Employer under
Code Section 280G, then the payments scheduled under this Agreement and all other agreements between
Executive and Employer will be reduced to one dollar less than the maximum amount which may be paid
without causing any such payment or benefit to be nondeductible. Any reduction of benefits or payments
required to be made under this Section 9(b)(i) shall be taken in the following order: first from cash
compensation and then from payments or benefits not payable in cash, in each case in reverse order
beginning with payments or benefits which are to be paid the farthest in time from the date of
determination.

(ii)
Notwithstanding the foregoing Section 9(b)(i), in the event the independent accountants
serving as auditors for Employer on the date of a change of control within the meaning of Code Section
280G (or any other accounting firm designated by Employer) determine that the net economic benefit to
Executive after payment of all income and excise taxes is greater without giving effect to Section 9(b)(i)
than Executive’s net economic benefit after a reduction by reason of the application of Section 9(b)(i), then
Section 9(b)(i) shall be a nullity and without any force or effect. Any decisions regarding the requirement
or implementation of the reductions to compensation described in Section 9(b)(i) shall be made by the
independent accountants serving as auditors for Employer on the date of a change of control within the
meaning of Code Section 280G (or any other accounting firm designated by Employer), shall be made at
Employer’s expense and shall be binding on the parties.
(d)
Superseding Provisions. The benefits and payments set forth in Section 9(a) that may be
due in connection with a Change of Control shall supersede all payments, entitlements and benefits of Executive
otherwise payable under Section 7(a). The benefits and payments due under Section 9(a) replace those in Section
7(a), and are not cumulative thereof.
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(e)
For Cause; Other Than for Good Reason. If Executive’s employment is terminated for
Cause or if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason, within two (2) years after
a Change of Control, this Agreement shall terminate without any further obligation of Employer to Executive other
than the payment to Executive of the Accrued Obligations.

10.
Change of Control Defined. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change of Control” occurs
if (a) any person, including persons acting as a group, as defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-3(i)(5), becomes
the owner or beneficial owner of securities of Employer having more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting
power of the then outstanding securities of Employer that may be cast for the election of Employer’s directors other
than a result of an issuance of securities initiated by Employer, or open market purchases approved by the Board of
Directors, as long as the majority of the Board of Directors approving the purchases constitutes a majority of the
Board of Directors at the time the purchases are made; (b) during any twelve-month period, as the direct or indirect
result of, or in connection with, a tender or exchange offer, a merger or other business combination, a sale of assets, a
contested election of directors, or any combination of these events, the persons who were directors of Employer
before such events cease to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors or any successor’s board, as applicable. For
purposes of this Agreement, a Change of Control occurs on the date on which an event described in (a) – (b) occurs.
If a Change of Control occurs on account of a series of transactions or events, the Change of Control occurs on the
date of the last of such transactions or events. The above definition of Change of Control is intended to, and shall be
interpreted and applied in a manner as to, comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A.
11.

Documents. All documents, records, tapes and other media of any kind or description relating to
the business of Employer or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries (the “Documents”), whether or not prepared by
Executive, shall be the sole and exclusive property of Employer. The Documents (and any copies) shall be returned
to Employer upon Executive’s termination of employment for any reason or at such earlier time or times as the
Board of Directors of Employer or its designee may specify.

12.

Suspension or Temporary Prohibition of Services; Permanent Prohibition of Services. If
Executive is suspended and/or temporarily prohibited from participating in the conduct of Employer’s affairs by a
notice served pursuant to the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, Employer’s obligations under this Agreement shall be
suspended as of the date of service unless stayed by appropriate proceedings. If the charges in the notice are
dismissed, Employer may in its discretion (a) pay Executive all or part of the compensation withheld while its
contract obligations were suspended, and (b) reinstate (in whole or in part) any of its obligations which were
suspended. If Executive is removed and/or permanently prohibited from participating in the conduct of Employer’s
affairs by an order issued under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act or the Code of Virginia, all obligations of
Employer under this Agreement shall terminate as of the effective date of the order, but vested rights of the parties
shall not be affected.

13.

Severability/Breach Not Excuse Performance. If any provision of this Agreement, or part thereof,
is determined to be unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, it shall be severable from the remainder of this
Agreement and shall not invalidate or affect the other provisions of this Agreement, which shall remain in full
force and effect and shall be enforceable according to their terms. No covenant shall be dependent upon any other
covenant or provision herein, each of which stands independently. No breach of this Agreement by Employer shall
excuse Executive’s obligations under Section 8.

14.

Governing Law/Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The parties further agree that venue in the event of a dispute shall be
exclusively in the Circuit Court of the City of Martinsville, or the applicable federal court encompassing that
jurisdiction, at the sole option of Employer, and Executive agrees not to object to venue.
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15.
Notices. All written notices required by this Agreement shall be deemed given when delivered
personally or sent by overnight or registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the parties at the following
addresses (or to such other address as the party entitled to notice shall hereafter designate in accordance with the
terms hereof):
To Employer:

Chief Executive Officer
Carter Bank & Trust
1300 Kings Mountain Road
Martinsville, VA 24112

To Executive:

At Executive’s home address as shown on the records of Employer.

16.

Amendment and Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may not be varied, altered, modified
or in any way amended except by an instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto or their legal
representatives. Except as specifically set forth herein, including pursuant to the provisions of Section 6 above, this
Agreement may not be terminated except by an instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto or their legal
representatives, provided, however, and notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Employer or its
successor has the unilateral right to terminate this Agreement and pay out the full value of all benefits hereunder in
one lump sum payment in connection with a Change of Control pursuant to, and in compliance with, Treasury
Regulation § 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix)(B).

17.

Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon Executive and on Employer, its successors
and assigns on the Effective Date, subject to the approval by the Board of Directors of Employer. Employer will
require any successor to all or substantially all of the business, stock or assets of Employer to assume expressly
and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that Employer would be required
to perform it if no such succession had taken place. This Agreement shall be freely assignable by Employer.

18.
No Construction Against Any Party. This Agreement is the product of informed negotiations
between Executive and Employer. If any part of this Agreement is deemed to be unclear or ambiguous, it shall be
construed as if it were drafted jointly by all parties. Executive and Employer agree that neither party was in a
superior bargaining position regarding the substantive terms of this Agreement.
19.

Code Section 409A Compliance.

(a)

The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply
with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and applicable guidance thereunder (“Code
Section 409A”) or comply with an exemption from the application of Code Section 409A and, accordingly, all
provisions of this Agreement shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or
penalties under Code Section 409A.

(b)

A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any
provision of this Agreement providing for the form or timing of payment of any amounts or benefits upon or
following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service” (within the
meaning of Code Section 409A) and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement under which (and to the
extent) deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A is paid, references to a “termination” or “termination of
employment” or like references shall mean separation from service. A “separation from service” shall not occur
under Code Section 409A unless such Executive has completely severed Executive’s relationship with Employer or
Executive has permanently decreased Executive’s services to twenty percent (20%) or less of the average level of
bona fide services over the immediately preceding thirty-six (36) month period (or the full period if Executive has
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been providing services for less than thirty-six (36) months). A leave of absence shall only trigger a termination of
employment that constitutes a separation from service at the time required under Code Section 409A. If Executive is
deemed on the date of separation from service with Employer to be a “specified employee”, within the meaning of
that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B) and using the identification methodology selected by Employer from
time to time, or if none, the default methodology, then with regard to any payment or benefit that is required to be
delayed for six (6) months in compliance with Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), such payment or benefit shall be paid
with interest on the earlier of (i) the first day of the seventh (7th) month measured from the date of Executive’s
separation from service or (ii) the date of Executive’s death. The amount of interest to be paid shall be based on the
prime rate of interest in effect on the first day of the month following the Executive's separation from service as
reported in the Wall Street Journal. In the case of benefits required to be delayed under Code Section 409A,
however, Executive may pay the cost of benefit coverage, and thereby obtain benefits, during such six (6) month
delay period and then be reimbursed by Employer thereafter on the first day of the seventh (7th) month following the
date of Executive’s separation from service or, if earlier, on the date of Executive’s death.

(c)
With regard to any provision herein that provides for reimbursement of expenses or inkind benefits subject to Code Section 409A, except as permitted by Code Section 409A, (i) the right to
reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (ii) the amount of
expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the
expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year, provided that the
foregoing clause (ii) shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by
Code Section 105(b) solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in
effect. All reimbursements shall be reimbursed in accordance with Employer’s reimbursement policies but in no
event later than the calendar year following the calendar year in which the related expense is incurred.
(d)

If under this Agreement, an amount is to be paid in two or more installments, for
purposes of Code Section 409A, each installment shall be treated as a separate payment.

(e)
When, if ever, a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with reference
to a number of days (e.g., “payment shall be made within ten (10) days following the date of termination”), the
actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of Employer. In the event any
payment payable upon termination of employment would be exempt from Code Section 409A under Treasury
Regulation § 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) but for the amount of such payment, the determination of the payments to
Executive that are exempt under such provision shall be made by applying the exemption to payments based on
chronological order beginning with the payments paid closest in time on or after such termination of employment.
(f)

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Executive shall be solely liable,
and Employer shall not be liable in any way to Executive if any payment or benefit which is to be provided pursuant
to this Agreement and which is considered deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A otherwise fails to
comply with, or be exempt from, the requirements of Code Section 409A.

20.

Regulatory Limitation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither Employer
nor any subsidiary shall be obligated to make, and Executive shall have no right to receive, any payment, benefit or
amount under this Agreement that would violate any law, regulation or regulatory order applicable to Employer or
the subsidiary at the time such payment is due, including without limitation, any regulation or order of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Executive agrees that
compliance by Employer with such regulatory restrictions, even to the extent that compensation or other benefits
paid to Executive are limited, shall not be a breach of this Agreement by Employer.
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21.
Waiver of Breach. The failure at any time to enforce or exercise any right under any of the
provisions of this Agreement or to require at any time performance by the other parties of any of the provisions of
this Agreement shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provisions or to affect either the validity of this
Agreement or any part of this Agreement, or the right of any party hereafter to enforce or exercise its rights under
each and every provision in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
22.
No Attachment. Except as required by law, no right to receive payments under this Agreement
shall be subject to anticipation, commutation, alienation, sale, assignment, encumbrance, charge, pledge or
hypothecation or to execution, attachment, levy or similar process or assignment by operation of law, and any
attempt, voluntary or involuntary, to effect any such action shall be null, void and of no effect; provided, however,
that nothing in this Section 22 shall preclude the assumption of such rights by executors, administrators or other
legal representatives of Executive or Executive’s estate and their assigning any rights under this Agreement to the
person or persons entitled hereto.
23.

Full Capacity. The persons signing this Agreement represent that they have full authority and
representative capacity to execute this Agreement in the capacities indicated below and to perform all obligations
under this Agreement.

24.
Representation and Warranty of Executive. Executive represents and warrants to Employer that
Executive is not under any obligation, contractual or otherwise, to any other firm or corporation, which would
prevent Executive from entering into the employ of Employer under this Agreement or prevent Executive from
performing the terms of this Agreement.
25.

Entire Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement of the parties with respect to the matters addressed herein and, upon the Effective Date, it supersedes all
other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, express or implied, with respect to the subject
matter of this Agreement.

26.

Survivability. The provisions of Section 8 shall survive the termination, expiration or non-renewal
of this Agreement.

27.
Counterparts/Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (including by
facsimile), each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.
28.

Case and Gender. Wherever required by the context of this Agreement, the singular or plural case
and the masculine, feminine and neuter genders shall be interchangeable.

29.
Title. The titles and sub-headings of each Section and Sub-Section in this Agreement are for
convenience only and should not be considered part of this Agreement to aid in interpretation or construction.
[Signature Block on Next Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

Date: May 31, 2017

/s/ Bradford N. Langs
Bradford N. Langs

Date: May 31, 2017

Carter Bank & Trust

By: /s/ Litz Van Dyke
Litz Van Dyke
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A
RELEASE
In consideration of the benefits promised in the Employment Agreement to which this Release is attached
as Exhibit A (and further defined below), Bradford N. Langs (“Executive”), hereby irrevocably and unconditionally
releases, acquits, and forever discharges Carter Bank & Trust, and each of its agents, directors, members,
shareholders, affiliated entities, officers, employees, former employees, attorneys, and all persons acting by,
through, under or in concert with any of them (collectively “Releasees”) from any and all charges, complaints,
claims, liabilities, grievances, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, damages, policies, actions, causes of
action, suits, rights, demands, costs, losses, debts and expenses of any nature whatsoever, known or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, including, but not limited to, any rights arising out of alleged violations or breaches of any
contracts, express or implied, or any tort, or any legal restrictions on Releasees’ right to terminate employees, or any
federal, state or other governmental statute, regulation, law or ordinance, including without limitation (1) Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991; (2) the Americans with Disabilities
Act; (3) 42 U.S.C. § 1981; (4) the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act (age discrimination); (5) the
Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; (6) the Equal Pay Act; (7) the Family and Medical Leave Act; and (8) the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“Claim” or “Claims”), which Executive now has, owns or holds, or
claims to have, own or hold, or which Executive at any time heretofore had owned or held, or claimed to have
owned or held, against each or any of the Releasees at any time up to and including the date of the execution of this
Release.
Executive hereby acknowledges and agrees that the execution of this Release and the cessation of
Executive’s employment and all actions taken in connection therewith are in compliance with the federal Age
Discrimination in Employment Act and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act and that the releases set forth
above shall be applicable, without limitation, to any claims brought under these Acts. Executive further
acknowledges and agrees that:
a.
The Release given by Executive is given solely in exchange for the benefits set forth in
the Employment Agreement dated as of __________________, 2017 between Carter Bank & Trust and
Executive (the “Employment Agreement”) to which this Release was initially attached and such
consideration is in addition to anything of value which Executive was entitled to receive prior to entering
into this Release;
b.
By entering into this Release, Executive does not waive rights or claims that may arise
after the date this Release is executed;
c.
Executive has been advised to consult an attorney prior to entering into this Release, and
this provision of the Release satisfies the requirements of the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act that
Executive be so advised in writing;
d.
Executive has been offered twenty-one (21) days [or 45 days if applicable] from receipt
of this Release within which to consider whether to sign this Release; and
e.
For a period of seven (7) days following Executive’s execution of this Release, Executive
may revoke this Release by delivering the revocation to the Chief Executive Officer of Carter Bank &
Trust, and it shall not become effective or enforceable until such seven (7) day period has expired.
This Release shall be binding upon the heirs and personal representatives of Executive and shall inure to
the benefit of the successors and assigns of Carter Bank & Trust.
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May 31, 2017
Date

/s/ Bradford N. Langs
Bradford N. Langs
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JUNE 15, 2017, BY AND BETWEEN CARTER
BANK & TRUST AND MATTHEW M. SPEARE

Exhibit 10.8
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of this 15th day of June, 2017, is
made by and between Carter Bank & Trust (“Employer”) and Matthew M. Speare (“Executive”) and is effective as
of July 3rd, 2017 (the “Effective Date”).
WHEREAS, Employer wishes to hire Executive as a key executive of Employer and it is the desire of
Employer to have the benefit of his continued loyalty and service; and
WHEREAS, Executive wishes to be in the employ of Employer on the terms and subject to the conditions
set forth herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein the parties
agree as follows:

1. Employment and Duties.
(a) Executive shall be employed as EVP, Chief Information Officer of Employer (the
“Position”) on the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement. Executive accepts
such employment and agrees to perform the duties and responsibilities of the Position, as
may be assigned to Executive by the Chief Executive Officer or Board of Directors of
Employer.
(b)
Executive shall devote his best efforts and full time to rendering services on behalf of
Employer in furtherance of its best interests. Executive shall comply with all policies, standards and regulations of
Employer now or hereafter promulgated, and shall perform his duties under this Agreement to the best of his
abilities and in accordance with the ethics and standards of conduct applicable to employees in the banking industry.

2. Term. The Term (as defined below) of this Agreement is effective as of the Effective Date and will continue
through the earlier of (i) [one year from start date] (the “Initial Term”) or (ii) the date this Agreement otherwise
terminates pursuant to Section 6 or Section 16 below; provided, however, that, at the end of the Initial Term, if this
Agreement has not been previously terminated pursuant to Section 6 or Section 16 below, this Agreement shall be
automatically extended for a one-year term (a “Renewal Term”), commencing at the end of the Initial Term, unless
either party gives written notice of non-renewal no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the Initial Term.
This Agreement shall continue to be further extended for an additional one-year term at the end of each Renewal
Term, unless either party gives written notice of non-renewal no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the
applicable Renewal Term. During the Initial Term or any Renewal Term, this Agreement may be terminated at any
time pursuant to Section 6 or Section 16 below. The term of this Agreement, including all Renewal Terms, if any, is
referred to herein as the “Term.”

3. Compensation.
(a) Base Salary. During the Term, Employer shall cause Executive to be paid an annual base salary of $325,000, paid
in equal installments to Executive in accordance with Employer’s established payroll practices (but no less
frequently than monthly). Employer’s Board of Directors or its designee, in its discretion, may increase
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Executive's base salary during the Term. Employer shall withhold state and federal income taxes, social security
taxes and such other payroll deductions as may from time to time be required by law or agreed upon in writing by
Executive and Employer. Employer shall also withhold and remit to the proper party any amounts agreed to in
writing by Employer and Executive for participation in any corporate sponsored benefit plans for which a
contribution is required.

(b) Bonuses.
(i)
Executive shall receive only such annual bonuses, if any, as the Board of
Directors or its designee, in its sole discretion, decides to pay to Executive. Notwithstanding the prior
sentence, to the extent that, during the Term, Employer establishes an annual bonus plan covering executive
employees, Executive shall be eligible for a bonus in accordance with the terms of such plan. Any such
bonus payable under this Section 3(b)(i) shall be paid annually by March 15 of the year following the fiscal
year for which performance is being evaluated.
(ii)
Executive shall receive a signing bonus in the total amount of $50,000, less
applicable withholdings, payable as follows: (A) a payment of $25,000, less applicable withholdings, in the
first regular payroll after the Effective Date; and (B) a payment of $25,000, less applicable withholdings, in
the first regular payroll after January 1, 2018. In the event that Executive is terminated with Cause (defined
below) or resigns without Good Reason (defined below) within twelve months of receiving the payment
referenced in (ii)(A) or (ii)(B), or both, he must repay in full to Employer the sum(s) paid to him,
immediately upon demand.
(iii)
Subject to the conditions set forth herein, Executive will receive an incentive
award (“Award”) to be settled in cash in an amount that is calculated by determining the product of the
following: (A) the total number of shares of Employer’s common stock (“Stock”) that could be purchased
for $97,500 on the Effective Date, based on the average of the closing price for Stock during the thirty (30)
day period preceding the Effective Date, multiplied by (B) the average of the closing price for the Stock
during the thirty (30) day period immediately preceding the third anniversary of the Effective Date. This
Award shall not vest until the third anniversary of the Effective Date and shall be payable in cash in the first
regular payroll after vesting (the “payment date”), subject to all applicable withholdings, and conditioned
upon Executive’s continued employment on the payment date.

(c) Equity Awards. Executive may be eligible to receive equity awards from Employer, in such manner and subject to
such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors or its designee, in its sole discretion, may determine, if at all.

(d) Housing and Relocation Allowance.
(i) Employer will provide Executive the sum of $1500.00 per month as a temporary
housing allowance to offset such expenses, for a period of up to six months from the Effective Date. This
housing allowance will be included in Executive’s regular payroll payments, but will be grossed up so that
the payment will be effectively net of taxes. The housing allowance will cease prior to the end of six
months immediately upon the closing by Executive of a residential purchase.
(ii)
Employer agrees to reimburse Executive upon the presentation of
documentation acceptable to Employer, for the real estate commission expended by Executive on the sale
of his existing current residence, up to a total maximum amount of Thirty-Five Thousand and 00/100
Dollars ($35,000.00).
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(e) Moving Expenses. Employer agrees to reimburse Executive up to a maximum of $20,000 for reasonable moving
expenses incurred by Executive in connection with moving his household goods from his current residence to his
new residence located in the Martinsville, Virginia area. Reasonable moving expenses would include up to 90 days
of temporary storage of household goods. Expenses will be reimbursed based upon submission of actual receipts for
related expenses. In the event Executive’s employment with Employer terminates based on his resignation without
“Good Reason” (defined below) or a termination for “Cause” (defined below) prior to the 12-month anniversary of
the Effective Date, Executive shall refund a prorated portion of the moving expenses provided by the Company.
This refund will be calculated as follows: total moving expenses paid/12 x the number of months remaining before
the first year anniversary equals the repayment amount.

(f) Clawback. Executive agrees that any incentive compensation that Executive receives from Employer or a related
entity shall be subject to repayment (i.e., clawback) to Employer or such related entity to the extent required under
any repayment or clawback policy adopted by the Board of Directors in the future.

(g) COBRA Reimbursement. Employer will provide Executive with a $1500.00 per month COBRA reimbursement
payment for a period of three months following the Effective Date. This payment will be included in Executive’s
regular payroll payments, but will be grossed up so that the payment will be effectively net of taxes.

(h) Automobile Allowance. Employer will provide Executive the sum of $500.00 per month as an automobile
allowance. This allowance will be included in Executive’s regular payroll payments, but will be grossed up so that
the payment will be effectively net of taxes.

4.

Benefits.

(a)
Corporate Benefit Plans. Executive shall be entitled to participate in or become a
participant in any employee benefit plan maintained by Employer for which he is or will become eligible on such
terms as the Board of Directors or its designee may, in its discretion, establish, modify or otherwise change.
(b)
Personal Time Off. Executive shall be entitled to four weeks (20 business days) of paid
time off (“PTO”) each year (or such greater annual number of days allowed under Employer’s PTO policy) which
shall be taken in accordance with Employer’s PTO Policy.

5.

Reimbursement of Expenses. Executive shall be reimbursed upon Executive’s incurring reasonable
and customary business expenses in connection with the performance of his duties, subject to presentation of adequate
substantiation, including receipts, for the reasonable business travel, entertainment, lodging, and other business
expenses incurred by Executive. In no event will such reimbursements be made later than the last day of the calendar
month following the calendar month in which Executive submits the request for payment of the reimbursable
expense, which shall be submitted no later than sixty (60) days after the expense is incurred. In addition, within sixty
(60) days following the Effective Date, Executive shall be reimbursed by Employer for reasonable legal expenses
incurred for the review and negotiation of this Agreement; provided, however, the amount of such legal expenses
shall not exceed $2500.00.

6.

Termination of Employment.

(a)
Death or Incapacity. Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall terminate
automatically upon Executive’s death. Executive’s spouse, if she survives Executive, or, if not, Executive’s estate
shall receive (i) any unpaid base salary which otherwise would be payable to Executive through the date of
termination payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively feasible following termination, but not later than
thirty (30) days thereafter; (ii) any annual bonus compensation earned and awarded pursuant to Section 3(b)(i)
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above, but not yet paid as of the date of termination, payable on the earlier of (A) the thirtieth (30th) day after the
date of termination, or (B) when otherwise due; (iii) any benefits vested, due and owing pursuant to the terms of
any other plans, policies or programs, payable when otherwise due (hereinafter subsections (i) – (iii) collectively
are referred to as the “Accrued Obligations”). Executive’s spouse, if she survives Executive, or, if not, Executive’s
estate shall also receive an amount equal to Executive’s base salary from the date of his death through the end of
the month in which his death occurs, payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively feasible following his
death, but not later than thirty (30) days thereafter. If Employer determines that Incapacity (as defined below) of
Executive has occurred, it may terminate Executive’s employment and this Agreement upon ninety (90) days’
written notice, provided that, within ninety (90) days after receipt of such notice, Executive shall not have returned
to full-time performance of Executive’s assigned duties. In the event of a termination due to “Incapacity,”
Employer shall pay the Accrued Obligations to Executive. For purposes of this Agreement, “Incapacity” shall
occur if (i) Executive is unable to perform the material functions of his position for thirteen (13) consecutive weeks
and is then deemed to be permanently unable to continue in the Position by a physician selected by Employer or its
insurer, and acceptable to Executive or his legal representative, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
or (ii) Executive is deemed disabled as defined in the policy of disability insurance maintained by Employer for the
benefit of Executive (and others if a group policy). Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement,
Employer shall comply with all requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Further, if Executive’s
employment is terminated due to death or “Incapacity,” then no payments (other than the Accrued Obligations and
spousal death benefit described above) shall be owed or paid, including those under Section 7(a) or Section 9(a).

(b)

Termination by Employer With or Without Cause. Employer may terminate Executive’s
employment at any time during the Term of this Agreement, with or without notice (unless otherwise required
herein) and with or without Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean:

(i)

Executive’s willful misconduct in connection with the performance of

Executive’s duties;

(ii)

Executive’s misappropriation or embezzlement of funds or material property of

Employer or any affiliate;

(iii)

Executive’s fraud or dishonesty with respect to Employer or any affiliate;

(iv)
Executive’s failure to perform any of the material duties and responsibilities
required by the Position (other than by reason of Incapacity), or Executive’s failure to follow reasonable
instructions or policies of Employer, in either case after being advised in writing of such failure and being
given a reasonable opportunity and period (as determined by Employer in its reasonable business
judgment) to remedy such failure (if such breach or violation is capable of being remedied), which period
shall be not less than thirty (30) days;

(v)

Executive’s conviction of, indictment for (or the procedural equivalent), or
entering of a guilty plea or plea of no contest with respect to any felony or any misdemeanor involving
moral turpitude;

(vi)

Executive’s breach of a material term of this Agreement, or violation in any
material respect of any policy, code or standard of behavior or ethics generally applicable to officers of
Employer, after being advised in writing of such breach or violation and being given a reasonable
opportunity and period (as determined by Employer in its reasonable business judgment) to remedy such
breach or violation (if such breach or violation is capable of being remedied), which period shall be not less
than thirty (30) days;
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(vii)

Executive’s willful violation of any final cease and desist order;

(viii) Executive’s breach of any fiduciary duty owed to Employer or its affiliates; or
(ix)
Executive’s engaging in conduct that, if it became known by any regulatory or
governmental agency or the public, would be or is reasonably likely to result, in the good faith judgment
of Employer, in material injury to Employer, monetarily or otherwise.
(c)
Termination by Executive for Good Reason. Executive may terminate employment for
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean:

(i)

The assignment of duties to Executive by Employer which result in Executive
having materially less authority or responsibility than he has on the Effective Date, without his express
written consent;

(ii)

Requiring Executive to maintain his principal office outside of the City of
Martinsville, Virginia or any contiguous counties unless Employer moves its principal executive offices to
the place to which Executive is required to move; or

(iii)

A material reduction in the Executive’s base salary; or

(iv)

Any action or inaction by the Employer that constitutes a material breach of this

Agreement.
Executive is required to provide written notice to Employer detailing the existence of a condition described above in
this Section 6(c) within a sixty (60) day period after the initial existence of the condition, and Employer shall have
thirty (30) days after notice to remedy the condition without liability. In addition to the foregoing requirements, to
trigger payment under this Section 6(c), Executive must also terminate employment within one hundred twenty
(120) days after the initial occurrence of the event constituting “Good Reason” and Employer must have been
allowed the full opportunity to cure, as set forth above.
Notwithstanding the above, “Good Reason” shall not include any resignation by Executive where Cause for
Executive’s termination by Employer exists under Section 6(b), or there is an isolated, insubstantial or inadvertent
action by Employer (provided that such action is remedied by Employer after written notice by Executive), and
shall not include any action by Employer taken before the Effective Date of this Agreement.
(d)
Other. Executive’s employment hereunder may be terminated voluntarily by Executive
without Good Reason upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to Employer or at any time by mutual agreement in
writing. In the event of such voluntary termination notice by Executive without Good Reason, Employer may
terminate Executive’s employment prior to the expiration of the notice period without incurring any liability under
Section 7, and Employer shall be required only to pay Executive’s base salary through the termination date (with
such payment to be made in accordance with Employer’s established payroll practices), plus any Accrued
Obligations (as defined Section 6(a)).

7.

Obligations Upon Termination.

(a)
Without Cause or for Good Reason. If either Employer terminates Executive’s
employment without Cause or Executive terminates his employment for Good Reason during the Term, Executive
shall be entitled to receive, subject to any applicable delay set forth in Section 19 below:
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(i)

The Accrued Obligations (as defined in Section 6(a)); and

(ii)
Subject to Executive's signing, delivering and not revoking the Release attached
as Exhibit A, which Release must be signed, delivered and not revoked within the period set forth in the
Release:
(A) A payment in a monthly amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of his annual base salary
in effect immediately preceding such termination for twelve (12) months, payable in accordance
with Employer’s established payroll practices (but no less frequently than monthly), provided that
the amounts Executive would otherwise have received during the sixty (60) days after Executive's
termination had the payments begun immediately after Executive's termination of employment
shall be paid in a lump sum on the sixtieth (60th) day after Executive's termination of employment
(the “Severance Benefit”); and
(B) For twelve (12) months after the date of termination, Executive shall receive
coverage under all employee health insurance programs or plans (medical, dental and vision)
(“Health Care Plans”) in which Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents were
entitled to participate immediately prior to such termination, with Employer paying the employer
portion of the premium therefor (the “Heath Care Continuance Benefit”), provided that the
continued participation of Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents is possible
under the general terms and provisions of the Health Care Plans. If Employer cannot maintain
such coverage for Executive or his spouse or dependents under the terms and provisions of the
Health Care Plans (or where such continuation would adversely affect the tax status of the Health
Care Plans pursuant to which the coverage is provided), Employer shall provide the Health Care
Continuance Benefit by either providing substantially identical benefits directly or through an
insurance arrangement or by paying Executive the estimated cost of the expected premium for
twelve (12) months after the date of termination with such payments to be made in accordance
with Employer’s established payroll practices (but no less frequently than monthly) for employees
generally for the period during which such cash payments are to be provided. To the extent
allowed by applicable law, the 12-month Health Care Continuance Benefit period shall run
concurrently with the period for which Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents
would be eligible for continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act
of 1985 (the “COBRA Period”).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in addition to Employer’s remedies set forth in Section 8(e), all such payments
and benefits under Section 7(a) otherwise to be made after Executive’s termination of employment shall cease to be
paid, and Employer shall have no further obligation with respect thereto, in the event Executive, without the consent
of Employer, breaches or engages in any activity prohibited in Section 8 or any of its sub-parts.

(b)

For Cause; Other Than for Good Reason. If Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause or
if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate
without any further obligation of Employer to Executive other than the payment to Executive of the Accrued
Obligations.

8.

Covenants of Executive.

(a)
Confidentiality. As an employee of Employer, Executive will have access to and may
participate in the origination of non-public, proprietary and confidential information relating to Employer and/or its
affiliates and Executive acknowledges a fiduciary duty owed to Employer and its affiliates not to disclose any such
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information. Confidential information may include, but is not limited to, trade secrets, customer lists and
information, internal corporate planning, methods of marketing and operation, and other data or information of or
concerning Employer and its affiliates or their customers that is not generally known to the public or generally in
the banking industry. Executive agrees that for a period of five (5) years following the cessation of employment,
Executive will not use or disclose to any third party any such confidential information, either directly or indirectly,
except as may be authorized in writing specifically by Employer; provided, however that to the extent the
information covered by this Section 8 is otherwise protected by the law, such as “trade secrets,” as defined by the
Virginia Uniform Trade Secrets Act, or customer information protected by banking privacy laws, that information
shall not be disclosed or used for however long the legal protections applicable to such information remain in
effect.
Nothing in this Agreement restricts or prohibits Executive or Executive’s counsel from initiating
communications directly with, responding to any inquiry from, volunteering information to, or providing testimony
before a self-regulatory authority or a governmental, law enforcement or other regulatory authority, including the
U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, the National Labor Relations Board,
the Department of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority,
the Congress, and any Office of Inspector General (collectively, the “Regulators”), from participating in any
reporting of, investigation into, or proceeding regarding suspected violations of law, or from making other
disclosures that are protected under or from receiving an award for information provided under the whistleblower
provisions of state or federal law or regulation. Executive does not need the prior authorization of Employer to
engage in such communications with the Regulators, respond to such inquiries from the Regulators, provide
confidential information or documents containing confidential information to the Regulators, or make any such
reports or disclosures to the Regulators. Executive is not required to notify Employer that Executive has engaged in
such communications with the Regulators. Executive recognizes and agrees that, in connection with any such
activity outlined above, Executive must inform the Regulators that the information Executive is providing is
confidential.
Federal law provides certain protections to individuals who disclose a trade secret to their
attorney, a court, or a government official in certain, confidential circumstances. Specifically, federal law provides
that an individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the
disclosure of a trade secret under either of the following conditions:
(b)
Non-Competition. In consideration for Employer’s entering into this Agreement and in
exchange for the benefits promised herein, and other valuable consideration, Executive agrees that Executive will
not engage in “Competition” for a period of twelve (12) months after Executive’s employment with Employer
ceases for any reason. For purposes hereof, “Competition” means Executive’s performing duties that are the same as
or substantially similar to those duties performed by Executive for Employer or its affiliates during the last twelve
(12) months of Executive’s employment, as an officer, a director, an employee, a partner or in any other capacity,
within a twenty-five (25) mile radius of the headquarters of Employer (or any Virginia headquarters of any
successor in the event of a merger consummated as of the last day of employment) or within a ten (10) mile radius
of any branch of Employer (or any Virginia branch of any successor in the event of a merger consummated as of
the last day of employment), as such locations exist as of the date Executive’s employment ceases, if those duties
are performed for a bank holding company, or for a bank or other financial institution, that provides products or
services that are the same as or substantially similar to, and competitive with, any of the products or services
provided by Employer at the time Executive’s employment ceases.

(c)
Non-Piracy. In consideration for Employer’s entering into this Agreement and in
exchange for the benefits promised herein, and other valuable consideration, Executive agrees that for a period of
twelve (12) months after Executive’s employment ceases for any reason, Executive will not, directly or indirectly,
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solicit, divert from Employer or transact business with any “Customer” of Employer with whom Executive had
“Material Contact” during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment or about whom Executive
obtained information not known generally to the public while acting within the scope of his employment during the
last twelve (12) months of employment, if the purpose of such solicitation, diversion or transaction is to provide
products or services that are the same as or substantially similar to, and competitive with, those offered by Employer
at the time Executive’s employment ceases. “Material Contact” means that Executive personally communicated with
the Customer, either orally or in writing, for the purpose of providing, offering to provide or assisting in providing
products or services of Employer during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment. “Customer”
means any person or entity with whom Employer had a depository or other contractual relationship, pursuant to
which Employer provided products or services during the last twelve (12) months of Executive’s employment.

(d)

Non-Solicitation. In consideration for Employer’s entering into this Agreement and in
exchange for the benefits promised herein, and other valuable consideration, Executive agrees that for a period of
twelve (12) months after Executive’s employment ceases for any reason, Executive will not, directly or indirectly,
hire any person employed by Employer or solicit for hire or induce any person to terminate employment with
Employer, if the purpose is to compete with Employer.

(e)
Remedies. Executive acknowledges that the covenants set forth in Section 8 of this
Agreement are just, reasonable, and necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of Employer. Executive
further acknowledges that if Executive breaches or threatens to breach any provision of Section 8, all payments
otherwise due under Section 7(a)(ii) and 9(a) shall immediately cease, but Employer’s remedies at law will be
inadequate, and Employer will be irreparably harmed. Accordingly, Employer shall be entitled to an injunction, both
preliminary and permanent, restraining Executive from such breach or threatened breach, such injunctive relief not
to preclude Employer from pursuing all available legal and equitable remedies, and being entitled to all reasonable
attorney’s fees and costs incurred in connection with the breach, threatened breach, or any challenge to the
enforceability of Section 8.
9.

Termination After Change of Control.

(a)
Without Cause or for Good Reason. If Executive’s employment is involuntarily
terminated without Cause within two (2) years after a Change of Control (as defined below) shall have occurred or if
Executive resigns for Good Reason within two (2) years after a Change of Control shall have occurred, Executive
shall be entitled to receive, subject to any applicable delay set forth in Section 19 below:

(i)

The Accrued Obligations (as defined in Section 6(a));

(ii)

Subject to Executive’s signing, delivering and not revoking the Release attached
as Exhibit A, which Release must be signed, delivered and not revoked within the period set forth in the
Release:
(A) A payment equal to twenty-four (24) months of Executive’s annual base
salary in effect immediately preceding such termination payable in one lump sum, less all
applicable withholdings, on the sixtieth (60th) day after Executive's termination of employment
(the “Severance Benefit”); and
(B) For eighteen (18) months after the date of termination, Executive shall
receive coverage under all Health Care Plans in which Executive and/or his spouse and any of his
dependents were entitled to participate immediately prior to such termination, with Employer
paying the employer portion of the premium therefor (the “Heath Care Continuance Benefit”),
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provided that the continued participation of Executive and/or his spouse and any of his dependents
is possible under the general terms and provisions of the Health Care Plans. If Employer cannot
maintain such coverage for Executive or his spouse or dependents under the terms and provisions
of the Health Care Plans (or where such continuation would adversely affect the tax status of the
Health Care Plans pursuant to which the coverage is provided), Employer shall provide the Health
Care Continuance Benefit by either providing substantially identical benefits directly or through
an insurance arrangement or by paying Executive the estimated cost of the expected premium for
eighteen (18) months after the date of termination with such payments to be made in accordance
with Employer’s established payroll practices (but no less frequently than monthly) for employees
generally for the period during which such cash payments are to be provided, less all applicable
withholdings. To the extent allowed by applicable law, the 18-month Health Care Continuance
Benefit period shall run concurrently with the period for which Executive and/or his spouse and
any of his dependents would be eligible for continuation coverage under the COBRA Period.
(C) An additional amount, payable in one lump sum, less all applicable
withholdings, on the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive's termination of employment, equal to
one (1) times the highest annual bonus compensation pursuant to Section 3(b)(i) above earned by
Executive for the three (3) immediately preceding complete fiscal years or such fewer number of
complete fiscal years as Executive may have been employed by Employer. For the avoidance of
any doubt, if Employer makes a determination to award no annual bonus compensation to
Executive for the three (3) immediately preceding complete fiscal years or such fewer number of
complete fiscal years as Executive may have been employed by Employer, then no amount is
payable under this Section 9(a)(ii)(C).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in addition to Employer’s remedies set forth in Section 8(e), all such payments
and benefits under Section 9(a) otherwise to be made after Executive’s termination of employment shall cease to be
paid, and Employer shall have no further obligation with respect thereto, in the event Executive, without the consent
of Employer, engages in any activity prohibited by Section 8.
(b)
Modified Cutback of Compensation Deemed to be Contingent on a Change of Control. If
any benefits or payments are to be made under the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement between
Executive and Employer following a transaction that constitutes a change in the ownership or effective control of
Employer or in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of Employer such that the provisions of Section
280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder (“Code Section 280G”) or
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code and any regulations thereunder could potentially apply to such
compensation, then the following provisions shall be applicable:

(i)
In the event the independent accountants serving as auditors for Employer on the
date of a change of control within the meaning of Code Section 280G (or any other accounting firm
designated by Employer) determine that some or all of the payments or benefits scheduled under this
Agreement, as well as any other payments or benefits on such change of control, would be nondeductible
by Employer under Code Section 280G, then the payments scheduled under this Agreement and all other
agreements between Executive and Employer will be reduced to one dollar less than the maximum amount
which may be paid without causing any such payment or benefit to be nondeductible. Any reduction of
benefits or payments required to be made under this Section 9(b)(i) shall be taken in the following order:
first from cash compensation and then from payments or benefits not payable in cash, in each case in
reverse order beginning with payments or benefits which are to be paid the farthest in time from the date of
determination.
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(ii)
Notwithstanding the foregoing Section 9(b)(i), in the event the independent
accountants serving as auditors for Employer on the date of a change of control within the meaning of Code
Section 280G (or any other accounting firm designated by Employer) determine that the net economic
benefit to Executive after payment of all income and excise taxes is greater without giving effect to Section
9(b)(i) than Executive’s net economic benefit after a reduction by reason of the application of Section
9(b)(i), then Section 9(b)(i) shall be a nullity and without any force or effect. Any decisions regarding the
requirement or implementation of the reductions to compensation described in Section 9(b)(i) shall be
made by the independent accountants serving as auditors for Employer on the date of a change of control
within the meaning of Code Section 280G (or any other accounting firm designated by Employer), shall be
made at Employer’s expense and shall be binding on the parties.
(d)
Superseding Provisions. The benefits and payments set forth in Section 9(a) that may be
due in connection with a Change of Control shall supersede all payments, entitlements and benefits of Executive
otherwise payable under Section 7(a). The benefits and payments due under Section 9(a) replace those in Section
7(a), and are not cumulative thereof.
(e)
For Cause; Other Than for Good Reason. If Executive’s employment is terminated for
Cause or if Executive voluntarily terminates his employment other than for Good Reason, within two (2) years after
a Change of Control, this Agreement shall terminate without any further obligation of Employer to Executive other
than the payment to Executive of the Accrued Obligations.

10.

Change of Control Defined. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change of Control” occurs
if (a) any person, including persons acting as a group, as defined in Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-3(i)(5), becomes
the owner or beneficial owner of securities of Employer having more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting
power of the then outstanding securities of Employer that may be cast for the election of Employer’s directors other
than a result of an issuance of securities initiated by Employer, or open market purchases approved by the Board of
Directors, as long as the majority of the Board of Directors approving the purchases constitutes a majority of the
Board of Directors at the time the purchases are made; (b) during any twelve-month period, as the direct or indirect
result of, or in connection with, a tender or exchange offer, a merger or other business combination, a sale of assets, a
contested election of directors, or any combination of these events, the persons who were directors of Employer
before such events cease to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors or any successor’s board, as applicable. For
purposes of this Agreement, a Change of Control occurs on the date on which an event described in (a) – (b) occurs.
If a Change of Control occurs on account of a series of transactions or events, the Change of Control occurs on the
date of the last of such transactions or events. The above definition of Change of Control is intended to, and shall be
interpreted and applied in a manner as to, comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder (“Code Section 409A”).

11.
Documents. All documents, records, tapes and other media of any kind or description relating to
the business of Employer or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries (the “Documents”), whether or not prepared by
Executive, shall be the sole and exclusive property of Employer. The Documents (and any copies) shall be returned
to Employer upon Executive’s termination of employment for any reason or at such earlier time or times as the
Board of Directors of Employer or its designee may specify.
12.

Suspension or Temporary Prohibition of Services; Permanent Prohibition of Services. If
Executive is suspended and/or temporarily prohibited from participating in the conduct of Employer’s affairs by a
notice served pursuant to the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, Employer’s obligations under this Agreement shall be
suspended as of the date of service unless stayed by appropriate proceedings. If the charges in the notice are
dismissed, Employer may in its discretion (a) pay Executive all or part of the compensation withheld while its
contract obligations were suspended, and (b) reinstate (in whole or in part) any of its obligations which were
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suspended. If Executive is removed and/or permanently prohibited from participating in the conduct of Employer’s
affairs by an order issued under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act or the Code of Virginia, all obligations of
Employer under this Agreement shall terminate as of the effective date of the order, but vested rights of the parties
shall not be affected.

13.

Severability/Breach Not Excuse Performance. If any provision of this Agreement, or part thereof,
is determined to be unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, it shall be severable from the remainder of this
Agreement and shall not invalidate or affect the other provisions of this Agreement, which shall remain in full
force and effect and shall be enforceable according to their terms. No covenant shall be dependent upon any other
covenant or provision herein, each of which stands independently. No breach of this Agreement by Employer shall
excuse Executive’s obligations under Section 8.

14.

Governing Law/Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The parties further agree that venue in the event of a dispute shall be
exclusively in the Circuit Court of the City of Martinsville, or the applicable federal court encompassing that
jurisdiction, at the sole option of Employer, and Executive agrees not to object to venue.

15.

Notices. All written notices required by this Agreement shall be deemed given when delivered
personally or sent by overnight or registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the parties at the following
addresses (or to such other address as the party entitled to notice shall hereafter designate in accordance with the
terms hereof):
To Employer:

Chief Executive Officer
Carter Bank & Trust
1300 Kings Mountain Road
Martinsville, VA 24112

To Executive:

At Executive’s home address as shown on the records of Employer.

16.

Amendment and Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may not be varied, altered, modified
or in any way amended except by an instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto or their legal
representatives. Except as specifically set forth herein, including pursuant to the provisions of Section 6 above, this
Agreement may not be terminated except by an instrument in writing executed by the parties hereto or their legal
representatives, provided, however, and notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Employer or its
successor has the unilateral right to terminate this Agreement and pay out the full value of all benefits hereunder in
one lump sum payment in connection with a Change of Control pursuant to, and in compliance with, Treasury
Regulation § 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix)(B).

17.

Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon Executive and on Employer, its successors
and assigns on the Effective Date, subject to the approval by the Board of Directors of Employer. Employer will
require any successor to all or substantially all of the business, stock or assets of Employer to assume expressly
and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that Employer would be required
to perform it if no such succession had taken place. This Agreement shall be freely assignable by Employer.

18.

No Construction Against Any Party. This Agreement is the product of informed negotiations
between Executive and Employer. If any part of this Agreement is deemed to be unclear or ambiguous, it shall be
construed as if it were drafted jointly by all parties. Executive and Employer agree that neither party was in a
superior bargaining position regarding the substantive terms of this Agreement.
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19.

Code Section 409A Compliance.

(a) The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with Code Section 409A or
comply with an exemption from the application of Code Section 409A and, accordingly, all provisions of this
Agreement shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under
Code Section 409A.

(b) A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement
providing for the form or timing of payment of any amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of
employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A)
and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement under which (and to the extent) deferred compensation
subject to Code Section 409A is paid, references to a “termination” or “termination of employment” or like
references shall mean separation from service. A “separation from service” shall not occur under Code Section 409A
unless such Executive has completely severed Executive’s relationship with Employer or Executive has permanently
decreased Executive’s services to twenty percent (20%) or less of the average level of bona fide services over the
immediately preceding thirty-six (36) month period (or the full period if Executive has been providing services for
less than thirty-six (36) months). A leave of absence shall only trigger a termination of employment that constitutes
a separation from service at the time required under Code Section 409A. If Executive is deemed on the date of
separation from service with Employer to be a “specified employee”, within the meaning of that term under Code
Section 409A(a)(2)(B) and using the identification methodology selected by Employer from time to time, or if none,
the default methodology, then with regard to any payment or benefit that is required to be delayed for six (6) months
in compliance with Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), such payment or benefit shall be paid with interest on the earlier of
(i) the first day of the seventh (7th) month measured from the date of Executive’s separation from service or (ii) the
date of Executive’s death. The amount of interest to be paid shall be based on the prime rate of interest in effect on
the first day of the month following the Executive's separation from service as reported in the Wall Street Journal.
In the case of benefits required to be delayed under Code Section 409A, however, Executive may pay the cost of
benefit coverage, and thereby obtain benefits, during such six (6) month delay period and then be reimbursed by
Employer thereafter on the first day of the seventh (7th) month following the date of Executive’s separation from
service or, if earlier, on the date of Executive’s death.

(c)
With regard to any provision herein that provides for reimbursement of expenses or inkind benefits subject to Code Section 409A, except as permitted by Code Section 409A, (i) the right to
reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (ii) the amount of
expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the
expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year, provided that the
foregoing clause (ii) shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by
Code Section 105(b) solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in
effect. All reimbursements shall be reimbursed in accordance with Employer’s reimbursement policies but in no
event later than the calendar year following the calendar year in which the related expense is incurred.
(d)

If under this Agreement, an amount is to be paid in two or more installments, for
purposes of Code Section 409A, each installment shall be treated as a separate payment.

(e)
When, if ever, a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with reference
to a number of days (e.g., “payment shall be made within ten (10) days following the date of termination”), the
actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of Employer. In the event any
payment payable upon termination of employment would be exempt from Code Section 409A under Treasury
Regulation § 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) but for the amount of such payment, the determination of the payments to
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Executive that are exempt under such provision shall be made by applying the exemption to payments based on
chronological order beginning with the payments paid closest in time on or after such termination of employment.

(f)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Executive shall be solely liable,
and Employer shall not be liable in any way to Executive if any payment or benefit which is to be provided pursuant
to this Agreement and which is considered deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A otherwise fails to
comply with, or be exempt from, the requirements of Code Section 409A.
20.

Regulatory Limitation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither Employer
nor any subsidiary shall be obligated to make, and Executive shall have no right to receive, any payment, benefit or
amount under this Agreement that would violate any law, regulation or regulatory order applicable to Employer or
the subsidiary at the time such payment is due, including without limitation, any regulation or order of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Executive agrees that
compliance by Employer with such regulatory restrictions, even to the extent that compensation or other benefits
paid to Executive are limited, shall not be a breach of this Agreement by Employer.

21.

Waiver of Breach. The failure at any time to enforce or exercise any right under any of the
provisions of this Agreement or to require at any time performance by the other parties of any of the provisions of
this Agreement shall in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provisions or to affect either the validity of this
Agreement or any part of this Agreement, or the right of any party hereafter to enforce or exercise its rights under
each and every provision in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

22.

No Attachment. Except as required by law, no right to receive payments under this Agreement
shall be subject to anticipation, commutation, alienation, sale, assignment, encumbrance, charge, pledge or
hypothecation or to execution, attachment, levy or similar process or assignment by operation of law, and any
attempt, voluntary or involuntary, to effect any such action shall be null, void and of no effect; provided, however,
that nothing in this Section 22 shall preclude the assumption of such rights by executors, administrators or other
legal representatives of Executive or Executive’s estate and their assigning any rights under this Agreement to the
person or persons entitled hereto.

23.

Full Capacity. The persons signing this Agreement represent that they have full authority and
representative capacity to execute this Agreement in the capacities indicated below and to perform all obligations
under this Agreement.

24.

Representation and Warranty of Executive. Executive represents and warrants to Employer that
Executive is not under any obligation, contractual or otherwise, to any other firm or corporation, which would
prevent Executive from entering into the employ of Employer under this Agreement or prevent Executive from
performing the terms of this Agreement.

25.

Entire Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement of the parties with respect to the matters addressed herein and, upon the Effective Date, it supersedes all
other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, express or implied, with respect to the subject
matter of this Agreement.

26.

Survivability. The provisions of Section 8 shall survive the termination, expiration or non-renewal
of this Agreement.
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27.
Counterparts/Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (including by
facsimile), each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.
28.
Case and Gender. Wherever required by the context of this Agreement, the singular or plural case
and the masculine, feminine and neuter genders shall be interchangeable.
29.
Title. The titles and sub-headings of each Section and Sub-Section in this Agreement are for
convenience only and should not be considered part of this Agreement to aid in interpretation or construction.
[Signature Block on Next Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

Date: June 15, 2017

/s/ Matthew M. Speare
Matthew M. Speare

Date: June 15, 2017

Carter Bank & Trust

By: /s/ Litz Van Dyke
Litz Van Dyke
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EXHIBIT A
RELEASE
In consideration of the benefits promised in the Employment Agreement to which this Release is attached
as Exhibit A (and further defined below), [EXECUTIVE] (“Executive”), hereby irrevocably and unconditionally
releases, acquits, and forever discharges Carter Bank & Trust, and each of its agents, directors, members,
shareholders, affiliated entities, officers, employees, former employees, attorneys, and all persons acting by,
through, under or in concert with any of them (collectively “Releasees”) from any and all charges, complaints,
claims, liabilities, grievances, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies, damages, policies, actions, causes of
action, suits, rights, demands, costs, losses, debts and expenses of any nature whatsoever, known or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, including, but not limited to, any rights arising out of alleged violations or breaches of any
contracts, express or implied, or any tort, or any legal restrictions on Releasees’ right to terminate employees, or any
federal, state or other governmental statute, regulation, law or ordinance, including without limitation (1) Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991; (2) the Americans with Disabilities
Act; (3) 42 U.S.C. § 1981; (4) the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act (age discrimination); (5) the
Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; (6) the Equal Pay Act; (7) the Family and Medical Leave Act; and (8) the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“Claim” or “Claims”), which Executive now has, owns or holds, or
claims to have, own or hold, or which Executive at any time heretofore had owned or held, or claimed to have
owned or held, against each or any of the Releasees at any time up to and including the date of the execution of this
Release.
Executive hereby acknowledges and agrees that the execution of this Release and the cessation of
Executive’s employment and all actions taken in connection therewith are in compliance with the federal Age
Discrimination in Employment Act and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act and that the releases set forth
above shall be applicable, without limitation, to any claims brought under these Acts. Executive further
acknowledges and agrees that:
a.
The Release given by Executive is given solely in exchange for the benefits set forth in
the Employment Agreement dated as of __________________, 2017 between Carter Bank & Trust and
Executive (the “Employment Agreement”) to which this Release was initially attached and such
consideration is in addition to anything of value which Executive was entitled to receive prior to entering
into this Release;
b.
By entering into this Release, Executive does not waive rights or claims that may arise
after the date this Release is executed;
c.
Executive has been advised to consult an attorney prior to entering into this Release, and
this provision of the Release satisfies the requirements of the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act that
Executive be so advised in writing;
d.
Executive has been offered twenty-one (21) days [or 45 days if applicable] from receipt
of this Release within which to consider whether to sign this Release; and
e.
For a period of seven (7) days following Executive’s execution of this Release, Executive
may revoke this Release by delivering the revocation to the Chief Executive Officer of Carter Bank &
Trust, and it shall not become effective or enforceable until such seven (7) day period has expired.
This Release shall be binding upon the heirs and personal representatives of Executive and shall inure to
the benefit of the successors and assigns of Carter Bank & Trust.
138

June 15, 2017
Date

/s/ Matthew M. Speare
Matthew M. Speare
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CERTIFICATIONS
Exhibit 31.1
I, Litz H. Van Dyke, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Carter Bank & Trust;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2018

/s/ Litz H. Van Dyke
Litz H. Van Dyke
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATIONS
Exhibit 31.2
I, Wendy S. Bell, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Carter Bank & Trust;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2018

/s/ Wendy S. Bell
Wendy S. Bell
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer

141

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO § 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350)
Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) I, Litz H. Van Dyke, as Chief
Executive Officer of Carter Bank & Trust, certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017, which accompanies this certification fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in
the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carter
Bank & Trust at the dates and for the periods indicated. The foregoing certification is made pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and shall not be relied upon for any other purpose. The undersigned
expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.

Date: March 15, 2018

/s/ Litz H. Van Dyke
Litz H. Van Dyke
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO § 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350)
Pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) I, Wendy S. Bell, as Executive
Vice President of Carter Bank & Trust, certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017, which accompanies this certification fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in
the periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Carter
Bank & Trust at the dates and for the periods indicated. The foregoing certification is made pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and shall not be relied upon for any other purpose. The undersigned
expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.

Date: March 15, 2018

/s/ Wendy S. Bell
Wendy S. Bell
Executive Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)
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